ASSOCIATIONS OF GLOBAL STRESS, NEGATIVE AFFECT, PSYCHOLOGICAL AGGRESSION, AND RELATIONSHIP QUALITY WITH RELATIONSHIP PARTNER ATTITUDES TOWARD RELATIONSHIP EDUCATION: AN EXPLORATORY ACTOR-PARTNER INVESTIGATION BY GENDER, INCOME, EDUCATION, AND RELATIONSHIP STATUS

By

BRANDON KEVIN BURR

Bachelor of Science in Marriage, Family, & Human Development Brigham Young University Provo, Utah 2003

Master of Science in Human Development & Family Science Oklahoma State University Stillwater, Oklahoma 2006

> Submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate College of the Oklahoma State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY July, 2010

ASSOCIATIONS OF GLOBAL STRESS, NEGATIVE AFFECT, PSYCHOLOGICAL AGGRESSION, AND RELATIONSHIP QUALITY WITH RELATIONSHIP PARTNER ATTITUDES TOWARD RELATIONSHIP EDUCATION: AN EXPLORATORY ACTOR-PARTNER INVESTIGATION BY GENDER, INCOME, EDUCATION, AND RELATIONSHIP STATUS

Dissertation Approved:

Dr. Brandt C. Gardner

Dissertation Adviser

Dr. Carolyn S. Henry

Dr. Ronald B. Cox, Jr.

Dr. D. Kim Burnham

Outside Committee Member

Dr. Mark E. Payton

Dean of the Graduate College

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

What a journey it has been! Blood, sweat, tears, joys, and frustrations have all marked the pathway leading to where I am today. Without the help of a strong support system I would not have been able to do it. It is as simple as that. First, I would like to thank my advisor, Dr. Brandt Gardner. Someone knew what they were doing when they set us working together now almost six years ago. I thank him for his time, his patience, his guidance, and his innovation to my thoughts over the years, and throughout the duration of this project. Through his example, and through our interactions, I have been able to grow both personally and professionally, and the ground has been set to continue to do so.

I would also like to thank my other fabulous committee members. To Dr. Carolyn Henry, instruction in her Family Theories class, now almost six years ago was the beginnings of my development into a "theory person." And her thoughtful and considerate guidance over the years, and over this project have only progressed my development as a conceptual thinker. To Dr. Ron Cox, his attention to detail, analytic strengths, and promulgation and appreciation of diversity have helped shape me into a more well-rounded scholar. I thank him for his time and attention to this project that sent the analysis work in the right direction. To Dr. Kim Burnham, his thoughts and impressions as, to some degree, as an "outsider looking in" have been invaluable. His fresh take on this project along with his own vast knowledge base and expertise have only added to the quality of this work. Also, I thank Dr. Robert Larzelere, who spent countless hours in consultation with me shaping and conducing the analysis phase of this project. He is truly an

expert methodologist whose time spent in mentoring me has strengthened my skill set and ability in the area.

I also thank my family. The end product of this journey is certainly just as much theirs as it is mine, if not more so. To my wife, Melissa, her perpetual support is what pushed me through the tough times. I thank her for her kindness, her understanding, her patience, and her strength. I thank my children, who, although they may not understand why or how at the moment, have pushed and propelled me to work harder and work smarter. I also thank my parents who have also been a continual source of support and encouragement to me. I thank them for instilling in me a love for education.

Finally, I give thanks to my Father in Heaven. I have felt His strength, His support, and His love shed over me and my family over the past years. He has buoyed me up, and helped me find meaning, purpose, and balance in my work. With Him all things can be accomplished, and I have recognized His loving guidance propelling me along the way.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter Pag	e
I. INTRODUCTION	
Purpose of the Study	
Theories Conceptualizing Economic Difficulty and Couple Relationships 7	
Human Ecological Theory, Economic Difficulty, and Couple Relationships7	
Family Stress Theories, Economic Difficulty, and Couple Relationships	
The Contextual Model of Family Stress	
The Family Stress Model and Economic Difficulty 16	
Economic Difficulty and Seeking CRE	ļ
II. REVIEW OF LITERATURE	,
Marriage, Divorce, and Recent Family Formation Trends: The Need for Couple Services	
Romantic Relationship Trends Among Unmarried, Lower-income Couples25	
Married Couples and Economic Difficulty: An Overview	
Stress, Economic Difficulty, and Close Relationships	
Larger Level Economic Stress Impact and Empirical Direct Links	
Economic Difficulty and the Chronic Stressor State	
Economic Difficulty and Resource Access	
Economic Difficulty: Surrounding Contexts and Stress	
Economic Difficulty, Stress, and Couple Relationship Conclusions	
Couple Interactional Quality: The Role of Affect	l
Reciprocation of Negativity: Distressed and Nondistressed Couples	ļ
The Role of Affect in Relationship Outcomes: A Dyadic Concept	
Absorbing Nature of Negativity in Couple Interaction	
Contextual Influence on Couple Affectual Exchange40	
The Negativity Pile-up Phenomenon	
Economic Difficulty and Couple Affect Conclusions	,
Economic Difficulty, Couple Relationships, and Intimate Partner Aggression44	
Environmental Stress and Resources: Frustration Eruption Propensity	
Intimate Partner Aggression, and Economic Difficult Conclusions	i
The Field of CRE: Recent Progress and Pitfalls	,
The Rise of Modern CRE: The CRE and Government Relationship	
Relationship Help-seeking Behaviors and CRE: Where We Are, Where are We	<u>.</u>
Going?	

Chapter

Relationship Help-seeking and the Preventative Nature of CRE: B	ridging the
Gap	55
The Delicate Research to Practice Balance: When are We Ready t	o Make the
Jump?	57
Adding Specificity: Studying CRE Attitudes	58
Rationale for Proposed Study	60
Study Research Questions	62
Study Hypotheses	63

Participants	6
Procedure	57
Measures6	<u>i9</u>
Demographics6	<u>i9</u>
Self-Reported Affect7	0
Global Stress	1
Relationship Quality7	2
Psychological Aggression	3
Self-Reported Attitude Toward CRE	4
Observer-Rated Attitude Toward CRE7	4
Analyses	51
Descriptive Statistics Measurement	51
The Actor-Partner Interdependence Model (APIM)	51
Model Analyses Procedures	3
Power Analyses	8

IV. FINDINGS	91
Descriptive Statistics Results	91
Results of Self-reported Attitude Toward CRE APIM Analyses	97
Substantive Results In Relation to Background Parameters	97
Results for Hypothesis One	99
Results for Hypothesis Two	100
Results for Hypothesis Three	
Results for Hypothesis Four	103
Results for Hypothesis Five	103
Results for Hypothesis Six	105
Final Model Testing: Self-reported Attitudes Toward CRE	110
Results for Hypothesis Seven	111
Pooled Data Regression Analyses: Self-reported Attitudes Toward C	'RE111
Results of Observer-rated Attitudes Toward CRE APIM Analyses	114

Chapter

Substantive Results In Relation to Background Parameters	114
Results for Hypothesis One	116
Results for Hypothesis Two	116
Results for Hypothesis Three	117
Results for Hypothesis Four	119
Results for Hypothesis Five	121
Results for Hypothesis Six	121
Final Model Testing: Observer-rated Attitudes Toward CRE	126
Results for Hypothesis Seven	127
Pooled Data Regression Analyses: Observer-rated Attitudes Toward CRE	127
Results for Hypothesis Eight	129
Results for Combined Self-report and Observer-rated Model	130
Combined Self-Report and Observer-Rated Main APIM Path Model	130
Overall Findings Summary	134
Overall Findings Summary Key Findings From Self-reported Attitudes Toward CRE Set of Analyses	134 135
Overall Findings Summary Key Findings From Self-reported Attitudes Toward CRE Set of Analyses Key Findings From Observer-rated Attitudes Toward CRE Set of Analyses	134 135 138
Overall Findings Summary Key Findings From Self-reported Attitudes Toward CRE Set of Analyses Key Findings From Observer-rated Attitudes Toward CRE Set of Analyses Key Differences in Findings from Both Sets of Analyses	134 135 138 140
Overall Findings Summary Key Findings From Self-reported Attitudes Toward CRE Set of Analyses Key Findings From Observer-rated Attitudes Toward CRE Set of Analyses Key Differences in Findings from Both Sets of Analyses Discussion of Combined Self-reported and Observer-rated Attitude Analysis	134 135 138 140 142
Overall Findings Summary Key Findings From Self-reported Attitudes Toward CRE Set of Analyses Key Findings From Observer-rated Attitudes Toward CRE Set of Analyses Key Differences in Findings from Both Sets of Analyses Discussion of Combined Self-reported and Observer-rated Attitude Analysis Connections and Directions: Relating Theory to Findings	134 135 138 140 142 145
Overall Findings Summary Key Findings From Self-reported Attitudes Toward CRE Set of Analyses Key Findings From Observer-rated Attitudes Toward CRE Set of Analyses Key Differences in Findings from Both Sets of Analyses Discussion of Combined Self-reported and Observer-rated Attitude Analysis Connections and Directions: Relating Theory to Findings Findings in Relation to Future Directions	134 135 138 140 142 145 147
Overall Findings Summary Key Findings From Self-reported Attitudes Toward CRE Set of Analyses Key Findings From Observer-rated Attitudes Toward CRE Set of Analyses Key Differences in Findings from Both Sets of Analyses Discussion of Combined Self-reported and Observer-rated Attitude Analysis Connections and Directions: Relating Theory to Findings Findings in Relation to Future Directions Future Directions in Practice and Research	134 135 138 140 142 145 147 149
Overall Findings Summary Key Findings From Self-reported Attitudes Toward CRE Set of Analyses Key Findings From Observer-rated Attitudes Toward CRE Set of Analyses Key Differences in Findings from Both Sets of Analyses Discussion of Combined Self-reported and Observer-rated Attitude Analysis Connections and Directions: Relating Theory to Findings Findings in Relation to Future Directions Future Directions in Practice and Research Implications for Practitioners	134 135 138 140 142 145 145 147 149 150
Overall Findings Summary Key Findings From Self-reported Attitudes Toward CRE Set of Analyses Key Findings From Observer-rated Attitudes Toward CRE Set of Analyses Key Differences in Findings from Both Sets of Analyses Discussion of Combined Self-reported and Observer-rated Attitude Analysis Connections and Directions: Relating Theory to Findings Findings in Relation to Future Directions Future Directions in Practice and Research Implications for Practitioners Talking with Couples	134 135 138 140 142 145 145 147 149 150 150
Overall Findings Summary Key Findings From Self-reported Attitudes Toward CRE Set of Analyses Key Findings From Observer-rated Attitudes Toward CRE Set of Analyses Key Differences in Findings from Both Sets of Analyses Discussion of Combined Self-reported and Observer-rated Attitude Analysis Connections and Directions: Relating Theory to Findings Findings in Relation to Future Directions Future Directions in Practice and Research Implications for Practitioners Talking with Couples Promotion	134 135 138 140 142 145 147 149 150 150 152
Overall Findings Summary Key Findings From Self-reported Attitudes Toward CRE Set of Analyses Key Findings From Observer-rated Attitudes Toward CRE Set of Analyses Key Differences in Findings from Both Sets of Analyses Discussion of Combined Self-reported and Observer-rated Attitude Analysis Connections and Directions: Relating Theory to Findings Findings in Relation to Future Directions Future Directions in Practice and Research Implications for Practitioners Talking with Couples Promotion Psychological Aggression and CRE Attitudes and the Unwilling Partner:	134 135 138 140 142 145 147 149 150 150 152
Overall Findings Summary Key Findings From Self-reported Attitudes Toward CRE Set of Analyses Key Findings From Observer-rated Attitudes Toward CRE Set of Analyses Key Differences in Findings from Both Sets of Analyses Discussion of Combined Self-reported and Observer-rated Attitude Analysis Connections and Directions: Relating Theory to Findings Findings in Relation to Future Directions Future Directions in Practice and Research Implications for Practitioners Talking with Couples Promotion Psychological Aggression and CRE Attitudes and the Unwilling Partner: Points of Thought	134 135 138 140 142 145 145 147 150 150 152 153
Overall Findings Summary Key Findings From Self-reported Attitudes Toward CRE Set of Analyses Key Findings From Observer-rated Attitudes Toward CRE Set of Analyses Key Differences in Findings from Both Sets of Analyses Discussion of Combined Self-reported and Observer-rated Attitude Analysis Connections and Directions: Relating Theory to Findings Findings in Relation to Future Directions Future Directions in Practice and Research Implications for Practitioners Talking with Couples Promotion Psychological Aggression and CRE Attitudes and the Unwilling Partner: Points of Thought Implications for Researchers	134 135 138 140 142 145 147 147 149 150 150 152 153 155

REFERENCES	
APPENDICES	196

Page

LIST OF TABLES

Table	Page
1. Demographic Summary of Study Sample	70
2. Summary of Study Variables, Measures, and Internal Consistency	79
3. Power Computations Adjusted for APIM Analysis	90
4. Independent Variables, Means, Standard Deviations, Skewness, and Kurtosis	92
5. Bivariate Correlations Among Independent Variables	96
6. Overall Path Results: Self-Report Attitudes Toward CRE	.108
7. Overall Path Results: Observer-Rated Attitudes Toward CRE	.124

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	Page
1. General Individual Predictor (male, female) APIM	86
2. Final Results APIM—Self-Reported Attitudes Toward CRE	111
3. Final Results APIM—Observer-Rated Attitudes Toward CRE	126
4. Final Results Combined APIM—Both Self-Reported and Observer-Rated A Toward CRE	Attitudes 131

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Developing satisfying intimate relationships is generally considered an important life goal for many. Many adults ultimately marry, and most Americans express a desire for stable and strong close relationships (Bradbury, 1998; Millward, 1990). Yet, many marriages end in divorce or experience prolonged distress, conflict, and instability (Markman, Stanley, Jenkins, Petrella, & Wadsworth, 2006). Ongoing distress and instability in relationships and marriages, as well as marital dissolution hold potential risks for both adult partners and children including issues related to emotional, physical, and social health (Amato, 2000; Amato & Booth, 1997; Waite & Gallagher, 2000). Challenges uniquely related to the couple situation have been noted to influence distress in relationship partners. Particularly, the effects of relational distress may be exacerbated in couples managing economic difficulty (Martin, 2006; Ooms, 2002).

Concerns regarding the negative impact of relationship distress on adults and children have prompted initiatives at the local, state, and federal government levels designed to offer couple relationship education (CRE) programs to combat divorce and promote healthy relationships (Doherty & Anderson, 2004; Halford, Markman, & Stanley, 2008). In more recent years, concerted efforts have been made to offer CRE to couples at higher risk for relational distress and dissolution including couples in lower-income circumstances (Adler-Baeder & Hawkins, 2010; Dion, 2005; Administration for Children and Families, 2007; Stanley, Markman, & Jenkins, 2008).

CRE generally consists of skills-based training for couples related to communication, conflict management, and problem-solving skills, and is utilized as both a preventative and remedial means to assist relationship partners (Dion, 2005; Larson, 2004). Many couples of limited financial means experience unique challenges and stressors related to economic difficulty, debt, unemployment, substance abuse, and unsafe living environments that are associated with increased risk for relational distress, dissatisfaction, and instability (Conger et al., 1990; Ooms, 2002; Johnson et al., 2002; Seefeldt & Smock, 2004). Recent and comprehensive meta-analytic studies indicate that CRE and premarital CRE programming are effective in enhancing communication skills and relationship quality with nondistressed and distressed couples, although much less is known about the effectiveness of CRE with distressed couples (Blanchard, Hawkins, Baldwin, & Fawcett, 2009; Carrol & Doherty, 2003; Hawkins, Blanchard, Baldwin, & Fawcett, 2008; Hawkins & Fackrell, 2010).

Additionally, large bodies of research have pointed towards a number of consistent factors placing couples at risk for decreases in relationship satisfaction and stability, and increases in relationship distress. Some of the most salient of these have been identified as elevated stress, heightened negative affect, and relational aggression (See Bradbury & Karney, 2004, Karney & Bradbury, 1995, and Holman, 2001 for reviews; see also Gottman, 1998). Some findings note that couples in one or more at risk categories (e.g., younger age, lower-income, heightened aggression, high amounts of

negativity, high stress levels) are highly under-represented in CRE programming, and unique challenges persist in recruiting couples at greater risk for relationship difficulty to CRE. Thus, some evidence suggests that these factors that place couples at risk for relationship difficulties are also associated with less attendance in CRE (Halford, O'Donnell, Lizzio, & Wilson, 2006; Ooms & Wilson, 2004; Sullivan & Bradbury, 1997).

Yet, there exists somewhat of a disconnect in that state-wide survey data (Oklahoma, Florida, and Utah) indicate that relationship partners at greater risk for relationship difficulty, and in particular relationship partners in lower-income circumstances, report strong interest in CRE services (Karney, Garvan, & Thomas, 2003; Johnson et al., 2002; Schramm, Marshall, Harris, & George, 2003). These findings are encouraging, as some evidence shows that those who consider attending CRE are more likely to attend (Sullivan & Bradbury, 1997).

Some evidence also suggests that high risk couples, such as those who are in economically challenging circumstances, could benefit greatly from CRE through increasing awareness of problematic interaction sequences stemming from family of origin experiences, learning to manage stress, and gaining new communication skill sets (Halford, Sanders, & Behrens, 2001; Halford, et al., 2006; Hawkins & Fackrell, 2010; Ooms & Wilson, 2004). And, although high-risk couples are largely absent in CRE programs and some practitioners deem CRE as "unfit" to address the needs of high-risk couples, some emerging evidence suggests that some high-risk couples are attending and benefitting from CRE programs in terms of improving relationship quality and communication skills (DeMaria, 2005; Halford et al., 2001; Hawkins & Fackrell, 2010).

Based on the body of research assessing factors contributing to the well-being of relationship partners and children, recent large amounts of government and private funds have been allocated to increase the promotion, visibility, and availability of CRE. As noted, some funds have been utilized implementing CRE specifically for couples in lower-income brackets (Hawkins & Fackrell, 2010; Markman & Halford, 2005; Stanley et al., 2008).

Thus, in a somewhat puzzling manner, some evidence has shown that couples of more limited financial means express interest in CRE services, but also may be at heightened risk for relationship difficulties that appear to decrease the likelihood of attendance of CRE programming. Overall, very few higher-risk couples access CRE programs, and scant information is available regarding personal and relational factors that influence CRE attendance, especially for couples in lower-income circumstances.

The statewide survey information provided information on perceptions of CRE, but little about how characteristics of the close relationships of study respondents were associated with attitudes towards such programs. Little is known about how factors that affect relationships also affect relationship partner attitudes toward relationship programming. For example, very little is known if the aforementioned salient factors associated with relationship satisfaction and stability are also associated with relationship partner attitudes toward CRE programming, and how these associations may vary by social strata. Investigating such important factors such as couple attitudes and considerations of CRE programs represents a basic and important means through which relationship partners decide on participating in such programs (Halford et al., 2006; Hawkins & Fackrell, 2010; Larson, Kigin, & Holman, 2008; Wilson & Halford, 2008).

The dearth of information related to relationship partner attitudes toward CRE, and factors undermining these associations may be viewed in terms of substantial limitations to CRE recruitment, planning, and implementation, and potentially limits the impact of CRE with higher-risk populations. Wilson and Halford (2008) note that for those working in CRE programming to be most effective, "extending the reach of CRE is a major challenge in realizing its potential impact in preventing relationship distress and dissolution (p. 625)." Learning more about the factors associated with attitudes towards CRE for couples in different circumstances helps program facilitators better know how to present, target, and "pitch" their programs to be more relevant to diverse audiences and increase the effectiveness of promotional efforts (Morris, Cooper, & Gross, 1999).

Certainly, attitudes towards CRE cannot be equated with access to CRE, and are not necessarily predictive of future attendance. Where limited access to CRE is available, limited information on interest can be ascertained, and CRE services have generally been less available to couples of limited financial means (Adler-Baeder, Bradford, Skuban, Lucier-Greer, Ketring, & Smith, 2010; Hawkins & Fackrell, 2010; Stanley et al., 2008). Yet, intentions and attitudes have been associated with performing target behaviors. Bringle and Byers (1997) suggest that where services are reasonably available, attitudes and intentions are predictive of behavior.

Currently, there is little known about attitudes and perceptions of CRE, specifically. CRE services have not yet reached the status of a common, larger-level cultural practice such as parenting classes, and birthing preparation (Dion & Hershey, 2010; J. Miller, personal communication, November 23, 2009). Therefore, assessing attitudes towards these programs, and factors that are associated with these attitudes allows for an investigation of whether these programs are connecting and resonating with the public, and how these attitudes might be influenced by personal and relationship factors.

In terms of this study's sample, the Oklahoma Marriage Initiative (OMI) is the largest and longest running initiative of its kind. The OMI operations began in 1999, and the OMI provides CRE across the state, including programs designed to target and benefit couples managing financial difficulty, specifically (Johnson et al., 2002). The assumption here is made that CRE services are more reasonably available in Oklahoma than in other areas. Thus, assessing relationship partner attitudes toward CRE, as well as factors associated with these attitudes, can be a useful means for those involved in CRE recruitment, design, study, and implementation.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of the study is to assess the association of factors known to be connected with relationship satisfaction and stability (stress, negative affect, and relationship aggression), as well as predictive of decreased likelihood of CRE attendance, to explore whether these factors are associated with relationship partner attitudes toward CRE. This study also seeks to investigate how these associations may differ by gender, relationship status, and for relationship partners of differing income levels and education levels. It is proposed that such information can benefit and enhance the reach and effectiveness of CRE programs. Theories Conceptualizing Economic Difficulty and Couple Relationships

Theory can play a crucial role in guiding, accentuating, and organizing relevant information and concepts of the experience of couples of limited financial means. Certainly, the experience of all couples experiencing economic hardship is not the same, and how economic factors influence the couple relationship may vary from couple to couple. Strong theoretical ties allow for postulation and examination of a wide array of potential influencing factors across different situations.

For the purpose of this study, components of two broad theories that address various potential influences (personal, relational, and contextual) on the couple relationship as related to economic hardship were selected. These theories are Human Ecological Theory, as well as a few "adaptations" of Family Stress Theory. In addition, the Ecological and Family Stress Theories are described as to how they relate to and enhance the utilization of The Family Stress Model. The Family Stress Model is an empirically driven model that has been utilized to address how economic stressors affect couple and family relationships (Conger et al., 1990).

Human Ecological Theory, Economic Difficulty, and Couple Relationships

Ideas from Human Ecology Theory help outline the context for the overall question posed by this paper: How are stress, negative affect, relationship quality, and relational aggression associated with attitudes toward CRE, and how might these associations differ for by relationship partner circumstances. Couple relationships do not exist in a vacuum, rather relationships are shaped by a number of different interacting levels. These levels include the individual (or partner) level, the couple (or relational) level, and the contexts in which the relationship develops and is maintained (Wilson, Larson, McCulloch, & Stone, 1997).

Urie Bronfrenbrenner (1979, 1989) is noted as the developer of ecological systems theory. Bronfrenbrenner posits that an individual interacts with different contexts to form and guide development, and that these contexts are nested within four layers or systems of influence in which the individual lives (Bronfenbrenner, 1979). These four layers are the microsystem, mesosystem, exosystem, and macrosystem. These layers involve differing levels of impact from direct influences to more indirect influences on the individual. At a later point, Bronfenbrenner added the conceptualization of the chronosystem to encompass the evolving interconnected nature of the person—environment process over time (Bronfenbrenner, 1989).

As Bronfrenbrenner's theory development continued, the role of interactive process became increasingly important. His work began to indicate that behavioral outcomes are often the result from the interplay between individual and environment effects. In his bioecological theory (Bronfrenbrenner & Ceci, 1994), he noted that, in developmental terms, that the actualization of inherited human genetic propensities are shaped through several interacting elements of the individual's environment. Bronfrennbrenner deemed these interactions proximal processes, in that the manner in which inherited genetic attributes (genotypes) transform and shape developmental outcomes (phenotypes) is in many ways due to the influence of the interacting elements within an individual's environment (Bronfrenbrenner & Ceci).

For instance, personality characteristics have been noted as primarily genetic, and have been shown to influence couple relationship satisfaction and stability (e.g., Donnellan, Conger, & Bryant, 2004). Additionally, links have been shown between personality characteristics and income (Haller & Thomas, 1962; Ordu, 2009), personality, income, and alcohol use (Cooper, Frone, Russell, & Mudar, 1995; Keyes, & Hasin, 2008), and depressive symptoms and income (Frerichs, Aneshensal, & Clark, 1981; Prause, Dooley, & Huh, 2009).

In relation to couple and family programming, personality characteristics have also been associated with attitudes toward, and access to help-seeking (Reevy & Maslach, 2001; Tsan & Day, 2007). Associations between personality and help-seeking behaviors and attitudes have also been shown to be mediated by gender (Reevy & Maslach, 2001), and also influenced by income level (Gourash, 1978; Keller, & McDade, 2000; Ooms & Wilson, 2004).

Thus, genetically driven personality traits may interact with the certain stressors of the lower-income environment (e.g., financial worry, underemployment, unemployment) to increase the risk of relationship difficulty, or exacerbate factors known to increase relationship difficulty (alcohol abuse, and depression), taking a toll on the relationship, and potentially affect couples perceptions and attitudes toward seeking help. These interactions highlight the interactional nature of proximal processes, as genetic factors (i.e., gender and personality) may interact with aspects of the lower-income environment to influence relational outcomes, and help-seeking behaviors. Therefore, Human Ecological Theory helps to highlight the nuanced nature of the interconnection between individual genetic, relational aspects, and the different environments in which the

individual and the relationship is embedded as influencing the overall quality and stability of the relationship.

As a depiction of the interacting systems and influences, a trickledown effect may illustrate the interchange between these multiple systems as they potentially influence the relational dyad over time. Influences at the larger, societal macrosystem level such as a recessive economy, may result in the loss of a job, cut in pay, or increased job scarcity at the exosystem, or city/community level. The loss in job then could influence interactions in the most immediate environment of the family in terms of increased worry, concern, and couple arguments over financial issues. These arguments could intensify over time if the issue is not resolved, which may be representative of the challenges of many couples managing economic hardship. The recessive economy in the macrosystem may also impact increased crime rates and less community cohesion in neighborhoods at the exosystem, perhaps limiting couple external sources of support. Thus, factors present at the most expansive and abstract level, the macrosystem, can trickledown to impact more immediate contexts such as the couple and family relationships in the microsystem.

In these terms, environmental contexts may play important and perpetual roles in the development and maintenance of couple relationships, and in the potential processes and outcomes of these relationships. As stated by Cutrona and colleagues (2003), "a weak relationship may persist intact in a supportive environment, whereas a strong relationship may deteriorate if it is embedded in an environmental context that continually assaults the ties that bind individuals" (p. 389). Economic challenges and hardships with their associated impact could represent potentially potent assailants on binding ties in couple and family relationships.

Thus, the human ecological framework offers a valuable perspective of investigating how external forces may influence couple relationships, and how these external forces are interpreted by the couple in their relationship. A human ecological perspective suggests that stress felt from outside the relationship (i.e., job loss, job scarcity, limited resource access), and inside the relationship (i.e., increased frustration and stress, couple hostility, and arguing) disrupt relationship quality (Wilson et al., 1997), and the broader social contexts in which couple relationships exist are shaped by multiple interacting and influencing contexts (e.g., societal, community, couple, and individual influences). For relationship partners managing financial hardship, economic stress presents a large piece of shaping these contexts (Belle, 1983).

Family Stress Theories, Economic Difficulty, and Couple Relationships

Family stress models and theories also help gain insight as to what factors may influence the processes and outcome of a couple or family managing a stressful situation; what factors might help and what factors might hurt. A stressor is something that holds the potential of creating disruption and change in the family or couple. Naturally, different stressors may have different levels of intensity, and may be classified as normative or nonnormative. Stressors also may have different periods of duration; some with clearly defined ending points, and with others, uncertainty may exist regarding when the impact of the stressor will subside (Boss, 2002; Malia, 2006). Couples managing limited financial means may be faced with more of the latter challenge. Stressors related to limited economic resources may have been present for some time, and there may be uncertainty about, or be resignation to the idea that, these sources of stress do not have an immediate solution, or will ever end.

Perceptions of stressors may be different for couples managing limited financial means than couples with greater means. For instance, early Family Stress Theory work was enhanced by Hill's (1949) ABCX model of family stress. In this model, stressful events are managed in families according to interactions between varying degrees of family resources, and different family perceptions of the stressful event, which combine to produce an outcome (Karney & Bradbury, 1995; Malia, 2006). McCubbin and Patterson (1982) added to, and expanded, Hill's ABCX model to add a temporal feature, as the impact of stressful events on the family could change over time. Their double ABCX model takes into account how each component of the model may change in meaning and perception over time. In this manner, the meaning that each partner attaches to the stressful event becomes an emerging process, as initial responses to the event (in terms of coping styles utilized or resources available) shape subsequent responses to the event or future events.

For instance, one potentially potent source of stress for couples managing economic difficulty may be stress pile-up. Stress pile-up is identified as the accumulation of stressors or stressful events, perhaps over a short period of time. As initial attempts to manage a stressful situation do not produce effective results with the stressful impact still present, stress pile-up can occur (Malia, 2006; Karney & Bradbury, 1995). Thus, couples and families may become worn down through such a process, and adopt an overall fatalistic view of ever overcoming presenting stressors.

This illustration could be particularly relevant to couples managing repeated or persistent bouts with financial difficulty, and in particular, relationship partners hovering around, or below the national poverty threshold. Couples managing extreme levels of

poverty often experience chronic poverty conditions that often do not make drastic improvements over time. Chronic poverty, as opposed to episodic poverty, has been associated with more powerful direct effects on couples and families (Barnett, 2008; McLoyd, 1990). As such, stressors or challenges confronting the couple are not represented by one or multiple crisis events, but rather a continual state of living that may see relative "ups" and "downs" but never find an adequate solution. This process may have a powerful influence on the way in which stressors are perceived as individuals and families managing chronic poverty may grow "accustomed to thinking in terms of failure rather than success" (Grimes & McElwain, 2008, p. 221). This may be particularly important as family stress, especially chronic stress, has been associated with various forms of psychological distress, and even aggressive behaviors in couples (see Frye & Karney, 2006). Family stress models indicate that family perceptions act as a strong mediating factor between financial strain and psychological and emotional distress, and therefore, relationship health (Barnett, 2008).

One particularly understudied source of stress for lower-income couples are more micro level stressors such as daily hassles. Daily hassles are any number of day-to-day struggles that negatively impact family life and can include couple arguments, financial concerns, transportation trouble, and bad weather. Couples managing economic difficulty may experience an array of hassles on an almost daily basis. These daily hassles could include struggles with rent and utility bills, buying food, finding childcare, or finding sufficient transportation from place to place. Microstressors, such as daily hassles can be particularly deleterious when there is an overall lack of positive experiences to counteract their influence. The positive experiences encountered for couples faced with financial

difficulty may not be able to reach the level of counteractive power necessary to relieve stress felt from daily hassles (Malia, 2006; MacLean, 1976).

The Contextual Model of Family Stress

Boss (2002) went on to further expand the ABCX models described earlier. Boss (2002) placed the ABCX model within three internal and five external contexts acting as influencing factors on the manner in which stressful situations are perceived and managed. Boss' model attempts to account for the more broad influences on the family stress management process within specific contexts, and thus, was entitled the Contextual Model of Family Stress. The three internal contexts represented in Boss' model are the structural, psychological, and philosophical factors present within the couple or family. The five external contexts are represented by heredity, development, economy, history, and culture, and are evidenced by larger, and more abstract-level influences (Boss, 2002; Malia, 2006).

By addressing the contextual processes that may influence the family stress experience, Boss' model is able to address how factors such as socioeconomic change, family history, and outside sources of support have an impact on the stress process. For example, the current economic recession in the U.S. may present an array of difficulties pertaining to couples managing financial strain. Rising unemployment rates, limited resources, and limited social supports to families are only a few contributions to the stressful experience. In developmental terms, "rising out" of poverty conditions may be particularly difficult. Many families experience a cyclical and intergenerational transmission of poverty (Harris, 1996; Shlonsky, 1984). Current economic and social

conditions (i.e., the economy context) may interact with family poverty cycles (i.e., the development context) to create unique challenges for couples managing chronic financial strain.

Examining these external factors such as the ones just described in interaction with internal factors may also shed further light on this process. Couples and families managing financial strain often experience elevated levels of psychological distress such as depression (Barnett, 2008; Conger et al., 1990) (the internal psychological factor), low levels of social and material sources of support (Belle, 1983; Simons, Lorenz, Wu, & Conger, 1993) (the structural internal factor), and fatalistic attitudes toward the current situation and the future (the philosophical internal factor) (Grimes & McElwain, 2008). Thus, the Contextual Model of Family Stress presents various potential sources from which financial strain impact couple and family relationships.

In general, contemporary family stress theories suggest that more severe stressful circumstances would have the most damaging impact on couples with limited economic, structural, and social support resources (Conger, et al., 1990; Karney & Bradbury, 1995; Liker & Elder, 1983; Ooms, 2002). Relationship quality would be most likely damaged as relationship resources are unable to meet the demands presented by the stressful situation (Karney & Bradbury, 1995; Liker & Elder, 1983). Thus, this discussion provided on family stress theory perspectives in relation to couples and families managing financial strain help identify potential factors contributing to greater relationship decline or greater resiliency. Yet, although family stress theories provide important information on how financial strain may impact couple relationships, in some ways they may fall somewhat short in explanatory power. For example, critiques of

family stress theories cite that although family stress perspectives aid in pointing toward important external and internal sources of stress, and acknowledge how the role of resources and perceptions might change over time, these theories do not describe adequately what processes might bring about such changes (see Karney & Bradbury, 1995). The attention of this paper will now turn to a model representing, in many ways, a specific adaptation of family stress and human ecological theories addressing couples and families experiencing economic strain.

The Family Stress Model and Economic Difficulty

In the 1980s Rand Conger and colleagues developed the Family Stress Model. Much of the conceptualization of the model was shaped out of the seminal research done by Glen Elder and others investigating changes in families during the depression and contemporary findings relating to economic stress and families (Conger, Reuter, & Conger, 2000). Out of this longitudinal data regarding families in the depressions era Liker and Elder (1983) reported that disputes over financial strain raised the level of marital tension over time, income loss increased personal instability in men, and that these effects were most pronounced in families with limited resources.

Additionally, Liker and Elder (1983) noted that greater degrees of marital tension were associated with elevated rates of marital instability in terms of separation and divorce. Chronic economic hardship in these families was associated more strongly with marital tension. These researchers reported the continued disadvantage of depression related economic stressors felt in these couples up to the World War II era, in many cases, 20 or more years after data was initially collected.

Consistent with family stress theories, Liker and Elder (1983) noted that couples with relatively weak marital bonds before economic pressures were felt experienced more detrimental outcomes related to marital quality. Stronger marital bonds, in these terms, would be considered a resource to manage economic pressure. Similarly, Liker and Elder indicated that working class couples were perhaps more likely to experience more severe economic pressure due to a limited supply of resources compared to mounting financial pressure.

Other research at the time was also examining socioeconomic factors in relation to relationship quality and stability. Yet, many of these studies yielded conflicting results; some noted associations between economic stress, couple resources and relationship quality, while others found no significant associations (e.g., Atkinson, Liem, & Liem, 1986; Larson, 1984; Perrucci & Targ, 1988). Conger and colleagues (1990) suggested that much of this research at the time investigating economic stress and marital relationships lacked the capacity to test which couple interactional mechanisms might exacerbate the influence of economic stressors. They noted that measures obtaining information on couple behavioral interactions would be more likely to offer descriptive information on how economic stress affects partner evaluations of the relationship.

Conger and colleagues initiated a longitudinal study involving 451 families living in north-central Iowa from 1989 to 1992. The project, entitled the Iowa Youth and Families Project, was conducted in this area of the country at this point in time as many rural Iowa families were experiencing extreme economic hardship due to the recessive farm economy during the 1980s that wreaked havoc on families in the area, many of whom were dependent upon agriculture revenue. Original "versions" of the Family Stress

Model began to appear in published literature in the early 1990s. The Family Stress Model utilizes information from many theoretical backgrounds including ecological and family stress theories. The model considers biological, psychological, environmental, and social resources or challenges that contribute to reductions or intensifications of economic stress processes in families (Conger at al., 2000).

Family Stress Model study findings have highlighted associations of marital partner behaviors in association with economic stress. Conger and colleagues built on prior research investigating specific couple behavioral interactions associated with disruptions in marital quality and stability. A number of findings supported the notion that couple interactions high in negativity (e.g., anger, contempt) produced more threats to marital quality and stability over time (Gottman, 1979; Gottman & Krofoff, 1989; Hahlweg, Revenstorf, & Schindler, 1984).

Conger and colleagues sought to describe the impact of economic stress on marital conflict and marital quality through investigations of couple interactional behaviors. The Family Stress Model postulates that economic stressors are associated with increased frustration, anger, and emotional distress related to managing such stressors. Conger and colleagues have consistently shown through Family Stress Model testing connections between economic stress and financial strain with increased hostility and decreased warmth and supportive behaviors in couples, which also influenced marital quality. These findings have generally shown to be more pronounced in men (husbands) (Conger et al., 1990; Conger & Elder, 1994; Conger, Elder, Lorenz, & Simons, 1994; Conger et al., 2000; Lorenz, Conger, Simon, Whitbeck, & Elder, 1991; Matthews, Wickrama, & Conger, 1996).

In part, some of these findings on increased hostility and decreased warmth in couples managing economic stress may be due to how these stressors shape attention, time, and support in the relationships. Distressed couples have been shown to be more likely to reciprocate negative behaviors (Gottman, 1979; Matthews et al. 1996). Couples managing financial strain may be consistently bothered by day-to-day frustrations, difficulties paying bills, and meeting basic needs, and may see these frustrations vented in the relationship as arguments, concern, and desperation related to money and finances ensues. Findings supporting Conger and colleagues work indicate that financial problems distract marital partner's attention away from focusing on the relationship, decreasing marital quality (Conger at al., 2000; see also Simons et al., 1993).

Such implications are important to consider through family stress and ecological lenses as well. The couple relationship is often seen as the primary support system for romantic relationship partners, potentially acting as a resource against stress (Beach & Gupta, 2006; Julien & Markman, 1991). In addition, healthy couple relationships can act as buffers against negative life events, mental health issues, and physical health deterioration (Karney & Bradbury, 1995; Gottman, Levenson, 1992; Leinonen, Solantaus, & Punamaki, 2002). These theoretical underpinnings and research findings support the work of researchers and practitioners seeking to identify effective means through which to help couples managing financial strain pursue healthy and satisfying relationships.

Therefore, the Family Stress Model helps to specify conceptual information from ecological, family stress, and other theories to address the mechanisms through which couples managing financial strain might experience alterations in relationship quality.

Family Stress Model findings indicate that couples experiencing financial hardship and related stress may show increased levels of hostility and reduced warmth in interaction with one another, thereby reducing relationship satisfaction. These interactions may be heavily influenced by each partners' frustrations related to financial strain, as partner energy is expended managing money concerns and attending to worry while limiting time devoted to the couple relationship.

Economic Difficulty and Seeking CRE

This study is in many ways, truly exploratory. That is, although substantial information exists regarding factors threatening relationship satisfaction, very little information is known about factors associated with couples' decisions to attend programs to boost relationship satisfaction, such as CRE services. In addition, there is an overall limited amount of empirical information relating to how factors associated with relationship quality may also be associated with attitudes and perceptions of CRE services, particularly for couples in lower-income circumstances (Larson, 2004; Ooms & Wilson, 2004).

As mentioned, there is some evidence that that couples of limited financial means are very interested in relationship education (e.g., Johnson et al., 2002), value relationship health (Ooms & Wilson, 2004), and due to stressors related to financial hardship, may be at higher risk for relational difficulty potentially enhancing the benefits of CRE services (Halford, et al., 2006). Yet, couples managing financial hardship may maintain unique perceptions about relationship education or experience unique challenges to "get in the door" of these programs.

This manuscript cites evidence that stressors related to economic pressures and hardships may be associated with increased stress, hostile, and aggressive behaviors, along with limited "positivity" and relationship support for couples with limited financial means. This study posits that factors associated with relationship distress and stability, are also associated with couple attitudes toward seeking relationship-help and enhancement through CRE services. This study also posits that attitudes toward CRE are shaped by surrounding contexts of the couple relationship, such as income-related stressors. Thus, this study utilizes a generalized framework of the Family Stress Model informed by human ecology and family stress theories assessing how factors known to be related to relationship quality (stress, negative affect, and relationship aggression) are associated with attitudes toward CRE, and how these associations may differ by relationship partner circumstances (income, education, and relationship status).

CHAPTER II

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

Marriage, Divorce, and Recent Family Formation Trends: The Need for Couples Services

Recent estimates indicate that approximately 45%-50% of marriages end in divorce (Raley & Bumpass, 2003). Divorce has shown to have various forms of impact on both divorcing partners and children. In fact, over half of all divorces occur in families with children under the age of 18. Divorced adults tend to report greater health problems, lower self-concept and more psychological distress as compared to married adults (Amato, 2000; Amato, 2001). Children from divorced families are more likely to experience a divorce themselves, and tend to score lower on measures of academic achievement, social competence, and self-concept than children living with two parents (Amato, 2000, Amato & Booth, 1997) (citation). In addition, to the extent that divorcing couples exhibit high levels of distress and discord, the quality of the parents' relationship has also shown to be predictive of the quality of the child's future romantic relationships (Conger, Cui, Bryant, & Elder, 2000). Marriage has been shown to provide several protective functions for marital partners including better physical health, increased emotional support, and improved positive outlook (Campbell, 1993; Kiecolt-Glaser & Newton, 2001; Waite & Gallagher, 2000; Wright, 2005). Also, married individuals report higher levels of personal happiness, higher income levels, and greater financial security. Increased financial wellbeing is associated with numerous benefits for relationship partners and children (Waite & Gallagher; Wright, 2005). Recently, relationship characteristics of one's partner have all been associated with increased relationship satisfaction in samples of married and committed couples (Allemand, Amberg, Zimprich, & Fincham, 2007; Murray, Holmes, Bellavia, Griffin, & Dolderman, 2002).

Data citing trends in family formation of disadvantaged populations in this country point toward several important areas of concern related to the current heightened focus on families in lower-income circumstances in terms of increased funding to provide for and augment CRE efforts for couples of limited financial means. Ooms (2002) and Ooms and Wilson (2004) have provided a summary of these trends. They note that the poor are at greater risk of being single parents, and the rise in single parenthood among the poor has driven up program costs of welfare and Medicaid. Single-parent households are more likely to experience economic challenges in that they are five times more likely to be poor. The rise in children living in single parent households has more than doubled since 1970. This increase has been most noted for Whites.

Additionally, children raised in single-parent households are at greater risk for poverty, behavior issues, dropping out of school, and getting pregnant in the teen years than children raised by two biological parents. Children born to single parents are more likely to be long-term welfare dependents, as currently above 50% of parents on the welfare program are not married (Ooms, 2002).

In addition, in general, separation, divorce, and occurrences of other relationship disruptions are much higher among women in lower-income brackets and who have less than a high school education. Also, it appears marital and relational quality are on the decline over the past few decades, and some evidence suggests that couples in lowerincome circumstances are more likely to experience relationships and marriages that are lower in quality and unsatisfying (Fein, Burnstein, Fein, & Lindberg, 2003; Johnson et al., 2002; Karney et al., 2003; Ooms & Wilson, 2004). This summary of findings highlights the growing public concern in terms of social policy and social cost related to family formation trends among those with limited financial means and financial stability (Ooms, 2002).

Thus, there exists ample evidence on which to substantiate programs designed to strengthen couple relationships for those who choose to participate (Markman & Halford, 2005; Stanley et al., 2008). Various organizations and institutions are now involved in such efforts. Yet, although some information is emerging, there is very little known about marriage and other romantic relationships in lower-income couples which information could greatly enhance the work of CRE providers, and other couples practitioners and researchers.

However, the outlook is not all doom and gloom. Information currently available on romantic relationships and marriage in lower-income couple relationships points towards several encouraging factors related to those who work with couples, and several

areas in need of further understanding. It is to this information that this discussion will now turn.

Romantic Relationship Trends Among Unmarried, Lower-income Couples

Nationally representative and in-depth longitudinal studies have focused on relationship characteristics, specifically in unmarried parents. The Fragile Families and Child Wellbeing Study (FFCWB) and the Time, Love, Cash, Care, and Child Study (TLC3) are two examples. The *fragile* part of the title in the FFCWB study is descriptive of some of the challenges faced by unmarried parents that contribute to the greater likelihood of relationship dissolution, and the family part of the title refers to the notion that romantically involved lower-income couples who have a child together, although not married, represent a growing family form (Carlson, McLanahan, & England, 2004; Sorensen, Mincy & Halpern, 2000; Waller & Swisher, 2006). These studies centered around couple relationships (married and not married) at the time of the birth of the first child for the union, and follow-ups were conducted one year, three years, and five years later (Carlson et al., 2004; Ooms & Wilson, 2004).

The initial findings of the studies were perhaps somewhat surprising and encouraging. Results indicated that the unmarried parents were strongly connected to each other, and reported elevated affection for one another at the time of the birth of their child. Also, parents placed high value on marriage indicating that they held high hopes for the future of their relationship. Over 70% of the mothers and 90% of the fathers in the FFCWB study indicated that the chances that they would marry were 50% or greater (Carlson et al., 2004; Ooms & Wilson, 2004; Parke, 2004).

However, the initial findings, although encouraging, were somewhat fleeting. At the one-year follow-up point, only 15% of couples cohabiting at the time of the birth had married. Of those who had been in visiting or dating relationships at the one-year follow-up, 32% reported cohabiting, 14% reported still in the dating stage, 5% had married, and 50% were no longer romantically involved (Carlson et al., 2004; Ooms & Wilson, 2004).

Obstacles to continuing long-term relationships were also reported. Unmarried parents were significantly younger (6 to 7 years younger than married parents), and were more likely to have children from more than one partner than the married parents. Unmarried parents also reported low-levels of confidence and resources of being able to support themselves and their children. Most fell in the poor or near-poor categories, with limited education levels, little work experience and skills, and low levels of community support (Parke, 2004).

Unwed parents who did not marry or discontinued romantic involvement reported that the two largest obstacles for not continuing the relationship fell into the categories of financial concerns and relational concerns (Carlson et al., 2004; Ooms & Wilson, 2004). Unwed parents reported a heightened need for greater security before taking such a serious step such as marriage (e.g., steady job and income, enough financial means to place a down payment on a home, and pay for a wedding) (Carlson et al., 2004). In terms of relational obstacles, unwed parents reported greater concerns about the strength, commitment, and durability of their relationship, citing issues related to emotional immaturity of partners and distrust, specifically pertaining to sexual fidelity (Carlson et al., 2004; Ooms & Wilson, 2004). In fact, relational aspects in unwed couples appeared particularly potent, as greater relationship quality was associated with greater likelihood

of relationship progression to cohabitation or marriage, even greater than the influence of employment (Carlson et al., 2004; Parke, 2004).

The findings cited by these two large-scale studies focusing on unmarried parents point toward several important areas of focus for those who work in CRE and other couples related work. Particularly, the birth of a child may be an effective target time for couples to receive couples programming, as program facilitators could build on the strengths of these relationships in that the connectedness, affection, and hopeful nature of couples were reportedly high at the childbirth point in time. In addition, these findings highlight the vast array of challenges and obstacles present for unwed, lower-income couples. Particularly, results suggest that relationship facets were important in determining couple relationship outcomes, and relationship services should focus on building couple skill-sets to promote trust and commitment. Programs targeting lowerincome and unwed parents should also recognize and focus on the economic needs and challenges of couples, and provide external support services to the couple to combat the deleterious nature of these challenges including financial skills training, job training, and community support integration (Carlson, McLanahan, England, & Devaney, 2005; Ooms & Wilson, 2004).

Married Couples and Economic Difficulty: An Overview

Less overall is known about married lower-income couples (Ooms, 2002; Parke, 2004). Research conducted under contract of the Administration for Children and Families, and a few other studies have produced an emerging body of findings related to married couples in lower-income circumstances. Highlights of these findings indicate that
lower-income married couples are more likely to enter marriage with children, have lower levels of education, less stable employment, and use more government assistance programs than married couples of higher income groups (Fein, 2004). Demographic profiles show that of married, lower-income couples, over half are Latino, and about 47% are white. African Americans constitute only about 1% of this group (Fein, 2004).

Additionally, lower-income married couples are younger at marriage than higher income couples. Lower-income couples also tend to be at earlier stages of their careers when marrying, and as a result experience lower wages. Generally, lower-income couples marry younger and have shorter relationships than those in higher income brackets (Fein, 2004). Finally, lower-income individuals are just as likely to marry as others, but experience a greater risk of instability (Fein, 2004; Ooms & Wilson, 2004).

All of these findings and reports on romantic relationships of couples of limited financial means, married and unmarried, evidence the relevance of CRE programs designed to strengthen and enrich the relationships of those who make the choice to participate. However, as these types of programs expand and grow the practice may outrun the reach of the research. Gaps in what we know about couples in lower-income circumstances may impede overall CRE effectiveness (Halford, 2004; Hawkins & Fackrell, 2010).

Numerous arguments have been made that tailored programs fit to the needs of lower-income couples are a necessity (e.g., Dion, 2005; Ooms, 2002; Ooms & Wilson, 2004; Stanley et al., 2008). Some have commented that learning more about the factors that influence how couples perceive CRE represents a logical and basic step to increasing

the reach, and overall design effectiveness of such programs (Larson et al., 2008; Morris et al., 1999).

Additionally, very little is known about the interactional qualities of couples of limited financial means. Fein (2004) noted that there is much to learn about the characteristics of lower-income couples that impact relationship quality, relationship outcomes, and resource access. These investigations should address both potential couple strengths and vulnerabilities. In addition, comparisons of these influencing factors are needed between couples of limited income and more affluent couples (Fein, 2004; Knox & Fein, 2009).

This review will now turn to addressing factors that have been well documented as contributing to relationship well-being, and how these factors have been shown to be affected by socio-economic status (SES). Additionally, a discussion is provided on how these relationship and SES factors may be associated with relationship partner attitudes toward CRE. Learning more about how these relationship factors are associated with attitudes toward CRE programming, and how they are potentially moderated by gender, income, education, and relationship status adds depth to how to market and design CRE programming specifically designed to the needs of couples in differing circumstances.

Specifically, learning more about CRE attitudes can aid to enhance promotional efforts, which have been cited as areas of needed improvement (Morris et al., 1999; Roberts & Morris, 1998). Investigating factors that are predictive of more positive attitudes versus more negative attitudes allow for more specifically designed promotional campaigns that instigate more positive appraisals of CRE programs in order to reach

more potential participants. The factors discussed in the following sections are: stress, negative affect, and intimate partner aggression (IPA).

Stress, Economic Difficulty, and Close Relationships

Larger-level Economic Stress Impact and Empirical Direct Links

Connections between economic prosperity or hardship and couple and family relationships have been the topic of discussion for many years. At the larger level, trends in national and international economic conditions have been shown to influence family formation patterns, work roles, work schedules, and resource access. As the impact of these larger level economic trends and conditions are felt in couple and family relationships, the potential exists to both shape and alter interactions at the more immediate couple level (Freeman, Carlson, & Sperry, 1993; Rettig, Danes, & Leichtentritt, 1997; Solantaus et al., 2004; Strazdins, Clements, Korda, Broom, & D'Souza, 2006; White & Rogers, 2000). In a related manner, it could be inferred that the recent recessive economic state in this county over past years has had an impact on family and couple relationships.

Various studies and reports have noted how factors related to economic stress potentially disrupt and dampen the quality of couple relationships as well as threaten personal well-being (Brinkerhoff & White, 1978; Clark-Nicolas & Gray-Little, 1991; Conger et al., 1990; Conger, Reuter, & Elder, 1999; Dakin & Wampler, 2008; White & Rogers, 2000). Some studies report negative associations between income level and economic-related stressors (e.g., financial management issues, worry, job instability, etc.) with marital quality (Clark-Nicolas & Gray-Little, 1991; Conger et al., 1990; Dakin &

Wampler, 2008; Furdyna, Tucker & James, 2008; White & Rogers, 2000). However, focusing on direct links between income level and relationship quality fails to capture other potent factors that are also associated with relationships in lower-income couples. Focusing on additional mechanisms allows for the enhancement and improvement of prevention and intervention efforts aimed at assisting couples managing economic difficulty to experience healthy relationships.

Economic Difficulty and the Chronic Stressor State

Many lower-income couples experience economic stress in a chronic state rather than in an episodic or acute state. Often, families living in poverty become accustomed to the idea that the family living condition will not improve due to the continuous or chronic nature of economic stressors. Stressors tend to pile-up without signs of resolution, and potentially intensify issues and worries already present. In this respect, the impact of chronic stress has been noted to be more severe than acute stress, and exert a more powerful influence on couples and families (Barnett, 2008; Freeman et al., 1993; McLoyd, 1990; Scaramella, Sohr-Preston, Callahan, & Mirabile, 2008).

As an example, Scaramella and colleagues (2008) investigated stress in lowincome families both affected by Hurricane Katrina and those not affected by the disaster. They found no statistically significant differences in stress-related factors across pre and post assessments (before and after the hurricane) in the Katrina affected group. This finding was surprising to the authors as they noted, "for the most impoverished families, the incremental increase in felt stress associated with the events of Hurricane Katrina may be insignificant as compared to the chronic stress associated with poverty" (p. 538).

Many lower-income couples struggle with challenges related to the inability to meet basic needs, and these struggles have been noted to spill over into the couple relationship. Reports utilizing The Family Stress Model indicate that the economic strain felt by relationship partners is likely to incite anger, frustration, and increased hostility while reducing warmth and supportive behaviors in the relationship (Conger et al., 1990; Conger & Elder, 1994; Liker & Elder, 1983; Freeman et al., 1993). Low-income couples managing elevated economic stress are also more likely to report depression and other forms of psychological distress (Conger & Elder, 1994; Dakin & Wampler, 2008). All of these factors have been identified as threats to relationship quality (Conger et al. 1990; Freeman et al., 1993; Kinnunen & Feldt, 2004).

Economic Difficulty and Resource Access

Family stress and ecological theories highlight the various contextual influences in which couple relationships are embedded. In this sense, challenges for low-income couples are much more than worries about money (McLoyd, 1990; Wadsworth & Santiago, 2008). Low-income couples may experience reduced access to personal, social, and environmental resources than couples of greater economic means (Cattaneo & DeLoveh, 2008; Gallo, Bogart, Vranceanu, & Matthews, 2005; Mistry, Lowe, Benner, & Chieb, 2008). In terms of personal resources, lower-income couples may experience fewer coping resources with which to manage frustrations and worry. Economic stress in low-income families has been associated with less productive coping mechanisms and greater presence of psychological symptoms (Wadsworth & Santiago, 2008).

An overall lack of effective coping mechanisms and access to resources potentially renders the couple vulnerable to an array, or "piling-up" of stressors from various sources. Commenting on this phenomenon, Clark-Nicolas and Gray-Little (1991) noted, "lower economic status seems to engender a state of vulnerability that also renders the marriage more susceptible to other stressors" (p. 653). As the stressors pile-up, the couple my find little left to dedicate to the relationship and little resources through which to confront the stressors, and therefore harmful influences may become more potent in taking their toll on the couple relationship.

In addition, coping resources and mechanisms in lower-income couples may rapidly deplete as couples experience continued unsuccessful attempts to better their situation (Grimes & McElwain, 2008; Rettig et al., 1997). In some cases, couples experiencing chronic economic stress may express an overall lack of control over their situation, and elevated feelings of hopelessness, as increased stress has been found to be associated with lower levels of internal locus of control and reduced feelings of selfsufficiency (Bollini, Walker, Hamann, & Kestler; Dakin & Wampler, 2008; Rettig et al., 1997).

Economic Difficulty: Surrounding Contexts and Stress

Ecological theory ideas also points toward other relevant contexts in which lowincome couples may live that potentially mitigate couple stress. One of these important contexts may be the neighborhood environment. Low-income couples and families are more likely to live in neighborhood environments presenting more risks to family and child well-being, including increased substance using behavior and violence (Duncan, Duncan, & Strycker, 2002; Ellen & Turner, 1997). Roosa et al. (2005) reported that families who lived in high-risk neighborhoods reported more stressful events than families living in low-risk neighborhoods.

High-risk neighborhood environments have also been linked to poorer health outcomes. Recent study findings denote a strong connection between impoverished conditions, stress, and health outcomes (Cohen, Doyle, & Baum, 2006; Keenan, Gunthorpe, & Grace, 2007; Kristenson, Eriksen, Sluiter, Starke, & Ursin, 2004). These factors are important to consider as those with limited financial means are known to have unhealthier lifestyle practices, and various findings cite the interrelationship between health, stress, and relationship quality (Cattell, 2001; Kiecolt-Glaser & Newton, 2001 Kristenson et al., 2004).

Economic Difficulty, Stress, and Couple Relationship Conclusions

This section underscores the importance of assessing for stress when investigating influencing factors on couple relationships of different financial means, and as a mechanism through which couples connect with relationship resources. More evidence exists citing the use of subjective measures of economic stress as associated with factors such as relationship quality and stability (e.g., Conger et al., 1990; Conger & Elder, 1994; Fox & Chancey, 1998). Yet, some researchers are citing the benefit and importance of using objective measures of economic conditions as indirect and direct influences on couple relationships and outcomes (White & Rogers, 2000). This study utilizes two different sets of variables that are commonly utilized to assess SES. Variables for both male and female partners were created to assess differing levels of income and education.

Additionally, stress measures have been able to successfully differentiate between high and low risk groups, and assess for particularly potent influences on family stress (Fisher, Fagot, & Leve, 1997). However, little evidence exists of utilizing a reputable global stress measure to assess whether relationship partner stress is associated with attitudes toward couple resources such as CRE programs. Such an assessment would provide a window into factors associated with decisions to attend.

Also, stressors more common to lower-income couples may make attending programs such as CRE more difficult (Ooms & Wilson, 2004). The pile-up, or perpetual nature of job insecurity, job scarcity, financial worry, transportation issues, and childcare arrangements may have a strong bearing on how low-income partners perceive CRE programs and other potentially helpful services. In some cases, the perceived benefits may not be "worth" the effort of attending. Thus, assessing for how stress is associated with couple attitudes toward CRE, and how these associations may differ by income level and education level, helps service providers know how to frame and market such programs to enhance their "good side", or highlight their positive benefits to allow for more couples to find personal value in attending such programs and potentially strengthening their relationship.

Hypothesis 1: Greater levels of stress will be associated with more negative attitudes toward CRE. 1a. Relationship partners in the lower income group will report greater levels of stress, which will be associated with more negative attitudes toward CRE. 1b. Greater levels of stress will be higher among male relationship partners associating with more negative attitudes toward CRE.

Couple Interactional Quality: The Role of Affect

Studies investigating couple interactional process have sought to identify patterns and characteristics that impact relational distress (Gottman, 1998; Heyman, 2001). Over time, important findings have emerged distinguishing the interactional patterns between distressed and nondistressed couples. Although interactions vary across couples, the hallmark of interaction patterns among distressed couples has emerged as *negativity* (Gardner & Wampler, 2008; Griffin, 1993). Numerous studies investigating couple interactional patterns have shown elevated levels of negative affect and negative verbal and nonverbal behaviors in couples classified as distressed (Burman, Margolin, & John, 1993; Gottman & Levenson, 1992; Griffin, 1993; Levenson & Gottman, 1985; Revenstorf, Vogel, Wegener, Hahlweg, & Schindler, 1980).

Reciprocation of Negativity: Distressed and Nondistressed Couples

Additionally, findings show that distressed couples are more likely to reciprocate negativity and hostility, often producing what has been deemed a vicious cycle affecting relationship satisfaction (e.g., Levenson & Gottman, 1985). Reviews of this body of literature by Heyman (2001) and Gottman (1998) note that distressed couples are more likely to begin conversations with hostility, maintain elevated levels of hostility throughout the conversation, reciprocate hostility, produce lower ratios of positive behavior to negative behavior, and experience greater health consequences and physiological arousal than nondistressed couples. All of these factors are noted to affect relationship quality in couples (Gottman, 1998).

Yet, nondistressed couples experience periods of negativity and hostility. What is it about nondistressed couples that leads to reduced risk for negative relationship outcomes? This is more than simply not doing what distressed couples do (Heyman, 2001). Evidence suggests that although nondistressed couples do experience negativity and hostility, it is the *way* in which these factors are managed in the interaction that contributes to more positive relationship experiences. For example, Burman et al. (1993) noted that nondistressed couples displayed negative behavior patterns similar to the distressed couples in the study, but they were able to exit patterns of negativity more quickly. Also, these researchers suggested that the overall ratio of positive behavior to negative behavior is higher in nondistressed couples than in distressed couples. Distressed couples have been shown to more quickly escalate negativity than nondistressed couples, leading to amplified risk of relationship distress and dissolution (Gottman, 1998; Heyman, 2001; Revenstorf et al., 1980).

The Role of Affect in Relationship Outcomes: A Dyadic Concept

Further examination of research on patterns of emotion and behaviors in couple communication reveals additional evidence of the impact of affect in the couple interactional process. Couples researchers have noted the salience of affect as an important predictor of marital disruption, and divorce (e.g., Carrere & Gottman, 1999; Griffin, 1993, 2003; Smith, Vivian, & O'Leary, 1990). Additionally, researchers have noted that the affective factors of couple communication allow for more intricate views of the quality of the relationship. Along these lines, investigations of affective couple interactions have shown to be more representative of current relationship quality than the verbal content of the communication or the communication skills of the relationship

partners (Bradbury & Karney, 1993; Gottman, 1979; Johnson et al. 2005; Smith et al. 1990). Affect quality associations in couples may be related to the truly dyadic nature of affect in the relationship. Griffin (2003) noted that affect in couple relationships is not determined by the affect states of both partners individually, but that the couple affective state is represented at the relationship level. This conceptualization of couple affect is of particular importance in scientific investigations (Griffin).

Research on couple interactions over the past 30 years have given way to considerable gains in information regarding affective influences on couple relationships. Various studies have shown that couple interaction patterns marked by negative affect are associated with lower relationship satisfaction (Burman et al., 1993; Levenson & Gottman, 1985; Smith et al., 1990). As negative affect is reciprocated in couple interactions, the negativity can carry over from discussion to discussion, creating an additive, vicious, cyclic pattern of negative emotionality impacting relationship quality (Bradbury & Karneyt, 1993; Levenson & Gottman, 1995). Additional findings indicate that patterns of negative affect in couples are predictive of future relationship dissolution over time (Carrere & Gottman, 1999; Gottman & Levenson, 1992). Thus, affective patterns shape the content and context of the relationship in that couple interactions are associated with the quality of the current relationship and fluctuations in relationship quality over time. As noted by Gottman and Levenson (1985), "the quality of interaction defines the quality of the marriage" (p. 91).

Absorbing Nature of Negativity in Couple Interaction

Gottman (1998) posits patterns of reciprocated negative affect represent "absorbing states" (p. 179) for distressed couples. In this sense, negativity in some distressed couples becomes an infectiously addictive state that once entered, is extremely challenging to leave. In addition, Gottman, Swanson and Murray (1999) note that all marriages potentially can enter "dark side" or "bright side" (p. 16) interactional exchanges. Which "side" is entered may depend more on baseline interactional states at the start of the interaction/discussion. To adapt this idea, the strength (or lure) of the particular interaction exchange for the particular couple may depend on patterned or "normal" interactional exchanges for a particular couple. For example, exchanges of negative affect are more common, or more stable, for distressed couples, and therefore, are engaged more often.

As noted earlier, couples in lower-income circumstances may be more at risk for relationship distress and lower relationship quality (Conger et al., 1990; Dakin & Wampler, 2008; Johnson et al., 2002). Thus, couples of limited financial means may be more likely to exhibit the interactional patterns more representative of distressed couples characterized by reciprocated negativity, and, likewise, these patterns would have a negative impact on relationship quality, and potentially dampen perceptions of relationship help services. In these terms, some of the unique personal, couple, and environmental stressors present in lower-income couple and family relationships would be likely to impact exchanges of negative affect and thereby influence the quality of the relationship and perceptions of resources designed to benefit the couple relationship.

Contextual Influences on Couple Affectual Exchange

Ecological and Contextual Stress theories highlight the importance of various influencing factors on negative affect of relationship partners and, subsequently, affectual exchanges. For example, community and neighborhood conditions, personal characteristics, and stressful circumstances have been shown to impact displays of negative affect (Rotton & Dubitsky, 2002; Scheier, Miller, Ifill-Williams, & Botvin, 2001).

In addition, financial strain and employment instability and difficulty have been associated with greater levels of psychological distress, including greater risk for depression. Symptoms more commonly managed by individuals with elevated psychological distress and depression include flat, "low" affect, and negative displays of affect (Conger et al., 1990; Conger & Elder, 1994; Dakin & Wampler, 2008; Kinnunen & Feldt, 2004; Pierce, Frone, Russell, & Cooper, 1994).

Further, studies have noted the impact of work distress on affectual exchanges in close relationships, particularly in lower—SES relationship partners. Krokoff, Gottman, and Roy (1988) investigated the translation of work distress into the couple relationship at home in blue-collar and white-collar workers. They found higher rates of negative affect reciprocation while observing problem-solving discussions for those in blue-collar jobs.

In addition, Repetti (1989) found that job distress and workload were related to the interactions of marital partners in a sample of air traffic control workers. Also, this study found that support on the part of the spouse after particularly stressful workdays moderated the impact of workload on marital interactions, in that more spousal support was associated with more social withdrawal and less anger. The author noted that perhaps spousal support, in terms of positive encouragement may lead to more healthy emotional recuperation for husbands by supporting husbands' time to unwind after stressful workdays, and therefore limit the exchange of negativity (Repetti). Thus, the influences of neighborhood factors at the community level, the work—home interaction, and the influence of psychological distress and depression at the individual level all are potentially associated with more pronounced exchanges and reciprocations of harmful negative affect cycles in lower-income couple relationships.

The Negativity Pile-up Phenomenon

Additionally, work distress and other related stressors may influence lowerincome couples' ability to adequately address and manage potentially negative interactions and issues as they arise. For example Gottman, Swanson, and Murray (1999) created a related theoretical idea entitled the "marital negativity detector." This theory indicates that couples with higher negativity thresholds may not address problematic issues as they arise in the relationship, and thus negativity accumulates embedded in the relationship. Couples with low negativity thresholds address potentially problematic issues as they come up in order to prevent negativity escalation.

In a related manner, Krokoff (1991) found that although humor can at times be a positive resource for couples, blue-collar couples were more likely than white-collar couples to use humor to "brush off" or minimize negative affectivity while communicating. Krokoff found that in blue-collar couple interactions, humor preceded

and followed the partner's tension and anger, while noting that feigning humor allows husbands to approach negativity and conflict without having to take responsibility for these emotions. Thus, couples in lower-income circumstances may be more likely to use mechanisms such as humor to brush over relationship issues and manage relationship affect, increasing couple negative thresholds and accumulating and stagnating reciprocations of negative affect in the relationship over time.

These negativity accumulations and reciprocations, when coupled with a lack of positivity and increased frustration and irritability as described earlier, hold potential harmful influences on relationship well-being, including increased risk of violent acts (Beach, Martin, Blum, & Roman, 1993; Fox ,Benson, DeMaris, & Van Wyk, 2002; White & Rogers, 2000). In a related manner, negative affect has been associated with increased alcohol consumption as a means to regulate negative emotion, and as described earlier, increased alcohol consumption has been linked with several relationship issues including increased risk of relationship aggression and violence (Cunradi, Caetano, & Schager, 2002; Frone, Barnes, & Farrell, 1994; Peirce, et al., 1994). In this sense, contextual factors may combine to extract positive affect from low-income couple communication and problem-solving, leaving couples more vulnerable to ineffective communication styles (Bradbury & Karney, 2004).

Economic Difficulty and Couple Affect Conclusions

This section has highlighted the importance of assessing for affect influences when investigating couple relationships. Far less is known about how affect influences lower-income couples specifically, and how affect is potentially related to relationship

help-seeking services in lower vs. higher income couples. This study utilizes an affect variable constructed from real-time streams of affect data collected through ratings of each relationship partner. These ratings have been shown to be reliable measures of one's own affect during an interaction episode (Gottmam & Levenson, 1985).

Various study reports have shown negative affect reciprocity as a consistent and important predictor of relationship satisfaction (e.g., Beach et al., 1993; Gottman, 1999). Knowing more about how affect relates to couple attitudes toward CRE, can help program facilitators to more effectively attract and retain program participants. Heightened levels of stress, strain, worry, and psychological distress often present in lower-income couples may increase levels of negative affect in couple interactions and "negatively color" the benefits of attending relationship programs such as CRE, as well as influence the manner in which couple discussions of potentially attending CRE are managed (Hawkins & Fackrell, 2010; Ooms & Wilson, 2004). In addition, learning more about couple affectual quality can help CRE and other couple programs aid lower-income couples to regulate emotion, learn soothing techniques, and open up more productive dialogues, all of which have been shown to be important skills in healthy relationship functioning (Gottman, 1999; Hicks, McWey, Benson, & West, 2004).

Hypothesis 2: Greater levels of negative affect will be associated with more negative attitudes toward CRE. 2a. Relationship partners in the lower income group will report greater levels of negative affect associating with more negative attitudes toward CRE. 2b. Greater levels of negative affect will be noted in male relationship partners associating with more negative attitudes toward CRE.

Economic Difficulty, Couple Relationships, and Intimate Partner Aggression (IPA)

Income-related stressors may influence the risk of IPA in the couple relationship. Consistent findings show strong relationships between job insecurity, low-income, and elevated risk of IPA (Cunradi, et al., 2002; Fox, et al., 2002; Rennison & Planty, 2003; Straus, 1990). Longitudinal research indicates that particularly men in low-SES circumstances are more likely to initiate acts of IPA than men of other groups (Magdol et al., 1997). Additionally, some research suggests that factors such as race and education also influence risk of IPA, yet further investigation shows income as the strongest predictor above and beyond the influence of race, education status or employment status (Cunradi et al., 2002; Rennison & Planty, 2003).

Environmental Stress and Resources: Frustration Eruption Propensity

In particular, social stressors associated with negative life events and conditions are highly related to incidents of IPA (e.g., Gelles, 1987, 1989). Family stress and ecological theories point towards the interaction between individual, relational, and environmental factors that influence increased stress, and therefore, increase the risk of IPA. For example, job instability, financial insecurity, role shifts, individual life experiences, and impoverished conditions have all been associated with increased relationship violence risk (Bassuk, Dawson, & Huntington, 2006; Cunradi et al., 2002; Gelles, 1994; McKenry, Julian, & Gavazzi, 1995).

Factors associated with social and environmental stressors in couples can be "vented" in the form of IPA. Economic stressors have been associated with increased hostility and psychological distress in relationship partners (e.g., Conger et al., 1990; Conger & Elder, 1994), and therefore rend partners tired, irritable, frustrated, and worried, and increase the risk of relationship aggression (Fox et al., 2002; White & Rogers, 2000). This risk is intensified in couples experiencing prolonged states of unemployment, chronic poverty, and elevated alcohol abuse, particularly increasing perpetrating behavior in men (Bassuk et al., 2006; Kinnunen & Feldt, 2004; McKenry et al., 1995).

Coping resources have been shown to mediate the influence of stress on relationship violence. In this respect, the quality of the relationship or the coping skills possessed by the relationship partners can act as either a resource preventing violence or a risk factor increasing violence risk (McKenry et al., 1995). Findings show poor relationship quality has been associated with increased IPA, and couple coping skills have been shown to mediate the influence of stress on relationship quality, and IPA incidents (Bodenmann, 1997; Bodenmann & Cine, 2005; Fox et al., 2002; McKenry et al., 1995; White & Rogers, 2000).

Other reports also show that couples in lower-income circumstances may have limited coping resources in which to manage stress and other relationship threats. Also, couples of limited financial means often experience less relational (relationship quality), social, and environmental support resources than couples of greater means. These limited resources may be associated with both personal and environmental influences in that those from lower-SES backgrounds may have experienced greater exposure to violence in childhood, exhibit depressive symptoms, struggle with alcohol addiction, and employ aggressive tactics in marital disputes, all of which increase the risk for relationship

violence (Cattaneo & DeLovaeh, 2008; Cunradi et al., 2002; Gelles, 1994; McKenry et al., 1995).

A close look at this literature shows IPA links with several other influencing factors that may be particularly pertinent to the experience of couples managing financial struggles. The elevated stressor influences often confronting couples in lower-income circumstances appears to be at the root of these interrelationships. Various links have been shown between different potential stressors, and increased risk for IPA, including relational (relational discord), environmental stressors (economic strain, unsafe and impoverished community and neighborhood environments), personal experiences (family-of-origin influences, personality issues, psychological distress), and substance using behaviors, particularly where the male partner consumes, or consumes large amounts and the female partner does not (Cunradi et al., 2002; Eby, 2004; Gelles, 1989; Grana, 2001; Marshal, 2003; Pan, Neidig, & O'Leary, 1994; Quigley & Leonard, 2000). Thus, the links between stress and IPA potentially radiate through various influential aspects of the couple relationship, raising various concerns for both individual and relationship health.

Intimate Partner Aggression and Economic Difficulty Conclusions

The above noted findings underscore the heightened need to investigate IPA when studying and working with couples in lower-income circumstances as a potentially strong influence on relationship health. As noted, the unique and potent nature of stressors present in lower-income couple relationships may influence partner behaviors, and may boil over and "erupt" into incidents of IPA, or place partners at greater risk for IPA.

Noted family stress expert Murray Straus (1990) pointed out that, "low income and low status...are indicators of even more stress" (p. 196), and these factors alone greatly influence levels of stress that create unhealthy behaviors such as violence and other forms of aggression in couple relationships.

Adequate assessments of IPA in couple relationships allows for CRE and other couples programmers to identify important threats to the well-being of couple relationships, particularly for those couples experiencing economic hardship and stress. Investigating IPA influences on couple attitudes toward CRE for those in lower-income circumstances assists those implementing such programs to provide services that are more in-line with needs related to healthy relationship functioning.

In general, CRE programs are lacking of material that assess for and address IPA, which is essential in programs designed for lower-income couples, and protecting relationship partner safety (Halford, Markman, Kline, & Stanley, 2003; Olson, Larson, &Olson-Sigg, 2009; Stanley, Pearson, & Kline, 2005; Stanley et al., 2008). In the majority of cases, CRE does not represent an effective treatment method for couples with even moderate issues related to physical violence. Thus, adequately assessing for IPA behaviors and maintaining working relationships with domestic violence experts are important areas of effective practice for CRE providers (Olson et al., 2009; T. Ooms personal communication, November 4, 2009). Hence, training CRE personnel on how to assess for IPA in potential program participants, and on how to make effective referrals to relationship aggression specialists is an important means through which to provide effective services based on the needs of the couple.

In addition, and in particular, psychological aggression may play a large role in influencing couple decisions to participate in CRE programs. For instance, simply bringing up the topic of attending a relationship program may be more "risky" for partners in relationships where psychological control and aggression are present. Also, individuals who have psychologically aggressive partners may be reluctant to attend CRE programs in fear that program material may bring up, or incite, relationship issues that potentially could exacerbate episodes of psychological aggression in the relationship. Hence, attitudes toward CRE programming may be associated with differing levels of IPA in the couple relationship, specifically within the context of psychological aggression. Assessing for IPA, and in particular psychological forms of IPA, may be principally important in shaping partner attitudes toward CRE where such behaviors are more of challenge in the relationship.

Hypothesis 3: Greater levels of psychological aggression will be associated with more negative attitudes toward CRE. 3a. Relationship partners in the lower income group will report greater levels of psychological aggression associating with more negative attitudes toward CRE. 3b. Male partners will report more displays of psychological aggression associating with more negative attitudes toward CRE.

The Field of CRE: Recent Progress and Pitfalls

Although, much progress and improvement have characterized the field of CRE, there remains much to learn on how to successfully market and develop effective programs for lower-income couples. The information reviewed above helps to delineate particular important areas to assess for and cover in such programs, and how such factors may interact with income and related stressors to affect couple attitudes toward attending CRE. This discussion now turns to highlighting some of the current gaps in couples services through an exploration of a brief history of the field of modern CRE study and programming, and what is known about relationship help-seeking and prevention in such programs and related services.

The Rise of Modern CRE: The CRE and Government Relationship

In response to some of the trends described earlier (i.e., high divorce rates, high rates of relationship instability among lower-income couples, effects of relationship quality and instability on children, etc.) the Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF) program was instituted in 1996. One of the central goals of TANF was to promote both the formation and maintenance of two-parent families and households. In collaboration with TANF, five years later the federal government launched the Healthy Marriage Initiative. The Healthy Marriage Initiative has been conducted under the direction of the Administration for Children and Families (ACF), housed within the U.S. Department of Health and Human Resources. The TANF program has served as a major source of funds for the Healthy Marriage Initiative. For example, in 2006, the U.S. government awarded \$150 million in grants to aid the service delivery and implementation of relationship education programs. To date, the Healthy Marriage Initiative has provided funds to numerous state, local, and community services aimed at offering programs to teach skills to couples in order to form and sustain healthy relationships (Halford et al., 2008; Knox & Fein, 2009).

An important effort of the Healthy Marriage Initiative has been a large research agenda implemented by ACF including the synthesis of information, program evaluations, and specifically, random assignment evaluative work to test the effectiveness of relationship education programs targeting low-income couples. Two of these major research efforts have been the Building Strong Families Project (BSF) and the Supporting Healthy Marriages Project (SHM). Both projects were launched in response to the FFCWB study and other related studies described earlier, but in particular, the BSF.

The BSF project was initiated in 2002 by ACF with a nine-year project operation duration. The BSF project relies on a rigorous longitudinal design with random assignment (treatment and control groups). Couples eligible to participate had a child under the age of three months, or were expecting a child. Additionally, for participation eligibility, couples had to be unmarried and romantically involved, or married after the conception of the child. Data was then collected at three time points: baseline, 15 months after program enrollment, and when the child of the couple reaches the age of three (Dion et al., 2008; Knox & Fein, 2009).

These BSF evaluations are currently being conducted at various sites across the nation. These sites represent seven regions across the U.S. To be selected as a BSF site, each location had to complete a pilot phase indicating successful implementation of program model guidelines. The seven selected BSF sites in which BSF maintains cooperative agreements are: Atlanta, Georgia: Georgia Building Strong Families; Baltimore, Maryland: Baltimore Building Strong Families; Baton Rouge Louisiana: Family Road Building Strong Families; Florida: Healthy Families Plus, Indiana: Healthy Couples, Healthy Families Program, Oklahoma: Family Expectations, and Texas:

Building Strong Families Texas. Preliminary findings have shown evidence of several areas of program success, yet more detailed information on program evaluation is scheduled for release in mid-2011 (Dion, 2005; Dion & Hershey, 2010; Knox & Fein, 2009; R. Dion, personal communication, November 11, 2009).

The BSF aims to provide information on whether supporting the marital aspirations of low-income unwed couples enhances the overall well-being of their children through providing in-depth couple services through various program models. All BSF programs are guided by specific sets of eligibility criteria, and a common program treatment model. Program models all include three different components: group instruction in relationship skills, individual-level program support from assigned family coordinators, and referrals to additional support services as needed (i.e., legal issues, employment). Relationship skills emphasized through the BSF model are topics covered by many marriage and relationship education programs, including communication, conflict management, emotional intimacy, and recognizing problem areas in the relationship (Dion et al., 2008; Knox & Fein, 2009).

The SHM project was launched in 2003. SHM programs target married, lowincome couples. Less is known about married couples in lower-income circumstances. The SHM project is testing whether relationship education support for low-income married couples can reduce elevated divorce and instability rates, enhance marital quality, and improve child well-being. The SHM is the first multisite, rigorous evaluation study of CRE for married low-income couples (Dion, 2005; J. Miller, personal communication, November 11, 2009; Knox & Fein, 2009).

The SHM project is testing relatively intense and comprehensive program models developed for working with low-income couples. In particular, the project assesses the effectiveness of programs that provide instruction and support to improve relationship skills. The SHM program model also includes links to services that may help low-income couples address barriers to healthy marriage, such as problems with employment, health, stress, or housing insecurity. In addition, the model includes extended marriage education activities that reinforce the relationship skills taught in the program. Thus, the SHM project is studying the effects of marriage education approaches of the program model on primarily low-income, married couples. The initial report of this project's findings are due out in late 2010 (Dion, 2005; J. Miller, personal communication, November 11, 2009; Knox & Fein, 2009).

The SHM has partnered with eight agencies to administer the SHM program model across the country. These sites are: University of Central Florida in Orlando, Florida; Catholic Charities, Wichita, Kansas; University Behavioral Associates, Bronx, New York; Public Strategies, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma; Community Prevention Partnership, Reading, Pennsylvania; Health and Human Services Commission, Austin, Texas; Becoming Parents Program, Seattle, Washington; Center for Human Services, Shoreline, Washington (Dion, 2005).

Finally, ACF has partnered with several Community Healthy Marriage Initiatives (CMHI) across the country. These programs are designed to promote healthy marriage, parent training, and the well-being of children at more local and community levels. Various faith-based, government agencies, and non-profit organizations are collaborators, yet the scope of programming and targeting populations vary from program to program in

these community programs. Many are based on well-researched relationship education programs that are now producing adaptations for working with low-income populations such as the Premarital Relationship Enhancement Program (PREP), Practical Application of Intimate Relationship Skills (PAIRS), and Relationship Enhancement (RE) (Dion, 2005; Halford et al., 2008).

Relationship Help-Seeking Behaviors and CRE: Where We Are and Where are We Going

Despite the recent surge of research and implementation, providing sound CRE programming for low-income couples is still in its infancy (Dion, 2005; Halford, 2004; Hawkins & Fackrell, 2010; Knox & Fein, 2009). The above highlighted programs through ACF will no doubt provide a wealth of information to those working with CRE, specifically those who work with and target low-income couples. Yet, the BSF and SHM projects essentially assess programming based on a comprehensive and resource heavy models, and community initiative program designs, backgrounds, models, resources and areas of focus vary. Thus, in a broad sense, there is still much to learn on how to effectively implement CRE with low-income couples, especially for smaller, community programs found outside of the scope of funding at the national level.

Little has been reported on successfully recruiting low-income couples to CRE programs. Markman et al. (2006) note that potentially the biggest challenge in working with CRE with low-income couples and men in particular is "getting people in the room" (p. 426). Numerous authors who work with or who frequently study CRE have noted that, although CRE programs are growing in terms of variety and availability, largely many couples do not attend CRE programs, and at-risk couples, including low-income couples

and couples of diverse backgrounds are not in attendance. These barriers may be represented in terms of lack of access, knowledge, or individual and couple characteristics that impede couples from attending. And foremost, these barriers can impede high risk couples, who are in greatest need, and could greatly benefit from couples programming from receiving such services (Dyer & Halford, 1998; Halford, 2004; Halford, Markman, & Stanley, 2008; Larson, 2004; Markman & Halford, 2005; Markman et al., 2006; Olson et al., 2009; Ooms & Wilson, 2004; Stanley, Amato, Johnson, & Markman, 2006; Wilson & Halford, 2008).

Program experience suggests that marketing to, and recruiting low-income couples may represent the biggest barrier to CRE success. Preliminary findings suggest that couples attending the BSF programs reported hopefulness, skepticism, nervousness, and hesitation about what to expect from the program and about attending in general which had an impact on the initial decision to attend and to return (Dion et al., 2008). The larger, strongly supported CRE programs (BSF, SHM) and others focusing on lowincome families (Supporting Father Involvement) are experiencing success as far as program goals in helping couples and families achieve more satisfying relationships and in retaining program participants who attend initial program sessions (C. Cowan, personal communication, November 15, 2009; J. Miller, personal communication, November 11, 2009; Myrick, Ooms, & Patterson, 2009; R. Dion, personal communication, November 11, 2009).

Also, program experiences have been found in low-income men, that once they initially attend CRE programs they tend to relax and become active participants (Dion et al., 2008; Dion & Hershey, 2010; J. Miller, personal communication, November 23,

2009; T. Ooms, personal communication, November 6, 2009). Hence assessing initial barriers, such as how low-income couples perceive CRE, and attitudes towards such programs, and factors that influence these factors, represents an important means through which to effectively shape program design and marketing to achieve more effective recruitment and retention results by assisting couples to take that initial step to "walk through the door."

Programs funded through ACF may also have access to helpful resources, monetary and otherwise, that aid program recruitment and implementation. Surely, smaller, community and local level programs would not have access to as many resources (Hawkins & Fackrell, 2010; T. Ooms, personal communication, November 6, 2009). Yet, little information is available, in a more general sense, providing information applicable across various programs to support CRE recruitment and implementation efforts with lower-income couples, and how these efforts may need to be adapted by assessing potential differences in lower income vs. couples of greater means, as well as differences in married vs. unmarried couples (Halford, 2004; Kinnunen & Feldt, 2004; Theun & Laerum, 2005).

Relationship Help-Seeking and the Preventative Nature of CRE: Bridging the Gap

Help-seeking behaviors for couple and relationship issues are generally minimal. Rarely do distressed couples seek help such as marital counseling until they begin seriously considering divorce. Only approximately 37% of couples in the divorce process report seeking counseling, and only 19% of married couples sought out counseling or therapy services for their relationship (Gottman & Gottman, 1999; Johnson et al., 2002). In general, women are more likely than men to engage in help-seeking behaviors, and this holds true in seeking relationship counseling or therapy (Addis & Mahalik, 2003; Dienhart, 2002; Doss, Atkins, & Christensen, 2003; Moynehan & Adams, 2007).Yet, the value placed on close relationships is evident as issues related to marriage and family account for the primary motive for those seeking psychological services (Bradbury, 1998).

These findings highlight the need for the preventative nature and focus of CRE programs. Often, the longer couples experience distress, the more embedded those issues become, and the more difficult treatment becomes. CRE programs implement skills that aid couples to avoid such issues before they begin (Olson et al., 2009). However, very little is known about how couples go about selecting CRE as a form of relationship help or enhancement. In a recent study, Doss, Rhoades, Stanley, and Markman (2009) found that of the 77 couples in the sample that had sought relationship enrichment or assistance, 41 attended relationship workshops or retreats, and 49 read relationship help books. Their findings showed that couples generally sought help from relationship workshops or relationship books as their first resource, where a lesser amount of couples sought relationship therapy as their first resource.

However, little is known about factors that might be associated with couples' decisions to participate in CRE. Such base-level factors such as perceptions, attitudes, and considerations of CRE programs shed light on what couples think about CRE and what the potential benefits might be for their relationship. What little research that has done in this area focused on these perceptions in younger groups such as adolescents, and has been coupled with attitudes toward marriage in general (Duncan, Box, & Silliman,

1996; Larson et al., 2008; Martin, Specter, Martin, & Martin, 2003; Silliman & Schumm, 2004). At the basic level, an individual's or couple's attitudes, intentions, and considerations can influence subsequent behaviors to act (Ajzen & Fishbein, 1980; Bringle & Byers, 1997). It is proposed in this study, that couple attitudes toward CRE are associated with several factors that have been well documented as influencing relationship satisfaction (stress, negative affect, relationship aggression). These associations may be related to some of the unique challenges faced by lower-income relationship partners.

The Delicate Research to Practice Balance: When are we Ready to Make the Jump?

What little we do know about high-risk couples such as couples of limited financial means in relation to CRE is encouraging. The state-wide surveys previously mentioned indicate that low-income couples are interested in CRE as a means of strengthening the couple relationships, even more so than couples of higher income levels. A growing body of research is also suggesting that, although CRE is primarily preventative in focus, some high-risk, distressed couples are attending and benefitting from CRE services (DeMaria, 2005; Dion & Hershey, 2010; Halford et al., 2008; J. Miller, personal communication, November 23, 2009; Hawkins & Fackrell, 2010; Stanley et al., 2006).

Very recently, Hawkins & Fackrell (2010) published a metanalysis from the small pool of outcome research done specifically with CRE programs with lower-income populations. Their results showed small to moderate effect sizes in improving the couple relationship, and these results were shown to mirror those of studies done assessing CRE

effectiveness with middle-income couples (Hawkins & Fackrell). Certainly, these recent reports are positive and encouraging, but there is still much work left to do.

Commenting on the recent expanding focus and advancement in the field of CRE, Halford (2004) noted, "it is an exciting time to be working in couple relationship education" (p. 564). This time in the field has been deemed both the best of times and the worst of times: the best of times in terms of the advancement, attention, and progression recently defining the field, and the worst of times in the sense that there is still much work to do in terms of evaluating program effectiveness and increasing programming foci both in terms of breadth and specificity (Hawkins & Fackrell, 2010; Larson, 2004).

Halford (2004) noted the delicate balance in terms of studying and implementing CRE in that, "there is an understandable tension between our desire to know more before we develop clear directions in relationship policy and the need to address the pressing social problems of relationship distress and divorce" (p. 559). This study intends to aid in adding clarity on where to place the emphasis in this balance in assessing how various factors relevant to the couple relationship are associated with attitudes toward CRE, and how these attitudes may differ by gender, income, education, and relationship status.

Adding Specificity: The Study of CRE Attitudes

Stress, negative affect, and psychological aggression as highlighted in the above sections all have shown associations with relationship quality. It was thereby hypothesized in this study that stress, negative affect, and relationship aggression all would be negatively correlated with relationship quality. Conventional wisdom would indicate that couples who have a high degree of relationship quality would not be as interested in attending a CRE program; not seeing the need to do so when having a primarily satisfying relationship. Couples not seeing the need for improvement or enhancement through assistance from an outside source may well be a barrier to seeing a program such as CRE as helpful (W. Goddard, personal communication, March, 9, 2010).

In a related manner, dating and cohabiting couples, especially if the relationship was formed relatively recently, along with recently married couples, have been noted as holding more idealistic expectations of the relationship (Hawley & Olson, 1995; Stafford & Merolla, 2007; Stanley, Rhoades, & Markman, 2006). Additionally, relationship satisfaction has been shown to decline over the first years of marriage, and even well into the life of the marriage (Halford, Sanders, & Behrens, 2000; Kurdeck, 1993). Thus, married couples, potentially due to lower relationship satisfaction levels, perceivably could hold more positive attitudes toward CRE than couples who are unmarried. This association may also differ by gender. However, the answer to this question remains largely unanswered.

Finally, education level, although known to be strongly connected with income, may also uniquely contribute to relationship partner attitudes toward CRE (W. Goddard, personal communication, March 9, 2010). Some findings from the BSF study show that lower education level was associated with a lower probability of attending the program (Dion & Hershey, 2010). Similarly, attitudes toward CRE programming may also be affected by education level. Education level also may affect attitudes toward CRE differently by gender. Yet, information relating to this issue has not yet been discovered.

This is the first known study to investigate factors associated with attitudes toward CRE, and how these factors may vary by gender, income, education, and relationship status in a primarily lower-income sample. This study offers a multi-method approach in that both self-reported attitudes toward CRE and observer-rated attitudes toward CRE are assessed in accordance with study predictors and moderators. Utilization of observational methods in addition to self-report methods is advantageous as increased validity in social science research has been noted through the utilization of observational methods (Babbie, 2001, Gottman & Notarius, 2000). This type of design allows for comparisons to be made between how relationship partners respond to questions relating to attitudes toward CRE programs in a pencil and paper format, and how relationship partner attitudes are rated by trained observers as they discuss the topic.

Potentially, study predictor and moderator association with attitudes toward CRE may differ as assessed in the privacy of a research laboratory room completing a questionnaire as opposed to discussing the topic with one's partner. In addition, the different methods used to assess attitudes toward CRE may each provide unique information related to relationship partner attitudes toward CRE and how these attitudes are shaped. It is proposed that this investigation can benefit the work of those striving to provide CRE to diverse populations.

Rationale for the Proposed Study

Recent research suggests that low-income couples are interested in receiving CRE services to benefit their romantic relationships. Also, recent monetary allocations have granted large increases in funding CRE programs working with lower-income couples.

Yet, largely lower-income couples are absent in such programs, and limited evidence exists regarding the effectiveness of such programs. The research reviewed here suggests that many lower-income couples experience unique challenges that potentially threaten relationship quality and stability. The literature reviewed here points toward three potent factors disrupting low-income couple relationships, which are stress, IPA, and negative affect. Yet, little is known on how these factors may also color couple attitudes towards CRE, limiting access to such programs, and affecting perceptions of the benefit of such programs. Some researchers are suggesting that investigating factors that influence couple's decisions to participate in CRE such as attitudes and considerations of CRE programming are needed to aid in recruitment and program development. To date, research has not directly examined the influence of potentially important factors that are associated with considerations and attitudes of CRE, and how the effect of these factors may vary by gender, income, education, and relationship status.

For instance, how might attitudes toward CRE be different by income, in married versus unmarried couples, and in males versus females? In addition how might stress, IPA, and negative affect, differentially influence attitudes towards CRE by education, relationship status, and gender? Learning more about the impact of these factors and how they potentially vary for couples in different circumstances is of benefit to those who both study and facilitate couples programming to more accurately tailor program recruitment and design to increase program benefits.

The purpose of the study is to assess the association of stress, affect, relationship aggression, and relationship quality on attitudes toward CRE, and assess how income, education, relationship status, and gender may moderate these associations.

Specifically, the study seeks to answer several questions:

- 1. Are there significant associations between stress, affect, psychological aggression, and relationship quality with both self-reported and observer-rated attitudes toward CRE?
- 2. Are there significant differences between stress, affect, psychological aggression, and relationship quality associations with both self-reported and observer-rated attitudes toward CRE across relationship partners in different income groups?
- 3. Are there significant differences between stress, affect, psychological aggression, and relationship quality, associations with both self-reported and observer-rated attitudes toward CRE across relationship partners in different education groups?
- 4. Are there significant differences between stress, affect, psychological aggression, and relationship quality, associations with both self-reported and observer-rated attitudes toward CRE across relationship partners who are married vs. unmarried?
- 5. Are there significant gender differences in stress, affect, psychological aggression, and relationship quality associations with both self-reported and observer-rated attitudes toward CRE?
- 6. What variables (stress, affect, psychological aggression) show the greatest associations with relationship quality?
- 7. How is relationship quality related to attitudes toward CRE?

8. How do the associations of stress, affect, psychological aggression, and relationship quality differ when attitudes toward CRE are measures in self-report format versus observer ratings?

Hypotheses

Study hypotheses were tested in relation to both self-reported and observer-rated attitudes toward CRE. Based on the preceding review of literature the following study hypotheses were formulated:

Stress, Income, and Gender

1. Greater levels of stress will be associated with more negative attitudes toward CRE. 1a. Relationship partners in the lower income group will report greater levels of stress associating with more negative attitudes toward CRE. 1c. Greater levels of stress will be more pronounced in male relationship partners associating with greater negative attitudes toward CRE.

Affect, Income, and Gender

2. Greater levels of reported negative affect will be associated with more negative attitudes toward CRE. 2a. Relationship partners in the lower income group will report greater levels of negative affect associating with more negative attitudes toward CRE. 2c. Greater levels of negative affect will be more pronounced in male relationship partners associating with greater negative attitudes toward CRE.
Relationship Aggression, Income, and Gender

3. Greater levels of psychological aggression will be associated with more negative attitudes toward CRE. 3a. Relationship partners in the lower income bracket will report greater levels of psychological aggression associating with more negative attitudes toward CRE. 3c. Male partners will report more displays of psychological aggression associating with more negative attitudes toward CRE.

Relationship Quality

4. Greater levels of relationship quality will be associated with more negative attitudes toward CRE.

Relationship Status

5. Unmarried couples will report more negative attitudes toward CRE than married couples. This negative relationship will be particularly pronounced for males.

Education

6. Relationship partners in the lower education group will primarily have more negative attitudes toward CRE.

Overall Pooled Partner Data and Attitudes Toward CRE

7. When assessing pooled partner data, overall differences will be found in participant attitudes toward CRE by gender, income, and education.

Self-report vs. Observer Rated Attitudes Toward CRE

8. Differences will be noted in testing the association of stress, negative affect, psychological aggression, and relationship quality in the analyses between the self-reported attitude toward CRE variable versus the observer-rated attitude toward CRE variable.

CHAPTER III

METHODOLOGY

Participants

Participants in this study were recruited from the city of Stillwater, Oklahoma and from surrounding areas. Since the population of Stillwater is estimated at just under 50,000 residents, Stillwater is neither considered rural nor metropolitan, but is considered a micropolitan area (M. Rupp, Personal communication, April 2, 2010). Funding for this study was provided through the Administration for Children and Families to Dr. Brandt Gardner and Ms. Kelly Roberts. Participation criteria was set to recruit heterosexual partners in a committed relationship (married or otherwise), and between the ages of 18 and 35. In order to comply with funding agency requirements and the purpose of the study, targeted efforts were made to recruit relationship partners in lower income brackets.

Project personnel distributed fliers and other information about the study and study requirements for participation to Medicaid approved clinics, county health department offices, housing authority offices, Dollar Tree and Dollar General Merchandise Stores, and Laundromats in the area. The fliers and project information contained a phone number for potential participants to call if interested in participating in the study. When participants called the phone number on the flier, they were screened for study requirements, and given more information about the study, including the requirement that both relationship partners were required to attend the research session. Once participation eligibility had been determined, an appointment date and time for the couple to come to the research laboratory to complete the study procedure was settled upon based on facility availability and the relationship partners' schedules. A reminder call was also made the day before the couples' scheduled appointment for participation.

The final sample consisted of 99 couples. Of the couples, 66 couples reported that they were single (dating, cohabiting) and 33 reported that they were married. Among the partners' education level, 70% were without a college degree, while 30% were college graduates. 62% reported an annual income below \$35,000 and 38% reported income above \$35,000. Among the couples, 2% were Asian or Pacific Islander, 8% were African American or Black, 4% were Hispanic or Latino, 8% were American Indian or Alaska Native, and 77% were Caucasian. Relationship partner study participant age ranged from 18-35, with a mean of 23.9 (*SD*=4.32). For a detailed summary of sample demographic characteristics, see Table 1.

Procedure

Recruitment of study participants began after receiving university IRB approval (for IRB approval letter copy see Appendix H). The data utilized for this study are part of a larger, multi-method study instigated to investigate recruitment barriers to CRE in lowincome couples. This data was collected in response to a large grant through the

Administration for Children and Families awarded to Dr. Brandt Gardner and Ms. Kelly Roberts to study the previously mentioned phenomenon. The data utilized here are part of the observational component of this larger, grant-funded study. The author served as the project coordinator for the duration of the observational component of the study, and oversaw all data collection and project implementation of this portion of the study.

Upon their arrival, participant couples were escorted by project personnel into the waiting area of the Human Development and Family Science Observational and Coding Laboratory on the campus of Oklahoma State University. To begin, participants provided informed consent and then completed a battery of questionnaires including a demographics form in separate rooms.

Following the completion of the questionnaires, couples engaged in two recorded conversations. The order of conversations was rotated for every couple consecutively so as to avoid any type of effect by having one conversation before the other (Heyman, 2001). For the conversation of focus here, couples were asked: "Discuss the pros and cons of attending a relationship education program to as applied to your relationship." Immediately following the couple discussions, couples were taken into an adjoining room furnished like a small living room, where they were instructed to relax, read magazines, and/or talk for 30 minutes. Couples were recorded during this period.

Following the resting period, partners then participated in a video-recall procedure where they, watched the video of their two interaction sessions and used a continuous response measure (Biocca, David, & West, 1994) to provide a moment-bymoment report of how positively or negatively they were feeling during each moment of the conversation. Such ratings have been shown to be extremely reliable and valid measures of how one feels during an interaction episode (Gottman & Levenson, 1985). At the completion of the video-recall procedure participants were thanked for their time, and debriefed by project personnel to assess whether the research protocol introduced any problems into the couples' relationship.

Measures

Demographics. A demographic survey was administered to collect information on age, gender, relationship status, income, educational status, race/ethnicity, as well items assessing the participant's attitude towards CRE programming. Dummy codes were created for income (0=income reported below \$15,000, 1=income greater than \$15,000), education (0=less than college degree, 1=college degree and above), and for relationship status (0=unmarried, 1=married) for use in testing interactions. The median education category across male and female relationship partners was the category "some college." Thus, the dichotomization was made to include those in the "higher" education group as having a college degree and above, and those in the "lower" education group as having less than a college degree.

Since all partners in the study were not married, and did not report the same income and education, dummy codes were created separately for male and females. Since one of the main overall purposes of the study was to test whether differences emerged relating to income, \$15,000 was established as the threshold for the "lower" income group as an attempt to capture the experience of those living in more chronic poverty conditions. U.S. census guidelines set the poverty level at \$14,366 for households with at least two people under 65 years of age, and \$11, 161 for households with one person

under the age of 65 (U.S. Census, 2010). Thus, the threshold set in the study is similar to that set by national poverty guidelines. See Table 1 below for more detailed sample information.

Table 1

Demographic Summary of Study Sample

Demographic Item	Males	Females	
	M-22.07	M_22.52	
Age	M = 23.97	M = 25.32	
Mamed	55.5% 24.2%	33.3% 24.2%	
Conabiting	24.2%	24.2%	
Dating	43.4%	43.4%	
Income-			
<i>-Less than \$15,000</i>	44.4%	52%	
-\$15,000-\$35,000	25.3%	26.5%	
-\$35,000-\$55,000	20.2%	10.2%	
-\$55,000-\$75,000	10.4%	6.1%	
-\$75,000 +	4%	5.1%	
Education-			
-Less than high school	4.2%	2.1%	
-High school graduate	12.5%	5.3%	
-Some college	49%	53.7%	
-Trade/Technical/vocational	3.1%	3.2%	
training			
-College graduate	20.8%	28.4%	
-Postgraduate work/degree	10.4%	7.4%	
Race			
-Asian or Pacific Islander	2.1%	2.1%	
-African American	8.2%	5.2%	
-Hispanic or Latino	5.2%	3.1%	
-American Indian or Alaska	9.3%	7.3%	
Native			
-White or Caucasian	75.3% 81.3%		
-Middle Eastern or Arab	0%	1.0%	

Self-reported affect. A continuous-response measure was utilized in conjunction with a video recall procedure (Biocca, David, & West, 1994) to obtain continuous self-report data on the individuals' affective experience. For the purpose of this analysis, partners were seated at separate computers where they were able to watch their

conversation relating to the pros and cons of attending CRE programming. As they watched the recorded conversation, partners rated how positively or negatively they felt moment-to-moment during the interaction episode discussing CRE programming as they watched the recording of their conversation. This rating scale was made on a computer that displayed a colored 9-point vertical scale (1=*high negativity*, 9=*high positivity*; see Griffin 1993, 2003; see also Gardner & Wampler, 2008), with the mouse used to provide the appropriate rating along the scale. Such ratings have been shown to be reliable measures of one's own affect during and interaction episode (Gottmam & Levenson, 1985).

Utilizing these continuous ratings of partner affect, a negativity variable of affect was created. Through specialized software, such continuous affect data can measure and depict affect flexibility in three different ways, including the range of emotional responses (dispersion), the changes in emotional reaction (transitions per minute), and the persistence of a specific emotional response (mean durations-per-event, Hollenstein, 2007). In this case, to assess affect negativity for this study, a measure was derived from State Space Grids (SSG) analysis to ascertain the amount of time the partner spent in the negative region (negative duration) of the grid (Hollenstein, 2007). The affect measure was attained using a SSG produced with the Gridware software (Lewis, Lamey, & Douglas, 1999). The seconds in the negative affect region were converted to minutes for use in study analysis.

Global Stress. The Derogatis Stress Profile (DSP; Derogatis, 1987) was utilized to measure global stress in the study participants. The DSP is a 77-item, multidimensional, self-report measure of stress (e.g., "I get into frequent arguments"; "Most things I do I see

as a challenge"; Sometimes I feel hopeless about the future"; "I tend to be impatient"; "I have trouble relaxing"). Items are answered on a 0-4 scale (0=*not at all true of me*; 1=*slightly true of me*; 2=*moderately true of me*; 3=*very true of me*; 4=*extremely true of me*). The instrument assesses stress as a function of three main domains: environmental events, emotional responses, and personality mediators. The DSP consists of 11 subscales that measure salient aspects of these three principle domains. The 11 subscales are combined to achieve a global measure of stress. A total stress score for each partner was computed using a T-score transformation (Derogatis, 2000) that sums all three domains of the questionnaire. Internal consistency reports of the DSP combined scores are good, with Cronbach's alpha coefficients above .90 (McLaughlin, Cormier, & Cormier, 1988). Norms for the DSP are based on a large nonclinical sample of adults (Derogatis, 1987).

Relationship Quality. The Revised Dyadic Adjustment Scale (RDAS; Busby, Crane, Larson, & Christensen, 1995) was utilized to assess the quality of the couple relationship. The RDAS is a shortened version of the Dyadic Adjustment Scale (Spanier, 1976), shortened from 32 to 14 items. The RDAS has also been described as "an improved version of the DAS that can be used to evaluate dyadic adjustment in distressed and nondistressed relationships" (Busby et al., 1995, p. 305). The RDAS consists of 14 items where participants indicate their agreement and frequency according to the item (e.g., agreement on religious matters, career decisions, sex relations; frequency of activities engaged together, quarrelling, or considerations of separation). Responses are marked on a Likert-type scale ranging from (e.g., 0=*always disagree* to 6=*always agree*; 0=*never* to 6=*all the time*). Scores on the RDAS range from 0-69, with the cutoff point between distressed and nondistressed couples set at 48 (Busby et al., 1995). The instrument has reported good internal consistency, with Cronbach's alpha coefficients of .90 (Busby et al., 1995; Crane, Middleton, & Bean, 2000).

Psychological Aggression. Relational aggression was measured utilizing the Revised Conflict Tactics Scales (CTS2; Straus, Hamby, Boney-McCoy, & Sugarman, 1996). The CTS2 measures relational aggression on five different scales (Negotiation, Psychological Aggression, Physical Assault, Sexual Coercion, and Injury). For the purposes of this study of assessing relationship aggression, the psychological aggression scale was utilized. CRE is contraindicated with couple issues of even moderate physical domestic violence. Hence, assessing for physical assault does not represent a particularly relevant addition to the model in this context of investigating influences on partner attitudes toward CRE.

The psychological aggression subscale is utilized to assess both verbal and nonverbal incidents of aggression in relationship partners (e.g., "I insulted or swore at my partner," "I shouted or yelled at my partner," "I stomped out of the room or house or yard during a disagreement"; Straus et al., 1996; Vissing, Straus, Gelles, & Harrop, 1991). Adequate internal consistency has been reported for the psychological aggression scale (Cronbach's alpha =.79; Straus et al., 1996). Consistent with the scoring recommendations of Straus et al. (1996), responses were assigned a value corresponding to the midpoint (*never* = 0; *once* = 1; *twice* = 2; 3–5 *times* = 4; 6–10 *times* = 8; 11–20 *times* = 15; *more than 20 times* = 25; *not in the past year, but it has happened before* = 0) of each frequency category and then summed to provide the subscale score of the frequency of psychological aggression incidents over the past year.

Self-reported Attitude Toward CRE. Two methods were utilized to assess participant attitudes toward CRE and tested in the two different model building procedures. One model building procedure tested the associations of global stress, negative affect, psychological aggression, and relationship quality on a combination of self-report items from the demographics questionnaire (See Appendix A). The second model building procedure tested the associations of these variables on an observational rating measure designed to assess attitudes toward CRE in the relationship partners (See Appendix B).

In the first model building process, a self-report attitude toward CRE dependant variable was tested in association with the study independent variables. Six items from the demographics survey were selected to represent self-report participant attitude toward CRE (e.g., "Would you consider using relationship education, such as workshops or classes, to strengthen your relationship?; For you personally, how likely would you be to seek help if you thought your committed relationship was in trouble?") (See Appendix A). Items were coded so that higher scores were indicative of a more positive appraisal of CRE. Scores from the selected items were summed for each partner to be used in analysis. The Cronbach's alpha coefficient for these items for males in the sample was computed at .70, and .66 for females in the sample.

Observer-rated Attitude Toward CRE. In the second model building process, an observational rating scale of attitudes toward CRE was used as the dependant variable in association with study independent variables. Observational coding was conducted on the 99 relationship partner conversations in which study participants were asked to discuss the pros and cons of attending a relationship education program as applied to their own

relationship. Since observational coding of this particular topic is nonexistent, an observational measurement scale using Likert-type items was created to observationally assess and rate partner attitudes toward CRE (Appedix B). The observational scale utilizes items representative of particular behaviors (verbal or otherwise) that indicate a more favorable or less favorable attitudes toward CRE. This measure was constructed based on related literature aimed at assessing perceptions and attitudes toward CRE-related programming and programming types in a survey format (i.e., Duncan et al., 1996; Duncan & Wood, 2003; Silliman, 1987; Silliman, 1992; Silliman & Schuum, 2004). The scale was constructed in that higher scores were indicative of more positive attitudes toward CRE.

Four undergraduate students in human development and family science were recruited via departmental announcements to assist in conducting the observational ratings. All observational rating was supervised by the author of this manuscript and Dr. Brandt Gardner. Observational rating training began with a series of meetings to review the observational rating scale and discuss the objectives of the rating procedure. A descriptive codebook of what each representative rating might "look like" in relationship partner conversations and behaviors was also distributed and discussed in these training meetings (Appendix C). Observers then began rating sample interactions of couples who were used in project pilot procedures, but were not part of the study. During these group meetings, discussions were held regarding the rating of the relationship partner attitudes, and to specifically review any points where consensus between group members was not strong. Once the group had reached a consensus during these group discussions of a maximum of one point differential between raters, the observers were ready to begin

rating study participant attitudes on their own. Observers were randomly paired into two groups and each pair of observers was randomly assigned roughly one half of the sample with which to provide ratings. Once the observers began rating on their own, additional group meetings were held every two to two-and-a half weeks to assess and maintain reliability among the observers.

Each observer watched a couple interaction once rating one partner (focusing on only one partner), and then watched the interaction a second time to rate the attitude of the other partner. In training, observers were instructed to listen to what was being said, how it was being said, and behaviors that would give indications of the relationship partner's attitude toward CRE so as to assess both the verbal and nonverbal content of the partner's attitude. Thus observers provided a rating for each item on the attitude scale, and summed the scores of all ratings to create a total observational attitude toward CRE score for each relationship partner utilized in study analyses.

In terms of inter-rater reliability, all observers independently coded approximately 20% of the relationship partner conversations. The intra-class correlation (ICC) coefficient was the inferential statistic used to determine interobserver reliability. The ICC is designed to assess for the rate of agreement between two or more raters using continuous or interval level data controlling for systematic bias among raters (Henry, Berg, Smith, & Florsheim, 2007; Shrout & Fleiss, 1979; Streiner, 1995). ICC coefficients were also chosen over an estimate such as the Kappa coefficient (Cohen, 1960, 1968) because they are ideal when investigating estimates of base rate coding and sums of ratings, and given the nature of scaled ratings made in this study the ICC is preferred over

Kappa (Hops, Davis, & Longoria, 1995; Futrell, 1995; Johnson, 2002; Lahey, Downey,& Saal, 1983; McGraw & Wong, 1996).

The ICC may be conceptualized as the ratio of between-groups variance to total variance. In this procedure, a two-way mixed model analysis most appropriately matched the circumstances since all raters rated all relationship partners (in the 20% of the interactions used to calculate reliability), and, as such, the raters were not randomly selected from a population of raters. The raters, in this case, represent the fixed effect, and the rating scores on the five different items represent the random effect. In addition, since variation in ratings was of interest in observer ratings, the absolute agreement between ratings was used in analysis to assess whether raters assigned the same absolute rating on the five different items across the relationship partners (Futrell, 1995; McGraw & Wong, 1996; Shrout & Fleiss, 1979). Finally, both single measure reliability, assessing the reliability of a typical single rater, and average measure reliability, assessing the reliability of mean ratings of all raters were calculated and examined in this study. ICC analysis was conducted using SPSS 17.0.

The ICC is interpreted similarly to the Kappa statistic in that correlations from .01-.20 indicate slight agreement, correlations from .21-.40 indicate fair agreement, correlations from .41-.60 indicate moderate agreement, correlations from .61-.80 indicate substantial agreement, and correlations above .80 indicate almost perfect agreement (Futrell, 1995; Landis & Koch, 1977; Vierra & Garnett, 2005). For male ratings, the ICC for single measure reliability was calculated at .62 (p < .0001) and the ICC for average reliability was .99 (p < .0001). For female ratings, the ICC for single measure reliability was .99 (p < .0001) and for average reliability was .99 (p < .0001). Thus, the inter-rater

reliability for single measure reliability (reliability of a single rater) fell in the substantial agreement category for both males and females, and the average measure reliability (reliability of mean ratings for all raters) fell in the category of almost perfect agreement. Due to the substantial agreement among raters, the totaled rating scores for each pair of raters (one pair rating one half of the sample, and the other pair the other half) were averaged and combined to be utilized as the observational attitude towards CRE dependent variables for both male and female partners in model testing. A summary of all measures used, corresponding authors, and reliability information is presented below in Table 2.

Table 2.

Summary of Study	Variables, Meas	sures, and Internal	Consistency

Variables	√ariables Method of Measurement		α /Intraclass Correlation (ICC)		
Global Stress	Derogatis Stress Profile	Derogatis, 1987	α= .90; McLaughlin, Cormier, & Cormier, 1988		
Negative Affect	Continuous Response	See Biocca, David, & West, 1994; Levenson & Gottman, 1985	See Biocca, David, & West, 1994; Levenson & Gottman, 1985		
Relationship Quality	Revised Dyadic Adjustment Scale	Busby, Crane, Larson, & Christensen, 1995	α= .90; Crane, Middleton, & Bean, 2000		
Psychological Aggression	Revised Conflict Tactics Scale	Straus, Hamby, Boney- McCoy, & Sugarman, 1996	α= .79; Straus, Hamby, Boney- McCoy, & Sugarman, 1996		

Male Income ^a	Demographic Survey Item	Roberts & Gardner, 2005	
Female Income ^b	Demographic Survey Item	Roberts & Gardner, 2005	
Male Education ^c	Demographic Survey Item	Roberts & Gardner, 2005	
Female Education ^d	Demographic Survey Item	Roberts & Gardner, 2005	
Relationship Status ^e	Demographic Survey Item	Roberts & Gardner, 2005	
Self-Report Attitude Toward CRE	Summed Survey Items	Roberts & Gardner, 2005	α Males= .70, α Females= .66
Observer-Rated Attitude Toward CRE	Attitude Towards	Burr & Gardner, 2009	Male ICC= .62, Female ICC=
	Relationship Education		.64
	Observer Rating Scale		

^aMale income: 0 = less than \$15,000, 1 = more than \$15,000. ^bFemale income: 0 = less than \$15,000, 1 = more than \$15,000. ^cMale

Education: 0 = less than college degree, 1 = college degree or above. ^dFemale education: 0 = less than college degree, 1 = college degree, 1 =

degree or above . ^eRelationship status: 0= *unmarried*, 1 = *married*.

Analyses

Descriptive Statistics Measurement

Analyses were conducted computing the mean, standard deviation, and skewness statistics for all independent variables in the study. These statistics appear below in Table 4. Additionally, the Pearson product-moment correlation was computed between all independent variables to assess the strength of these relationships. The bivariate correlations appear below in Table 5. Information on bivariate correlations was also used to confirm prior research indicating the negative association between stress, negative affect, relationship aggression with relationship quality in this sample. In analysis procedures, all model testing and correlation analyses were conducted in Mplus version 5.21 using maximum likelihood estimation to adequately manage points of missing data.

The Actor-Partner Interdependence Model (APIM)

The Actor-Partner Interdependence Model (APIM) is designed to assess interdependence in interpersonal relationships. Often in interpersonal relationships, such as couple relationships, the emotions and behaviors of one partner affect those of the other partner. When data are interdependent in nature utilizing the individual as the unit of analysis can lead to inaccurate results. Thus, investigations where non-independent observations are present, it is more appropriate to treat the dyad as the unit of analysis. The dependent variables in both sets of analysis (self-reported attitudes and observerrated attitudes) in this study were significantly correlated between relationship partners (self-report attitudes toward CRE, r=.21, p < .05; observed ratings of attitudes toward CRE, r=.35, p < .01), and it was also predicted that the independent variables would be

highly correlated between partners, thus, emphasizing the need to utilize the dyad as the unit of analysis (Cook & Kenny, 2005; Kenny, 1996; Kenny, Kashy, & Cook, 2006).

The APIM allows for the individual measures to be retained, as they are nested within the dyad. Since measures of relationship partners are often correlated, the APIM adjusts for the correlation between relationship partner independent variable correlations. If not modeled properly, data that is dyadic in nature might present multicollinearity issues. However, adjusting for the correlation between partner variables helps to reduce the risk of multicollinearity-related problems. As another feature, the APIM also adjusts for the correlation between the disturbance terms of each partner's dependant variable (Kenny et al., 2006; Laursen, 2005).

The two principal facets of the APIM are the actor effects and the partner effects. Actor effects measure the effect of one's own characteristics on his or her own outcome. Partner effects are defined as the effect of a partner's characteristics on one's outcome. As mentioned, the APIM takes into account the associations between variables. Thus, the actor effects are measured controlling for partner effects and partner effects are measured controlling for actor effects (Cook & Kenny, 2005; Kenny et al., 2006).

The APIM also allows for testing of moderating effects through multi-group analysis utilizing structural equation modeling (SEM) software and techniques, and chisquare difference testing to detect differences when certain paths were constrained as opposed to when they were not in model analyses. In many cases, the size of an actor or partner effect can vary depending on the value of an additional variable. Using SEM techniques is advantageous in analyzing the APIM in that the associations in the model can be tested simultaneously controlling for the other associations in the model. In this

study, no latent variables were used, thus the sample size requirements for latent variable SEM do not apply (Cook & Kenny, 2005; Kenny et al., 2006).

Model Analyses Procedures

This study analyzed APIM models predicting both male and female partner attitudes toward CRE in two general sets of analyses; predicting self-reported partner attitudes toward CRE, and predicting observer-rated partner attitudes toward CRE. Actor and partner effects (for male and female partners) were assessed from each partner's measures of stress, negative affect, relationship quality, and psychological aggression to the criterion variables of male and female attitude toward CRE (in separate analysis for self-reported attitudes and observer-rated attitudes).

Due to the highly exploratory nature of this study, each predictor (global stress, negative affect, relationship satisfaction, and psychological aggression) were first each tested in individual APIM analyses without controlling for the other variables following APIM procedures (Kenny et al., 2006) as predictors of attitudes toward CRE. This analysis was conducted separately for the self-reported and observer-rated dependant variables. All main effects were tested using the conventional probability level of p < .05. Yet, considering the exploratory nature of the study, and difficulty in detecting interaction effects in field data with small sample sizes, a more liberal probability value was set at p < .10 for testing moderating effects (gender, male and female income, male and female education, relationship status) and differences in actor and partner paths (Bernard, 2000; Henkel, 1976; McClelland & Judd, 1993; Warner, 2008).

Additionally, a challenge of exploratory research is to effectively balance study parameters so as to avoid committing both Type I and Type II errors. Yet, perhaps more relevant to the exploratory design is to avoid the probability of committing Type II error in order to more efficiently detect effects when they are present. One method in which to do this is to raise the alpha level. Thus, through raising the alpha level to .10 to test for interaction effects and differences in actor and partner paths, the probability of committing type II error is reduced, and more adequate hypotheses can be derived for future research testing in this area (Jaeger & Halliday, 1998; Siegal & Castellan, 1988). Trends toward significance in moderating effects were reported up to the p < .12 level so as to gain a more thorough estimate of effects through which to conduct future hypothesis testing in future analysis without greatly over-extending the more liberal p < .10 alpha value set in detecting moderating effects, and increasing the likelihood of results due to error or chance alone.

First, tests were conducted for each individual predictor (stress, negative affect, psychological aggression, and relationship quality) APIM across gender related to the model background parameters of exogenous variable mean, exogenous variance, residual variance, and intercept differences. This initial step is beneficial in two ways: 1. By standardizing across parameters (accepting a constraint) where significant model differences are not noted in chi-square difference testing allows the researcher to achieve more parsimonious fit according to the data before assessing significance of model paths (or differences in model paths), as just identified models provide limited information regarding model detail, and 2. Testing constraints in model background parameters allows the researcher to examine differences in potentially substantive study information (e.g., mean and intercept). Following the exploratory nature of this study, these differences in the substantive nature of model background parameters may be of

particular interest as they allow for investigations of base-level differences, and help point toward information in future hypothesis testing (R. Larzelere, Personal Communication, July 3, 2010).

Model nesting assessing unconstrained models against models where these parameters were constrained was used to examine potential differences using a chi-square difference test (p < .10). Background parameter constraints were tested individually, and those parameters whose equality did not result in significant model differences were retained for further testing.

Second, with relevant constraints in place, differences in male and female actor and partner effects were also tested for each individual predictor APIM in a similar manner using the chi-square difference test (p < .10) (Kenny et al., 2006). Additionally, at this step with relevant constraints in place, main effects (actor and partner effects) were tested simultaneously for significance in each individual APIM predictor model. Significant main effect paths at the p < .05 level were retained for testing in the final model controlling for other significant predictors. Thus, the final model was created in a step-by-step, model building fashion. This step-by-step procedure was conducted separately for models assessing self-reported attitudes toward CRE and observer-rated attitudes toward CRE.

APIM analysis utilizing the SEM method is written in the form of two linear equations (in denoting the two dependant variables by gender). Y_m is the male partner's attitude toward CRE (both self-reported and observer-rated analyzed separately), and Y_f is the female partner's attitude toward CRE (both self-reported and observer-rated analyzed separately), X_m is the male relationship partner's predictor variable (stress, negative

affect, relationship quality, and psychological aggression analyzed in individual APIM analyses), and X_f is the females partner's predictor variable (stress, negative affect, relationship quality, and psychological aggression analyzed in individual APIM analyses). Thus, each linear equation contains an effect for both the actor and partner effect where *a* signifies the actor effect, *p* signifies the partner effect, and *E* signifies the disturbance or error for each equation. The general equations for the analyses conducted in the study are provided below following the method outlined by Kenney et al. (2006):

$$Y_m = a_m X_m + p_{mf} X_f + E_m,$$

$$Y_f = p_{fm} X_m + a_f X_f + E_f.$$

A general depiction of each individual predictor APIM appears below in Figure 1.

Figure 1.



Figure 1. General individual predictor (male, female) APIM tested for each variable of interest (global stress, affect, relationship quality, and psychological aggression) at each model building step.

Third, the APIM for each predictor was tested using multi-group analyses (by relationship status—unmarried vs. married; both male and female reported income—

below \$15,000 and above \$15,000; both male and female reported education—less than college degree and college degree and above) to test for differences between these groups. Tests in these multi-group analyses were conducted in each individual predictor APIM between groups related to exogenous variable mean, exogenous variance, residual variance, and intercept differences. Nested models assessing unconstrained models versus models where these parameters were constrained were used to examine potential differences between groups using a chi-square difference test (p < .10). Background parameter constraints were tested individually, and those parameters whose equality did not result in significant model differences were retained for further testing.

Following testing for differences in background parameters, differences in male and female actor and partner effects were also tested for each individual predictor APIM in the multi-group analysis to assess for differences in these paths between groups in a similar manner (p < .10) (Kenny et al., 2006). This step-by-step procedure was conducted separately for models assessing self-report attitudes toward CRE and observer-rated attitudes toward CRE. Only those results most substantive to the direction of the study are reported in the results section. However, summary tables of findings related to multigroup analyses in testing for moderator differences and differences in actor and partner paths are presented in Appendix D.

Fourth, final model testing (resulting from findings of individual predictor APIM analyses) was first conducted separately predicting either self-reported attitudes toward CRE or observed ratings of attitudes toward CRE. Main effects that were significant (p < .05) in models testing individual predictors in APIM analysis were assessed simultaneously in final models separately for self-reported and observer rated attitudes

toward CRE. Those main effects maintaining significance at this step were then combined into one final APIM testing main effect significance assessing for associations between predictors and both self-reported and observer-rated attitudes toward CRE in the same model.

Sixth, and finally, in the final exploratory step, to gain a general view of sample characteristics, the data were analyzed pooling relationship partner data in multiple regression to assess overall differences in study participants in attitudes toward CRE by gender, income, education, relationship status, gender x income, gender x relationship status, relationship status x gender, relationship status x income, education x gender, education x income, and education x relationship status. These regressions were conducted separately for self-reported attitudes and observer-rated attitudes toward CRE. Summary tables of the results of these sets of multiple regressions are provided in Appendix E.

Power Analyses

Power analysis allows for an assessment, according to study parameters, to determine if the null hypothesis will be rejected, when, in fact, it is false; the probability of detecting a significant effect. Power is directly related to Type II error, or β , and is represented as 1- β , or the probability of not rejecting the null hypothesis when it is false. Statistical power is determined by the effect size, sample size, and significance level (α level) (Cohen 1988, 1992).

Kenny et al . (2006) explain that in order for power to be estimated in APIM analysis adjustments are needed for the level of multicollinearity in the predictor variables, the correlation between the outcome variables, and the level of nonindepedence

in the data. The estimated effect size is also adjusted by the level of multicollinearity. These adjustments are made based upon the correlations between actor and partner predictor variables (in this case male and female partners), and the correlation between the outcome variables (male and female dependant variables). Kenny et al. (2006) outline a formula from which to make adjustments for both multicollinearity and nonindependence in the data. This formula is represented by:

$$\sqrt{\left[\frac{1-r_x^2}{2}\right]}\sqrt{\left[\frac{(r_x+1)^2}{(1+r_y)} \pm \frac{(1-r_x)^2}{(1-r_y)}\right]}$$

Where r_x is the correlation between the predictor variables, and r_y is the correlation between the outcome variables.

Also, Kenny et al (2006) indicate that the sample size also needs to be corrected by the degree of nonindependence in the data. The formula for adjusting the sample size for nonindependence according to Kenny et al. (2006) is $2n/(1 + r_x^2)$, where n = the number of dyads, and $r_x^2 =$ the correlation between predictor variables. This adjusted sample size is then used in power computation.

Cohen (1988; 1992) suggested "benchmarks" for effect sizes from which to detect significance. Cohen proposed benchmarks related to the effect size r, or the Pearson correlation, as .10 is a small effect, .30 is a medium effect, and .50 is a large effect. The sensitivity of the test to detect a medium sized effect (.30) was utilized as the adjustable effect size in this analysis. Thus, as described by Kenney et al. (2006) .30 was selected as

the effect size to be adjusted by the level of nonindependence and multicollinearity in the data to assess power.

Power above .80 is referred to as strong (Cohen, 1988). Thus, following the above outlined formula and example provided by Kenny et al. (2006, p. 180), adjustments were made for multicollinearity, nonindependence, and sample size related to the data, effect size, and sample size for this study. Results of this power analysis according to the individual APIM and dependant variable assessed (self-reported or observer-rated) are presented below in Table 3.

Table 3.

That yses I ower Computations Rajusted for Th In							
APIM Variable Assessed	Power for Self-Reported	Power for Observer-Rated					
	Attitude Toward CRE	Attitude Toward CRE					
	APIM Analysis	APIM Analysis					
Global Stress	.981	.974					
Negative Affect	.984	.984					
Relationship Quality	.953	.924					
Psychological Aggression	.966	.950					

Analyses Power Computations Adjusted for APIM

Table 3. Power computations presented separately by APIM analysis with corresponding dependent variable pair.

CHAPTER IV

FINDINGS

Descriptive Statistic Results

Independent variable means, standard deviations, standard error of the mean, skewness,

kurtosis, and relevant standard errors are displayed below in Table 4

Table 4.

Variable	Mean	Std. Deviation	Std. Error of Mean	Skewness	Std. Error of Skewness	Kurtosis	Std. Error of Kurtosis
M Rel. Quality	50.24	6.27	.63	61	.243	.443	.481
F Rel. Quality	49.75	7.84	.788	37	.243	.406	.481
M Stress	42.6	10.59	1.08	04	.246	.376	.488
F Stress	42.33	9.13	.93	44	.245	098	.485
M Psych. Agg.	20.35	19.47	1.99	1.0	.246	.479	.488
F Psych Agg.	25.3	26	2.65	1.5	.246	2.85	.488
M Neg. Affect	1.63	1.85	.193	1.35	.251	1.79	.498
F Neg. Affect	1.91	2.69	.282	2.27	.253	6.18	.5
Male CRE Attitude	15.73	2.7	.273	271	.244	242	.483

Independent Variable means, standard deviations, skewnes, and kurtosis

Self- Report							
Female CRE Attitude Self- Report	17.05	2.5	.255	329	.245	.013	.485
Male CRE Attitude Observed	10.33	3.14	317	649	.244	015	.483
Female CRE Attitude Observed	11.31	2.89	.392	-1.15	.244	1.19	.483

Table 4. Descriptive variable information provided: mean, standard deviation, standard error of the mean, skewness, kutosis, and relevant standard error statistics.

The reader should note that both male and female partner variables for psychological aggression and negative affect exhibit marked skewness, as well as the dependent variable for the observer rated female attitudes toward CRE. However, in viewing the histogram for the observer-rated female attitude towards CRE dependent variable, the amount of skewness appears to be only moderate. Overall, truly normal distributions are rare in social science data (Micceri, 1989). The debate over "rules of thumb" regarding the skewness statistic appear to be far from over. Generally, if the skewness statistic is above 2 or -2 the distribution is said to be significantly skewed, with values above 3 or -3 showing extreme skewnesss. Others point toward more conservative levels in the skewness statistic, with values above 1 or -1 indicating the distribution is skewed (Bulmer, 1979; Miles & Shelvin, 2000; Murphy, 1982). Also, when testing marked skewness, when dividing the skewness statistic by the standard error of skewness and the result is above 2.0, the distribution is said to be skewed (De Vaus, 2002).

The decision to move forward with marked skewness in predictor variables was made due to the meaning of the scores within the distribution. For instance, a score of zero on the psychological aggression measure indicates no instances of psychological aggression over the past year as reported by the partner, and a score of zero for the negative affect variable indicates that less than one minute, or no time at all was spent in "negativity" during the conversation as reported by the partner. Thus, a fair amount of relationship partners reported limited instances of psychological aggression over the past year, and limited amounts of time spent in negativity during the conversation. Since these zero-values, or near-zero values were meaningful, analyses was carried forth. Certainly, there are drawbacks to regression analysis conducted with significantly skewed variables.

These drawbacks are also discussed in the limitations section. Histograms of all study variables are provided in Appendix F.

However, more importantly pertaining to multiple regression assumptions (APIM analyses based on multiple regression in this study), is that the residuals (predicted minus observed values) are normally distributed (Crown, 1998; Field, 2009; Pedhazur, 1997). Thus, the residuals for each multiple regression conducted in the study analyses (e.g., male self-report attitude toward CRE regressed on both male and female global stress; female self-report attitude toward CRE regressed on both male and female global stress, etc.) were plotted in graphical format using SPSS 17.0 to investigate the multiple regression assumption that the residuals are normally distributed. In viewing these graphs, there did not appear to be any major divergence from this assumption. Histograms and Q-Q plots of all of the multiple regression study analyses residuals are presented in Appendix G.

Bivariate correlations are presented below in Table 5.

Table 5.

Variable	M Rel.	F Rel.	М	F	М	F	M Neg.	F Neg.
	Quality	Quality	Stress	Stress	Psych.	Psych.	Affect	Affect
					Agg.	Agg.		
M Rel.	1							
Quality	1							
F Rel.	$.52^{**}$	1						
Quality								
Μ	31**	23*	1					
Stress								
F Stress	4**	55***	.33**	1				
Μ	3**	26*	.18	.13	1			
Psych.								
Agg.								
F Psych	36**	49**	$.27^{*}$.34**	.44**	1		
Agg.								
M Neg.	26*	18	$.26^{*}$.09	.31**	.2	1	
Affect								
F Neg	26*	29**	.29**	.38**	.11	.36**	$.25^{*}$	1
Affect								

Bivariate correlations among study independent variables

Note. *p < .05. **p < .01. ***p < .001.

Notably, the bivariate correlations presented here primarily confirm previous research in that stress, psychological aggression, and negative affect, are associated with decreased relationship quality with one exception, in that male negative affect was not significantly negatively correlated with female relationship quality. Additionally, strong positive correlations were found between female negative affect and stress in males and females, and between female negative affect and female reported psychological aggression. Male negative affect was also strongly and positively correlated with male psychological aggression. Bivariate correlations results show fair amounts of interrelation among the predictor variables.

Results of Self-Reported Attitudes Toward CRE APIM Analyses Substantive Results Relating to Testing Differences in Background Parameters

The most substantive results relating to the testing for differences in model background parameters in the different analyses revealed interesting differences in selfreported attitudes toward CRE by gender, and to some degree, relationship status. In testing differences in model background parameters in the global stress APIM analyses, results showed differences when the intercept was constrained by gender, male education level, and relationship status. For instance, when the intercept was constrained across gender in the global stress analysis, a significant difference was found ($\chi^2_D(1)$ =6.43, *p* < .01; male intercept=13.76, female intercept=18.35). This suggests that when holding constant the variables for both male and female global stress, female partners, on average, reported more positive attitudes toward CRE.

Also, in the global stress analyses, a trend toward a significant difference was noted when the intercept was constrained across male education levels ($\chi^2_D(2)=4.5$, p =.11). These results were particularly pronounced for the female partners (female intercept, male-reported no college degree group—20.41; female intercept male-reported college degree group—15.11). Interestingly, these results suggest that when controlling for both male and female global stress, females who have a male partner without a college degree reported, on average, more positive attitudes toward CRE.

Also, a significance difference was found in the global stress analyses across relationship status when the intercept was constrained ($\chi^2_D(2)=6.41$, p=.04). These differences were most pronounced in men (men unmarried intercept=11.12, men married

intercept=17.74). This result suggests that controlling for both male and female global stress, married men, on average, reported more positive attitudes toward CRE.

A similar pattern was found in the negative affect analyses. When the intercept was constrained across gender a significant difference was found ($\chi^2_D(1)=11.08$, p < .01; male intercept=15.58, female intercept 17.24). This result suggests that when controlling for both male and female negative affect, females, on average, reported more positive attitudes toward CRE.

Finally, a similar pattern was found in the psychological aggression analyses when the intercept was constrained across gender ($\chi^2_D(1)=10.75$, p < .001; male intercept=15.8, female intercept=17.73). This result suggests that when controlling for both male and female psychological aggression, females, on average, reported more positive attitudes toward CRE. A trend toward significant mean differences was also found by gender, showing a higher mean level psychological aggression reported by females ($\chi^2_D(1)=3.67$, p=.06; male psychological aggression, M=20.36, female psychological aggression, M=25.25).

Also, a significant difference was found when constraining the intercept across relationship status ($\chi^2_D(2)=5.83$, p=0.05). This difference was most pronounced in males (males unmarried intercept=15.33, males married intercept=17.44). This result suggests that when controlling for both male and female psychological aggression, married men, on average reported more positive attitudes toward CRE.

Thus, the exploration of substantive findings in background parameters showed, that controlling for independent variables in several study analyses, females reported, on average, more positive attitudes toward CRE, and unmarried men, on average, reported more negative attitudes toward CRE than the married men, unmarried women, and married women.

All significant differences in background parameters are not reported in this results section. The reader is directed to the tables in Appendix D that show all differences in background parameters by the specific predictor variable and dependent variable analyzed. The path results, and differences in actor and partner paths in the self-reported attitude toward CRE analyses are reported below by hypothesis. Only significant path statistics are reported in this section. The reader is directed to Table 6 for an overall depiction of significant and non-significant paths for study findings related to the self-reported attitude toward CRE APIM analyses.

Results for Hypothesis 1: Greater levels of stress will be associated with more negative attitudes toward CRE. 1a. Relationship partners in the lower income group will report greater levels of stress associating with more negative attitudes toward CRE. 1b. Greater levels of stress will be more pronounced in male relationship partners associating with greater negative attitudes toward CRE.

The results for hypothesis one were primarily not supported. When tested simultaneous in APIM analysis, the paths from male and female global stress to male and female self-report attitude toward CRE were not significant at the p < .05 level. Also, no significant differences were noted when testing moderation by either male or female reported income.

Additionally, no significant differences were noted between the actor effects across global stress analyses. Male effects were no stronger than female effects, and vice versa. However, an interesting pattern in partner path differences was found in global
stress analyses investigating gender differences. When constraining the partner paths to be equal across gender a significant difference was noted ($\chi^2_D(1)=3.62, p=.06$). In viewing the results, the path from male stress \blacktriangleright female self-reported attitude toward CRE was negative, and the path for female stress \blacktriangleright male self-reported attitude toward CRE was positive. Yet, neither of these paths was significant at the p < .05 level individually. These results suggest that perhaps for female partners, more stress in male partners may be transmitted as more resistance, or more difficulty when addressing the relationship, thus dampening attitudes toward CRE in female partners, and for male partners, more distress and stress detected in their female partners may be associated with more positive attitudes toward CRE.

Results for Hypothesis 2: Greater levels of reported negative affect will be associated with more negative attitudes toward CRE. 2a. Relationship partners in the lower income group will report greater levels of negative affect associating with more negative attitudes toward CRE. 2b. Greater levels of negative affect will be more pronounced in male relationship partners associating with greater negative attitudes toward CRE.

The results for hypothesis two were primarily not supported. When testing the paths from male and female negative affect to male and female self-reported attitudes toward CRE, these paths did not reach significance at the p < .05 level. In terms of differences by income, no significant differences were noted in the actor effects, but a trend toward significance was noted by male-reported education ($\chi^2_D(3)=5.69$, p=0.12).

Results showed that the partner paths were in opposite directions, where the female negative affect \blacktriangleright male self-reported attitude toward CRE was positive, and male negative affect \blacktriangleright female self-reported attitude toward CRE was negative. Interestingly,

these results were more pronounced in the higher male-reported income group where the path for female negative affect \blacktriangleright male attitude toward CRE reached significance (β =.26, p=.05)

These results suggest for those in the male-reported higher income group, greater female negative affect is significantly associated with more positive attitudes toward CRE in males, and greater reported male negative affect, to a lesser degree, is associated with more negative attitudes toward CRE in females. Perhaps males in the higher reported income group see CRE services as a potential opportunity for their female partners to improve personal characteristics such as in their affect, tone, and demeanor, thus, holding more positive attitudes as females report more negative affect as male partners see this could improve the relationship. Additionally, perhaps females see negative affect in their male partners as a sign of increased difficulty and challenge regarding relationship issues and topics, or relationship help services. Thus, in light of all the trouble that might result in discussing such topics, a dampening of female partner attitudes towards CRE may result.

Also, when assessing differences in the magnitude of actor effects (e.g., male negative affect \blacktriangleright male attitude toward CRE), no significant differences were noted in these paths by gender. Yet, a significant difference was noted in the partner paths (χ^2_D (1)= 4.15, *p* =.05). Results showed that the partner paths were in opposite directions, where the male negative affect \blacktriangleright female self-reported attitude toward CRE was negative, and female negative affect \blacktriangleright male self-reported attitude was positive. However, these partner paths did not reach significance individually at the *p* < .05 level.

Results for Hypothesis 3:Greater levels of psychological aggression will be associated with more negative attitudes toward CRE. 3a. Relationship partners in the lower income bracket will report greater levels of psychological aggression associating with more negative attitudes toward CRE. 3b. Male partners will report more displays of psychological aggression associating with more negative attitudes toward CRE.

The results for hypothesis three were partially supported. When testing the APIM paths of male and female psychological aggression to male and female self-report attitude toward CRE, the actor effects (e.g., male psychological aggression \blacktriangleright male attitude toward CRE) were not significant, however, the partner path from male self-reported psychological aggression to female self-reported attitude toward CRE was negative and significant (β = -.31, p< .01). This path was retained for testing in the final model.

These results suggest that males who display more psychological aggression may have female partners who maintain more negative attitudes toward CRE. This may be that females may see attending CRE programming as environments that might incite or exacerbate psychologically aggressive behaviors in their partner, dampening the view of such services in female relationship partners.

When investigating differences by male and female-reported income level, results showed no difference in actor paths, however a trend towards a significant difference was found at the p < .10 level for the partner paths when these paths were constrained across male-reported income groups only ($\chi^2_D(3)=6.1$, p=.11). Interestingly, and contrary to the study hypothesis, these results were particularly pronounced in the higher male-reported income group. Results showed that the partner path for male reported psychological

aggression \blacktriangleright female self-reported attitude toward CRE was significant and negative (β = -.40, p < .01) for the male-reported higher income group.

However, in viewing the results, the path for male reported psychological aggression \blacktriangleright female self-reported attitude toward CRE was also significant in the male reported lower income group (β = -.27, p=.05). These results suggest that greater reported male psychological aggression is significantly associated with more negative attitudes toward CRE in females in both the male-reported lower and higher income groups. These partner effects indicate that perhaps female partners see CRE as an activity that potentially could exacerbate psychological aggressive behavior in their partner, thus dampening their view of such services.

Results for Hypothesis 4: Greater levels of relationship quality will be associated with more negative attitudes toward CRE.

Results for hypothesis four were not supported. Results across the APIM analyses showed no support for the association between relationship quality and attitudes toward CRE. These associations did not significantly differ by gender, male and female-reported income, male and female-reported education, or relationship status.

Results for Hypothesis 5. Unmarried couples will report more negative attitudes toward CRE than married couples. This negative relationship will be particularly pronounced for males.

The results for hypothesis five were partially supported. As noted, when constraining the intercept in both the global stress and psychological aggression APIM analyses differences were noted in relationship status. In particular, when controlling for the independent variables in the particular model (i.e., male and female global stress or male and female psychological aggression), on average, unmarried men reported more negative attitudes toward CRE.

As far as differences in model paths by relationship status, these were only noted in the global stress APIM analysis. No differences were found in testing the equality of actor paths, but a trend towards a significant difference was found at the p < .10 level for the partner paths when these paths were constrained across relationship status (χ^2_D (3)=6.0, p=.10). Results showed that the partner path for male stress \blacktriangleright female attitude toward CRE) was significant (β = -.26, p=.04) for the unmarried group. Interestingly, results showed the partner paths in the unmarried group to be in opposite directions, where the path for female stress \blacktriangleright male self-reported attitude toward CRE was positive, and the path for male stress \blacktriangleright female self-reported attitude toward CRE was negative.

These paths were not near significant in the married group. These results suggest for unmarried partners, greater female stress is marginally associated with more positive attitudes toward CRE in males, and greater reported male stress is significantly associated with more negative attitudes toward CRE in females. For unmarried males, although maintaining overall more negative attitudes towards CRE than unmarried females, this becomes slightly less negative as female partners experience more stress. Perhaps males see CRE as an opportunity for their female partners to receive help for their own personal struggles, and this help could benefit the relationship overall. For females, perhaps more stress in male partners takes the form of more resistance and difficulty regarding relationship-related topics, thus dampening attitudes toward CRE services from the female viewpoint.

Results for Hypothesis 6. Relationship partners in the lower education group will primarily have more negative attitudes toward CRE.

The results for hypothesis six were partially supported. However, as previously noted, in the global stress APIM analysis constraining the intercept across male-reported education level resulted in a significant difference, showing that when controlling for male and female global stress, on average, females whose male partner had less than a college degree reported more positive attitudes toward CRE than females whose male partner did have a college degree.

In terms of path differences by education level, differences were noted in both the global stress and negative affect APIM analyses. In the global stress analyses by male-reported education no differences were not noted in the actor paths, but a significant difference was noted in partner paths between the male-reported education groups (χ^2_D (3)=7.89, p = .05). These results were particularly pronounced in the male reported no college degree group, where the partner paths were in opposite directions, and the path for male stress \blacktriangleright female attitude toward CRE was significant ($\beta = -.34$, p < .01).

These findings suggest that for relationship partners where the male reported no college degree, greater female stress was marginally associated with more positive attitudes toward CRE in male partners, and more male stress was significantly associated with more negative attitudes toward CRE in female partners. Males in the less than college degree group may see CRE as a means through which their female partners can manage individual difficulties better (e.g., stress, frustration) and therefore, improve the relationship, therefore bolstering their view of CRE services. Females with male partners reporting less than a college degree may see heightened stress in their male partner

vented through negativity that may be exacerbated when discussing the relationship or changing the relationship through CRE services, thus dampening female partner attitudes toward CRE.

In the negative affect APIM analyses by male-reported education significant differences were also noted. A trend toward a significant difference was found (p < .10) for actor paths ($\chi^2_D(3)=7.1$, p = .07) across both male-reported education levels. These results were more pronounced in the male reported no college degree group, showing the actor effect for male negative affect \blacktriangleright male attitude toward CRE to be significant (β = -.25, p < .05).

These results suggest that for relationship partners in which the male reports an education level less than a college degree, and particularly for males, reported negative affect is associated with more negative attitudes toward CRE. It may be for this group that, for males, more pronounced negativity dampens the benefits of, or overshadows the potential positive side of attending CRE. This negativity may be related to reduced opportunities, or other environmental stressors that often characterize those with limited education.

Also in the negative affect analyses, a trend towards a significant difference was noted in the partner paths across male-reported education levels ($\chi^2_D(3)=7.1, p = .07$). These results were more pronounced in the male-reported no college degree group, where the partner path for male negative affect \blacktriangleright female self-report attitude toward CRE was significant (β = -.28, p < .05). The partner paths were also noted to be in opposite directions where the path for female reported negative affect \blacktriangleright male attitude self-

reported attitude toward CRE was positive, and the path for male reported negative affectfemale attitude toward CRE was negative.

These findings suggest that for the group in which the male partner reported less than a college degree, more reported negative affect in females was marginally associated with more positive attitudes toward CRE, and more reported negative affect in males was significantly associated with more negative attitudes toward CRE in females. Perhaps in the lower education group males see CRE as an opportunity for their female partners to improve their attitude and demeanor, strengthening the relationship, and improving attitudes of such programs. Yet, more pronounced, perhaps females in this group see heightened negative affect in male partners as a sign that this negativity would only be furthered and prolonged when focusing on the relationship and relationship improvement in CRE-type programming, thus dampening their attitude of such programs.

Table 6.

APIM Analysis	Path			
	Actor (M \blacktriangleright M)	Actor ($F \triangleright F$)	Partner (M►F)	Partner (F►M)
Stress	i			
Main Effects	-	-	-	-
By Male Income				
Higher	-	-	-	-
Lower	-	-	-	-
By Female Income				
Higher	-	-	-	-
Lower	-	-	-	-
By Male Education				
College Degree	-	-	-	-
No College Degree	-	-	$\beta =34 * *$	-
By Female Education			•	
College Degree	-	-	-	-
No College Degree	-	-	-	-
By Relationship Status				
Married	-	-	β =26*	-
Unmarried	-	-	-	-
legative Affect				
Main Effects	-	-	-	-
By Male Income	-	-		
Higher	-	-	-	$\beta = .26*$
Lower	-	-	-	, _
By Female Income				
Higher	-	-	-	-
Lower	-	-	-	-
By Male Education				
College Degree	-	-	-	-
No College Degree	β =25*		β =28*	
By Female Education	,		1	
College Degree	-	-	-	-
No College Degree	-	-	-	-
By Relationship Status			-	
Unmarried	_	-	_	-

Married	_	_	-	-
Relationship Ouality				
-Main Effects	-	-	-	-
-By Male Income				
Higher	-	-	-	-
Lower	-	-	-	-
-By Female Income				
Higher	-	-	-	-
Lower	_	-	-	-
-By Male Education				
College Degree	-	-	-	-
No College Degree	-	-	-	-
-By Female Education				
College Degree	-	-	-	-
No College Degree	-	-	-	-
-By Relationship Status				
Married	-	-	-	-
Unmarried	-	-	-	-
Psychological Aggression				
-Main Effects	-	-	$\beta =31^{**}$	-
-By Male Income				
Higher	-	-	eta=40**	-
Lower	-	-	$\beta =27*$	-
-By Female Income			,	
Higher	-	-	-	-
Lower	-	-	-	-
-By Male Education				
College Degree	-	-	-	-
No College Degree	-	-	-	-
-By Female Education				
College Degree	-	-	-	-
No College Degree	-	-	-	-
-By Relationship Status				
Married	-	-	-	-
Unmarried	-	-	-	-

Table 6. Overall path results for self-reported attitudes toward CRE analyses. *Note*. *p < .05, **p < .01, ***p < .001.

Final Model Testing: Self-Reported Attitudes Toward CRE

Reviewing the findings of the analyses conducted in the individual predictor APIM analyses (not controlling for other study predictors), the only significant path (p < .05) that was found was in the psychological aggression model predicting female attitude toward CRE from male psychological aggression (β = -.31, p< .01). Thus, this predictor emerged as the strongest path out of all model testing in predicting self-reported attitudes toward CRE. The amount of variance explained in the female attitude toward CRE dependant variable was approximately 8%, but this amount was not significant (R^2 =.08, p= .13). The amount of variance explained in the male attitude toward CRE dependant variable was 1%, and this amount was not significant (R^2 = .01, p= .62). These results were found including all paths in the psychological aggression APIM, but controlling for relevant background parameter constraints (as described before). Overall, model fit was acceptable ($\chi^2(1)$ =1.35, p= .25; CFI=.96; RMSEA=.06; SRMR=.14) (Hu & Bentler, 1999; Keiley, Dankoski, Dolbin-MacNab, & Liu, 2005).

Figure 2.



Figure 2. Results of the final tested model based on prior exploratory APIM with the self-reported attitude toward CRE dependant variables. Nonsignificant paths represented by a dashed line. Note. Standardized coefficients reported: * p < .05, ** p < .01, *** p < .001.

Results for Hypothesis 7. When assessing pooled partner data, overall differences will be found in participant attitudes toward CRE by gender, income, and education.

The results for hypothesis seven were partially supported. Some model findings did show differences by gender in that females reported more positive attitudes toward CRE, and those in the higher education group reported more positive attitudes. However, income nor the different interactions were not significant in any of the models analyzed. These findings are reported below, and an overall table of results is presented in Appendix E.

Pooled Data Regression Analyses: Self-Report Attitudes Toward CRE

In the final exploratory analysis step the dyadic data was pooled between partners in multiple regression procedures to assess for overall differences in attitudes toward CRE by gender, income, relationship status, education, and interactions among gender and income, gender and relationship status, relationship status and income, education and gender, education and relationship status, and education and income. The results presented here were found conducting the multiple regressions using the pooled male and female self-reported attitudes toward CRE as the dependant variable.

In the first model, the self-reported attitude toward CRE variable was regressed simultaneously on gender (0=male, 1=female), income (0=low, 1=high), and the multiplicative gender x income. The full model R^2 was significantly greater than zero $(R^2=.06, p= < .01)$, however, only the variable for gender reached significance individually (β =.23, p= .02). These results suggest than females, overall held more positive attitudes toward CRE, but income was not significantly related, nor did income interact with gender to influence participant attitudes toward CRE.

In the second model, the self-reported attitude toward CRE variable was regressed simultaneously on gender (0=male, 1=female), relationships status (0=unmarried, 1=married), and the multiplicative gender x relationship status. The full model R^2 was significantly greater than zero (R^2 =.07, p= < .01), however, only the variable for gender reached significance individually (β =.30, p < .001). These results suggest that females overall held more positive attitudes toward CRE, but relationship status was not significantly related, nor did gender interact with relationship status to influence participant attitudes toward CRE in this sample.

In the third model, the self-reported attitude toward CRE variable was regressed simultaneously on relationships status (0=unmarried, 1=married), income (0=low, 1=high), and the multiplicative relationship status x income. The full model R^2 was not

significantly greater than zero (R^2 =.01, p= .83), and none of the variables entered reached significance individually. These results suggest that relationship status, income, nor the interaction of relationship status with income were significantly associated with attitudes toward CRE in this analysis.

In the fourth model, the self-reported attitude toward CRE variable was regressed simultaneously on education (0=less than college degree, 1=college degree), income (0=low, 1=high), and the multiplicative education x income. The full model R^2 was not significantly greater than zero (R^2 =.01, p= .19), and only the education variable reached significance individually (β = .28, p = .05). These results suggest that those with a college degree have significantly more positive attitudes toward CRE, yet neither income, nor the interaction of education and income status significantly associated with attitudes toward CRE in this sample.

In the fifth model, the self-reported attitude toward CRE variable was regressed simultaneously on education (0=less than college degree, 1=college degree), relationship status (0=unmarried, 1=married), and the multiplicative education x relationship status. The full model R^2 was not significantly greater than zero (R^2 =.02, p= .23), and only the education variable trended toward significance individually (β = .21, p = .06). These results suggest that those with a college degree have marginally more positive attitudes toward CRE, yet neither relationship status, nor the interaction of education and relationship status significantly associated with attitudes toward CRE in this sample.

In the sixth model, the self-reported attitude toward CRE variable was regressed simultaneously on education (0=less than college degree, 1=college degree), gender (0=male, 1=female), and the multiplicative education x gender. The full model R^2 was

significantly greater than zero (R^2 =.07, p < .001), and the education variable trended toward significance (β = .18, p = .08), while the gender variable reached significance (β = .30, p < .001). These results suggest that those with a college degree have marginally more positive attitudes toward CRE, and females have significantly more positive attitudes toward CRE, yet the interaction of education x gender was not significant.

Results of Observer-Rated Attitudes Toward CRE APIM Analyses Substantive Results Relating to Testing Differences in Background Parameters

The most substantive results relating to the testing for differences in model background parameters in the different analyses revealed interesting differences in observer-rated attitude toward CRE by gender, male-reported income, and relationship status. The substantive nature of testing constraints in background parameters emerged primarily in the psychological aggression APIM testing.

For instance, in the psychological aggression APIM analysis in examining gender differences, a significant difference was noted in constraining the exogenous means across gender ($\chi^2_D(1)=3.67$, p=.05). Results showed females as reporting a higher degree of psychological aggression (male psychological aggression, M=20.30, female psychological aggression, M=25.40).

Also, in psychological aggression APIM analyses by male-reported income, a trend toward a significance was noted when constraining the residual variance across both income groups ($\chi^2_D(2)=5.78$, p=0.06). Interestingly, results showed that male and female reported psychological aggression accounted for 26% ($R^2=.26$) of the variance in the observer-rated male attitude toward CRE in the higher male-reported income group.

This value was significant at the p < .01 level. These results suggest that psychological aggression may play more of a role in shaping male attitudes toward CRE for those reporting and income of more than \$15,000 annually.

Additionally, in psychological aggression APIM analyses by relationship status, a trend toward a significant difference was noted when constraining the residual variance across married and unmarried partners ($\chi^2_D(2)=4.54$, p=.10). Results showed that male and female reported psychological aggression accounted for 13% ($R^2=.13$) of the variance in the observer-rated male attitude toward CRE for married males. This amount of variance accounted for points toward psychological aggression as a potential shaping mechanism of attitudes toward CRE in married men. However, although male and female psychological aggression accounted for 13% of the variance in married males' attitude toward CRE, this value was not significant at the p < .05 level.

Thus, the exploration of substantive findings in background parameters pointed toward an association between male and female psychological aggression particularly for men in the higher male-reported income group, and for married men. As noted previously, all significant differences in background parameters are not reported in this section. The reader is directed to the tables in Appendix D that show all differences in background parameters by the specific predictor variable and dependent variable analyzed. The path results, and differences in actor and partner paths in the ovserverrated attitude toward CRE analyses are reported below by hypothesis. Only significant paths are reported in this section. The reader is directed to Table 7 for a more overall picture of significant and non-significant paths related to the observer-rated attitude toward CRE analyses.

Results for Hypothesis 1. Greater levels of stress will be associated with more negative attitudes toward CRE. 1a. Relationship partners in the lower income group will report greater levels of stress associating with more negative attitudes toward CRE. 1b. Greater levels of stress will be more pronounced in male relationship partners associating with greater negative attitudes toward CRE.

The results for hypothesis one were not supported. Associations between male and female global stress and male and female observer-rated attitudes toward CRE were not significant at the p < .05 level. These associations were not noted to differ by either male or female-reported income group. No differences were noted in the magnitude of actor and partner effects by gender or income.

Results for Hypothesis 2. Greater levels of reported negative affect will be associated with more negative attitudes toward CRE. 2a. Relationship partners in the lower income group will report greater levels of negative affect associating with more negative attitudes toward CRE. 2b. Greater levels of negative affect will be more pronounced in male relationship partners associating with greater negative attitudes toward CRE.

The results for hypothesis two were not supported. Associations between male and female negative affect and male and female observer-rated attitudes toward CRE were not significant at the p < .05 level. These associations were not noted to differ by either male or female-reported income group. No differences were noted between the magnitude of actor and partner effects by gender or income.

Results for Hypothesis 3. Greater levels of psychological aggression will be associated with more negative attitudes toward CRE. 3a. Relationship partners in the lower income bracket will report greater levels of psychological aggression associating with more negative attitudes toward CRE. 3b. Male partners will report more displays of psychological aggression associating with more negative attitudes toward CRE.

The results for hypothesis three were partially supported. Results showed that psychological aggression model actor effects were not significant (e.g., male psychological aggression \blacktriangleright male observer-rated attitude toward CRE). There was also no noted difference in the magnitude of the actor effect by gender. However, a significant partner effect was noted from female reported psychological aggression to male observer-rated attitude toward CRE (β = -.31, p= .01). This path was retained for testing in the final model. These results suggest that females who report more psychological aggression may have male partners who maintain more negative attitudes toward CRE. This may be that males may see attending CRE programming as environments that might incite or exacerbate psychologically aggressive or blaming behaviors in their partner, dampening the view of such services in male relationship partners.

Differences were also noted in psychological aggression APIM analyses by both male and female-reported income group. In the analysis by male-reported income, a significant difference was noted in actor effects across income group $(\chi^2_D(3)=8.13, p=.04)$. Results showed that both the male actor effects (male psychological aggression \blacktriangleright male attitude toward CRE) were significant in both male-reported income groups, but in opposite directions (male-reported lower income group, $\beta = -.28$, p < .05; male-reported higher income group, $\beta = .26$, p < .05).

These findings suggest that male relationship partners in the two different income groups experience differences in the way that reported psychological aggression is associated with their own attitudes toward CRE. For male relationship partners in the lower male-reported income group, perhaps increased resistance is present in that CRE is seen as an activity through which they would be required to change, or be instructed to change their behavior and way of interacting with their partner, dampening their view of such programming. For male relationship partners in the higher male-reported income group, perhaps less resistance may be present, and they may see CRE as an opportunity to learn new skills and new ways to interact with their partner to improve their relationship.

A significant difference was also noted in the partner paths by male-reported income ($\chi^2_D(3)=12.3, p < .01$). These results were more pronounced in the higher malereported income group, with the path from female psychological aggression to male observer-rated attitude toward CRE reaching significance (β = -.56, p < .001). Results showed these partner paths to be in opposite directions, where the path for female reported psychological aggression \blacktriangleright male observer-rated attitude toward CRE was negative, and the path for male reported psychological aggression \blacktriangleright female attitude toward CRE was positive.

These findings suggest that for male partners in the higher male-reported income group, increases in psychological aggression in their female partners were associated with more negative attitudes toward CRE. Perhaps, males in this group see CRE as an avenue through which to incite, sustain, and exacerbate bouts of psychological aggression in their female partners. Male relationship partners in this group may also see CRE material as an

opportunity for their female partners to "point the finger" and place blame for relationship issues on them.

In regards to female-reported income, no differences were noted in actor paths across the female-reported income groups. However, a trend towards a significant difference was found when the partner paths were constrained to be equal across female-reported income groups ($\chi^2_D(3)$ =6.46, *p*=0.09). Particularly, results showed that in the female-reported higher income group, the partner effect of female psychological aggression to male attitude toward CRE was significant (β = -.32, *p* < .05).

These results suggest that for males with female relationship partners reporting an income over \$15,000, increases in their female partner's psychological aggression is associated with more negative attitudes toward CRE. Similar to other results, male relationship partners in the female-reported higher income group may see CRE services and activities through which to create and exacerbate issues related to psychological aggression in their female partners.

Results for Hypothesis 4. Greater levels of relationship quality will be associated with more negative attitudes toward CRE.

Results for hypothesis four were partially supported. Differences in relationship quality associations with attitudes toward CRE were primarily found by male-reported income. A significant difference was found in the actor paths across male-reported income groups ($\chi^2_D(3)=7.87$, p < .05). Results showed that for the male-reported lower income group the path between male relationship quality and male attitude towards CRE was significant ($\beta=.32$, p < .05). These results suggest that for male relationship partners reporting and income of \$15,000 or less, increases in relationship quality are associated

with more positive attitudes toward CRE. Perhaps male relationship partners in this group see their relationship as something that can be improved upon, and see CRE as a means through which to sustain, enhance, progress the relationship quality they are currently experiencing.

Also, a trend toward a significant difference was noted in the partner paths by male-reported income ($\chi^2_D(3)=7.26$, p=.06). These results were more pronounced in the male-reported lower income group. Results showed that the partner path for female relationship quality \blacktriangleright male observer-rated attitude toward CRE was negative, and the path for male relationship quality \blacktriangleright female observer-rated attitude toward CRE was also negative for the male-reported lower income group. However, neither of these partner paths reached significance at the p < .05 level individually. Yet, interestingly, both of these paths are negative indicating more relationship quality is marginally associated with more negative attitudes toward CRE in the male-reported lower income group.

Perhaps males reporting an income less than \$15,000 experience more pleasant effects (e.g., increased cohesion, communication, sexual satisfaction) as their female partners are more satisfied with the relationship, thus seeing less of a need to attend CRE services or other couples-related services. However, interestingly, as reported previously, a positive actor path was found between relationship quality and attitude toward CRE for men in the lower-income group when assessing actor path differences. Perhaps, for men, differences in their own versus their partner's assessment of the quality of the relationship play an important role in determining attitudes toward CRE between the two male-reported income levels.

Results for Hypothesis 5. Unmarried couples will report more negative attitudes toward CRE than married couples. This negative relationship will be particularly pronounced for males.

Results for hypothesis five were primarily unsupported. Differences in observerrated attitudes toward CRE by relationship status were primarily noted in the global stress APIM analyses. A trend toward a significant difference was found in testing the equality of actor paths across relationship status ($\chi^2_D(3)=6.61$, p=.09). Results showed these differences were more pronounced for married partners than unmarried partners, and in particular, married men. The path for male stress \blacktriangleright male attitude toward CRE was negative and significant ($\beta = -.43$, p < .01) in the married group.

These results suggest for married partners, and in particular married men, more stress is associated with more negative attitudes toward CRE. For married partners, and particularly men, life stressors may outweigh the benefits of attending CRE services, where CRE may be perceived as one more item with which to manage, or may been seen as an additional source of stress in terms of having to take additional time to focus on the relationship.

Results for Hypothesis 6. Relationship partners in the lower education group will primarily have more negative attitudes toward CRE.

Results for hypothesis six were primarily unsupported. In fact, some results were contrary to those hypothesized in that stronger effects were found for higher education groups. Differences in the observer-rated attitudes toward CRE by male and femalereported education were primarily found in the psychological aggression APIM analyses. A trend toward a significant difference was found in the partner paths between psychological aggression and attitudes toward CRE by male-reported education (χ^2_D (3)=6.74, *p*=0.08). Results showed that for the male-reported no college degree group, associations between female psychological aggression and male attitude towards CRE, and male reported psychological aggression and female attitude toward CRE to be somewhat stronger than the corresponding paths in the male-reported college degree group. Yet, none of these paths were significant individually, thus presenting limitations in interpretability.

Also, a trend toward a significant difference was found in the actor effect associations of psychological aggression with observer-rated attitudes toward CRE by female-reported education ($\chi^2_D(3)=7.41$, p=0.06). Results showed that the two actor paths (male psychological aggression \blacktriangleright male attitude toward CRE, female psychological aggression \blacktriangleright female attitude toward CRE) in the female-reported higher education group were both significant, but in opposite directions ($\beta = .32$, p < .05; $\beta = -.30$, p < .05). These results suggest that in the female-reported higher education group increases in selfreported psychological aggression were associated with more positive attitudes toward CRE in males, and more negative attitudes in females. Perhaps males who have relationship partners who have a college degree see CRE as a means through which to learn new skills to manage their aggression and frustration, and perhaps match the skills of their educated partners, thus improving their view of CRE. Perhaps females who have a college degree feel more comfortable with their level of knowledge and skill-level to manage challenges, and see less of a need for CRE services.

Additionally, a significant difference was found when constraining the partner paths to be equal between the two female-reported education levels ($\chi^2_D(3)=9.7, p < .05$). Results showed that for the female-reported higher education group the two partner paths (female psychological aggression \blacktriangleright male attitude toward CRE, male psychological aggression \blacktriangleright female attitude toward CRE) were significant, but in opposite directions ($\beta = -.50, p < .0001; \beta = .32, p < .05$). These findings suggest that for those in the femalereported higher education group increases in female psychological aggression are significantly associated with more negative attitudes toward CRE in male partners, and increases in male psychological aggression are associated with more positive attitudes toward CRE in females.

Perhaps these differences may be due to the differing purposes and goals that men and women see and have for CRE services. Perhaps male relationship partners in this group see CRE programs as inciting psychological aggression in their female partners; bringing up topics that potentially are sensitive, thus dampening attitudes toward CRE in males. Yet, women in this group may see CRE as an opportunity for their male partners to learn new skills to better manage their communication style and frustration to improve the overall relationship, thus boosting attitudes toward CRE in female partners.

Table 7.

APIM Analysis	Path			
	Actor (M \triangleright M)	Actor ($F \triangleright F$)	Partner (M ► F)	Partner (F►M)
Stress				
-Main Effects	-	-	-	-
-By Male Income				
Higher	-	-	-	-
Lower	-	-	-	
-By Female Income				
Higher	-	-	-	-
Lower	-	-	-	
-By Male Education				
College Degree	-	-	-	-
No College Degree	-	-	-	
-By Female Education				
College Degree	-	-	-	-
No College Degree	-	-	-	-
-By Relationship Status				
Married	eta =43**	-	-	-
Unmarried	, _	-	-	-
Negative Affect				
-Main Effects	-	-	-	-
-By Male Income				
Higher	-	-	-	-
Lower	-	-	-	-
-By Female Income				
Higher	-	-	-	-
Lower	-	-	-	-
-By Male Education				
College Degree	-	-	-	-
No College Degree	-	-	-	-
-By Female Education				
College Degree	-	-	-	-
No College Degree	-	-	-	-
-By Relationship Status				
Unmarried 1	-	-	-	-

Married	-	-	-	-
Relationship Quality				
-Main Effects	-	-	-	-
-By Male Income				
Higher	-	-	-	-
Lower	$\beta = .32$	-	-	-
-By Female Income				
Higher	-	-	-	-
Lower	-	-	-	-
-By Male Education				
College Degree	-	-	-	-
No College Degree	-	-	-	-
-By Female Education				
College Degree	-	-	-	-
No College Degree	-	-	-	-
-By Relationship Status				
Married	-	-	-	-
Unmarried	-	-	-	-
Psychological Aggression				
-Main Effects	-	-	-	$\beta =31^{**}$
-By Male Income				
Higher	eta= .26*	-	-	β =56***
Lower	eta=28*	-	-	
-By Female Income				
Higher	-	-	β =32**	-
Lower	-	-	-	-
-By Male Education				
College Degree	-	-	-	-
No College Degree	-	-	-	-
-By Female Education				
College Degree	$\beta = .32*$	β = 30*	β = .32*	eta=50***
No College Degree	-	-	-	-
-By Relationship Status				
Married	-	-	-	-
Unmarried	-	_	-	-

Table 7. Overall path results for observer-rated attitudes toward CRE analyses. *Note*. *p < .05. **p < .01. ***p < .001.

Final Model Testing: Observer-rated Attitudes Toward CRE

Reviewing the findings of the analyses conducted in the individual predictor APIM analyses (not controlling for other study predictors), the only significant path (p < .05) found was predicting observer-rated male attitude toward CRE from female psychological aggression ($\beta = ..31, p < .01$). Thus, this predictor emerged as the strongest path out of all model testing in predicting observer-rated attitudes toward CRE. The amount of variance explained in the male attitude toward CRE dependant variable was approximately 8%, but this amount was not significant (R^2 =.08, p= .10). The amount of variance explained in the female attitude toward CRE dependant variable was approximately1%, and this amount was not significant (R^2 =.01, p= .67). Overall, model fit was acceptable ($\chi^2(2)$ =.278, p= .87; CFI=1.0; RMSEA=.001; SRMR=.04) (Hu & Bentler, 1999; Keiley, Dankoski, Dolbin-MacNab, & Liu, 2005).

Figure 3



Figure 3. Results of the final tested model based on prior exploratory APIM with the observer-rated attitude toward CRE dependant variables. Nonsignificant paths represented by a dashed line. Note. Standardized coefficients reported: * p< .05, ** p < .01, *** p < .001.

Results for Hypothesis 7. When assessing pooled partner data, overall differences will be found in participant attitudes toward CRE by gender, income, and education.

The results for hypothesis seven were partially supported. Some model findings did show differences by gender in that females reported more positive attitudes toward CRE, and those in the higher education group reported more positive attitudes. However, income nor the different interactions were not significant in any of the models analyzed. These findings are reported below, and an overall table of results is presented in Appendix E.

Pooled Data Regression Analysis: Observer-rated Attitudes Toward CRE

In the final exploratory analysis step the dyadic data was pooled across relationship partners in multiple regression procedures to assess for overall differences in attitudes toward CRE by gender, income, relationship status, education, and interactions among gender and income, gender and relationship status, relationship status and income, education and gender, education and relationship status, and education and income. The results presented here were found conducting the multiple regressions using the pooled male and female observer-rated attitudes toward CRE as the dependant variable.

In the first model, the observer-rated attitude toward CRE variable was regressed simultaneously on gender (0=male, 1=female), income (0=low, 1=high), and the multiplicative gender x income. The full model R^2 was not significantly greater than zero (R^2 =.02, p= .07), and only the variable for gender reached significance individually (β =.25, p= .02). These results suggest that females overall held more positive attitudes toward CRE, but income was not significantly related, nor did income interact with gender to influence participant attitudes toward CRE.

In the second model, the observer-rated attitude toward CRE variable was regressed simultaneously on gender (0=male, 1=female), relationships status (0=unmarried, 1=married), and the multiplicative gender x relationship status. The full model R^2 was not significantly greater than zero (R^2 =.03, p= .15), and none of the variables reached significance individually, suggesting that gender, relationship status, nor the interaction of gender with relationship status were significantly associated with observer-rated attitudes toward CRE in this analysis.

In the third model, the observer-rated attitude toward CRE variable was regressed simultaneously on relationships status (0=unmarried, 1=married), income (0=low, 1=high), and the multiplicative relationship status x income. The full model R^2 was not significantly greater than zero (R^2 =.01, p= .55), and none of the variables entered reached significance individually. These results suggest that relationship status, income, nor the interaction of relationship status with income were significantly associated with observerrated attitudes toward CRE in this analysis in this sample.

In the fourth model, the self-reported attitude toward CRE variable was regressed simultaneously on education (0=less than college degree, 1=college degree), income (0=low, 1=high), and the multiplicative education x income. The full model R^2 was not significantly greater than zero (R^2 =.02, p= .43), and none of the variables entered reached significance individually. These results suggest that education, income, nor the interaction of education with income were significantly associated with observer-rated attitudes toward CRE in this analysis in this sample.

In the fifth model, the self-reported attitude toward CRE variable was regressed simultaneously on education (0=less than college degree, 1=college degree), relationship

status (0=unmarried, 1=married), and the multiplicative education x relationship status. The full model R^2 was not significantly greater than zero (R^2 =.03, p= .19), and only the education variable was significant individually (β = .23, p = .03). These results suggest that those with a college degree have more positive attitudes toward CRE, yet neither relationship status, nor the interaction of education and relationship status significantly associated with attitudes toward CRE in this sample.

In the sixth model, the self-reported attitude toward CRE variable was regressed simultaneously on education (0=less than college degree, 1=college degree), gender (0=male, 1=female), and the multiplicative education x gender. The full model R^2 was not significantly greater than zero (R^2 =.02, p = .08), and only the gender variable reached significance (β = .18, p < .05). These results suggest that females have significantly more positive attitudes toward CRE, yet education and the interaction of education x gender was not significant in this analysis.

Results for Hypothesis 8. Differences will be noted in testing the association of stress, negative affect, psychological aggression, and relationship quality in the analyses between the self-reported attitude toward CRE variable versus the observer-rated attitude toward CRE variable.

Results for hypothesis seven were supported. Differences in background parameter patterns, overall main effects, and actor and partner paths were noted between the two sets of analyses assessing predictor variable associations with self-reported and observer-rated attitudes toward CRE. Interestingly, the exact opposite partner paths were significant in the different sets of analyses. These differences in results potentially

highlight the different components "tapped" when measuring partner attitudes toward CRE. A discussion of the combined main effects model follows here.

Results: Combined Self-Report and Observer-Rated Attitude Towards CRE

Models

Combined Self-Report and Observer-Rated Main APIM Path Model

An overall final step assessing the principal paths from male and female predictor variables to male and female attitudes toward CRE was to create a combined APIM utilizing both sets of dependent variables (male and female self-reported attitudes toward CRE and male and female observer-rated attitudes toward CRE) regressed on the predictor variables that reached significance when assessed with only one set of dependant variables. Thus, this model regressed both self-reported male and female attitudes toward CRE, and male and female observer-rated attitudes toward CRE on male and female reported psychological aggression, which were the variables that reached significance when only one set of dependant variables were assessed. In this combined APIM, the disturbance terms between each set of dependant variables were freed to correlate, and the predictor variables were correlated according to APIM procedures.

With the combined APIM analysis, a chi-square difference test in nested models was used to assess for differences by gender in background parameters (exogenous variances, exogenous means, residuals, and intercept) individually. Chi-square difference testing in nested models to assess for differences by gender in background parameters revealed significant differences when the intercept ($\chi^2_D(1)=7.41$, p=0.06), exogenous variances ($\chi^2_D(1)=9.89$, p < 0.01), and exogenous variable means ($\chi^2_D(1)=4.01$, p < .05)

were constrained to be equal. Thus, these parameters were allowed to vary in final combined APIM analysis.

With these constraints in place, a final combined main path APIM analysis was conducted. Both paths that reached significance when assessed with one set of dependant variables also reached significance when assessed with both sets of dependant variables in the combined APIM model. The path from male reported psychological aggression to self-reported female attitude toward CRE was significant (β = -.29, *p* < .01), and the path between female reported psychological aggression to the observer-rated male attitude toward CRE was significant (β = -.27, *p* < .01). Overall, model fit was acceptable (χ^2 (3)= 1.23, *p*= .75; CFI=1.0; RMSEA=.001; SRMR=.09) (Hu & Bentler, 1999; Keiley, Dankoski, Dolbin-MacNab, & Liu, 2005).

Figure 4.



Figure 4. Results of the overall final combined APIM with the self-reported and observer-rated attitude toward CRE dependent variables. Nonsignificant paths

represented by a dashed line. Note. Standardized coefficients reported: * p < .05, ** p < .01, *** p < .001.

CHAPTER V

CONCLUSION

This was the first known study to assess whether factors well known to be associated with relationship quality and predictive of couples not present in CRE programming (stress, negative affect, and psychological aggression), are also associated with relationship partner attitudes toward CRE, and assess whether these associations differ by relationship circumstances. Both self-reported and observer-rated partner attitudes toward CRE were utilized in the analyses. Largely, the study hypotheses were not confirmed with some limited exceptions. For the most part, direct associations of stress, negative affect, and psychological aggression were not found with relationship partner attitudes toward CRE. And, in addition, relationship quality was not found to be significantly and negatively associated with attitudes toward CRE in this study of relationship partners. These different predictors, on the whole, did not greatly differ by income, education, or relationship status, with some exceptions. However, some interesting main effects did emerge in APIM testing, as well as some interesting patterns in moderating effects. Also, as hypothesized, main effects and moderating effects varied between the self-reported and observer-rated attitudes toward CRE in separate APIM analyses.

Overall Findings Summary

Overall, findings point towards differences in partner paths by gender, particularly in the global stress and negative affect analyses by male education, male income, and relationship status in that increases in stress and negative affect were more indicative of more negative attitudes toward CRE in female partners, but increases in stress and negative affect were more indicative of more positive attitudes toward CRE in males. These patterns were found, primarily in the self-report attitudes analyses. Also, in the observer-rated attitude analyses, a few more actor path differences emerged, especially for male partners in that increases in stress were associated with more negative attitudes toward CRE particularly for unmarried males, increases in relationship quality were associated with more positive attitudes towards CRE for males in the male-reported lower-income group, and increases in psychological aggression were associated with more negative attitudes toward CRE for males in the lower male income group, and more positive attitudes toward CRE in the higher male income group.

Also, several partner path differences were found across the sets of the psychological aggression APIM analyses. Interestingly, results were more pronounced in the female higher education group, and higher male income group. Notably, when the significant paths were combined in the final APIM, the exact opposite partner paths were significant and negative, where more psychological aggression in males was associated with more negative self-report attitudes toward CRE in the self-report dependant variable, and more psychological aggression in females was associated with more negative attitudes toward CRE in the observer-rated attitudes toward CRE dependant variable.

Also, in general, more positive attitudes toward CRE were found in females, and more negative attitudes were found to be more pronounced for unmarried males. The pooled multiple regression analyses also showed some differences by education, with those in the college degree group showing more positive attitudes toward CRE in a number of the regression models. Key findings from both sets of analyses are discussed below in more detail, as well as a discussion of differences that emerged from both sets of analyses, and findings from the combined analysis.

Key Findings From the Self-Reported Attitudes Towards CRE Set of Analyses

Most interestingly, what emerged from findings from the set of self-reported attitudes toward CRE analyses were the overall absence of actor effects on self-reported attitudes toward CRE, and the presence partner effects. Additionally, the nature of the partner effects seemed to differ by gender, and, in some ways, income and relationship status.

For instance, in the global stress APIM analyses, partner path differences emerged by gender in that positive associations between female stress and male attitude toward CRE, and negative associations between male stress and female attitudes toward CRE were found; partner path differences, but in opposite directions. Additionally, in the global stress APIM by male education, for those in the lower male education group findings showed partner path differences in that a positive association was found between female stress and male attitude toward CRE, and a strong negative association was found between male stress and female attitude toward CRE. Finally, in the global stress APIM by relationship status, for those in the unmarried group, a positive association was found between female stress and male attitude toward CRE, and a negative association was found
male stress and female attitude toward CRE. Noticeably, the associations by gender were in opposite directions; female \blacktriangleright male was positive, and male \blacktriangleright female was negative.

Similar patterns were found in the negative affect APIM analyses. In the negative affect APIM by gender partner path differences were found in that female negative affect was associated with more positive attitudes toward CRE, and male negative affect was negatively associated with female attitudes toward CRE. Also, contrary to hypothesized relationships, in the male-reported higher-income group a more pronounced positive association was found between female negative affect and male attitude towards CRE, and a negative association between male negative affect and female attitude toward CRE than those in the lower male-reported income group. Finally, in the negative affect APIM by male-reported education, path differences were noted in that for relationship partner in the lower-education group female negative affect was associated with more positive attitudes toward CRE in males, and male negative affect was negatively associated with attitudes toward CRE in females. Again, as in the stress APIM analyses, the associations by gender were in opposite directions; female ▶ male was positive, and male ▶ female was negative.

These findings suggest gender differences, and in some relationship partner circumstances, that more stress and negative affect in the female partner is associated with more positive attitudes toward CRE in males, and more pronounced, more stress and negative affect in male partners is associated with more negative attitudes toward CRE in males. These partner paths were shown to differ by male-reported income, male-reported education, and relationship status.

It may be that these differences in partner paths by gender highlight different motivational factors for male and female relationship partners to attending CRE. Perhaps, particularly for male relationship partners in the lower-education group, higher-income group, and unmarried group CRE programming is seen as an opportunity for their *partner* to gain new knowledge, skills, and information on how to manage their negativity, stress, and frustrations. In this manner, CRE may be seen by male partners as a source through which they can "fix" their female partners. Thus, male partners may see CRE as a resource to help their female partner, or fix their partner, and therefore help the relationship, boosting attitudes toward CRE in male partners. Also, CRE may be seen by men in these groups as a resource to learn how to better take care of their partner, and better care of the relationship by learning how to more adequately address the needs of their female partners as they detect increases of negativity and frustration.

Female relationship partners in these groups may see increases of negativity, frustration, and distress as signs of resistance in their male partners to attending CRE services. Female partners also potentially see increased negative demeanor and frustration as characteristics that could then be prolonged, and even exacerbated as their male partners attend a program to exclusively discuss the relationship, thus dampening female attitudes.

Model results in testing the psychological aggression APIM revealed a somewhat discrepant pattern than that just described in the stress and affect models. Interestingly, and running counter to study hypotheses, in the male-reported higher-income group, a more pronounced negative association was found between both female-reported psychological aggression and male attitude toward CRE, and between male-reported

psychological aggression and female attitude toward CRE. This finding perhaps suggests that both males and females with more psychologically aggressive partners may hold more negative views of attending CRE in that perhaps the program material may incite, or even exacerbate incidents of psychological aggression in the other partner potentially damaging the relationship. These paths were more pronounced for the higher-income group.

Key Findings From the Observer-Rated Attitudes Toward CRE Set of Analyses

The set of analyses conducted utilizing the observer-rated dependant attitude variables also revealed a number of partner path differences across gender and relationship circumstances, yet the directionality was in some ways different form the analyses conducted on the self-report attitude data. Also, a fair amount of actor path differences were found in this set of analysis. Actor effect differences were more pronounced for male relationship partners.

For instance, in the global stress APIM by relationship status a stronger negative actor effect was found between male stress and male attitude toward CRE for the unmarried group. This suggests, that for this sample, perhaps stress holds a greater negative influence on attitudes toward CRE for unmarried men. Actor path differences by gender also emerged in the relationship quality and psychological aggression model analyses by male-reported income in that increases in relationship quality were positively associated with attitudes toward CRE for men in the lower-income group, increases in psychological aggression were associated with more positive attitudes toward CRE in the male-reported higher income group, and increases in psychological aggression were associated with more negative attitudes toward CRE in the lower-income group.

Interestingly, the strength of female actor paths were not as pronounced in these analyses pointing towards the connection with income and relationship status and attitudes toward CRE primarily in male relationship partners.

Several differences in partner paths were also noted in the analyses conducted with the observer-rated partner attitudes toward CRE. For instance, in the relationship quality APIM by male-reported income stronger paths were found in the lower-income group in marginal negative relationships between male and female relationship quality and attitudes toward CRE. In the psychological aggression APIM analyses by malereported income showed a strong negative relationship between psychological aggression in females and attitudes toward CRE in males, and a marginal positive relationship between male psychological aggression and female attitudes toward CRE in the higherincome group. A similar pattern was found in the psychological aggression APIM by female-reported education for the higher-education group.

These partner path differences suggest interesting differences by gender, education, and income, particularly in the psychological aggression APIM analyses. Interestingly, in the higher-income groups, and the higher-female education group the association of female psychological aggression to male attitude toward CRE is strong and negative, whereas the path from male psychological aggression to female attitude toward CRE is positive.

As stated previously, perhaps male relationship partners see CRE services as an opportunity for their female partners to better manage their own characteristics in order to better the relationship. In this case, perhaps females see CRE as an opportunity for their male partners to learn new ways to manage psychological aggression and learn more

effective ways of interacting. Male relationship partners, however, perhaps see CRE services as an environment to inflame and exacerbate bouts of psychological aggression in their female partners, and perhaps, be sought as the source of blame for relationship trouble. Thus, men with more psychologically aggressive partners may see CRE as an environment that could quickly turn hostile. Interestingly, in both sets of analyses psychological aggression appears to be more strongly associated with attitudes toward CRE in relationship partners in the higher-income and education groups.

Key Differences in Findings from Both Sets of Analyses

In addition to some of the actor and partner path differences described in the above sections, overall trends emerged in terms of differences between the two sets of analyses. For instance, in the self-reported attitudes analyses several results showed differences in the intercept for males and females pointing towards more positive attitudes toward CRE for females. This finding is related to previous findings showing women have more positive appraisals of seeking help or assistance for the relationship through such sources as relationship counseling (Addis & Mahalik, 2003; Doss et al., 2003). This finding was also supported in the pooled multiple regressions with gender emerging as a significant predictor in several of the models showing women with more positive attitudes across analyses in both the self-reported and observer-rated attitudes.

Also, in the self-reported attitude analyses, intercept differences were also noted by relationship status. Most notably results showed that unmarried males held more negative attitudes toward CRE than married males. This finding is reflective of the literature discussing relationship commitment. Study results have shown that men in dating and cohabiting relationships have markedly lower-levels of commitment to their

partners than men who are married (Stanley, 2002, Stanley, Whitton, & Markman, 2004; Whitehead & Popenoe, 2002). Thus, unmarried men may show less positivity toward a program such as CRE designed the benefit the relationship due to overall lower commitment.

In terms of the analyses conducted with the observer-rated attitudes, more pronounced differences emerged in variance accounted for by gender and relationship circumstance. Differences in variance accounted for was primarily evidenced in male relationship partners. For instance, stress, negative affect, and relationship quality accounted for more variance in married male attitudes toward CRE than unmarried males. In addition, stress and psychological aggression accounted for more variance in male attitudes toward CRE in the higher male-reported income group. Particularly notable, the amount of variance accounted for by psychological aggression (male and female) in male attitudes toward CRE variable for the higher-income group was significant.

These findings suggest that, to some degree, stress and negative affect, and more substantially, psychological aggression, may be more connected with attitudes toward CRE among married men in the higher-income group. Non significance of variance accounted for in the stress, negative affect, and relationship quality APIM analyses make these results difficult to interpret. Findings related to the psychological aggression APIM analyses are discussed further at a later point in this document. Further investigation is needed to more systematically tease out these associations, to better assess how these factors are associated with CRE attitudes, and how these associations may vary between married and unmarried men, and other factors such as income.

The findings related to education group and attitudes toward CRE across the two sets of analyses are more difficult to interpret. Some findings in this study show differences by male-and female-reported education group. The pooled multiple regression analyses showed that education emerged as a significant predictor in two of the models pointing towards more positive attitudes toward CRE in the higher-education group. Perhaps those who have obtained a college degree have more positive attitudes toward education in general, and since CRE is in many ways advertised as an "education-like" experience, or skill-gaining experience, those with more positive attitudes towards education in general may also see CRE in a more positive light (W. Goddard, Personal Communication, March 9, 2010). Yet, this is a question that merits much more investigation.

Discussion of Combined Self-Reported and Observer-Rated Attitude Analysis

Certainly, most noted from both the final models conducted with each set of dependant variables independently, and the combined self-reported and observer-rated attitude analysis were the associations of psychological aggression partner effects on attitudes toward CRE. Interestingly, the exact opposite partner effects emerged as significant in relations to the two sets of dependent variables: male psychological aggression ▶ female attitude towards CRE in the self-reported analysis, and female psychological aggression ▶ male attitude towards CRE in the observer-rated analysis. Both paths were negative. Perhaps, to some degree, both male and female relationship partners see CRE as an environment to ignite and exacerbate psychologically aggressive behaviors in their partner, dampening attitudes toward CRE.

Explanations regarding these two opposite partner paths that emerged as significant predictors in different sets of dependant variables may have more to do with how the different sets of dependant variables were measured in relation to literature on how relationship satisfaction is constructed in men and women, and the couple communication literature. For example, some researchers have suggested that relationship satisfaction is constructed differently for men and women. For women, relationship satisfaction is often more of a global picture of the relationship, whereas for men relationship satisfaction is often more affected by the immediate, or more recent past history of the quality of the relationship. For these reasons, some suggest that women are a better "barometer" of the relationship due to their often more substantial and realistic beliefs pertaining to the relationship (Acetilli, 1992; Bradbury, Fincham, & Beach, 2000; Fowers, 1991; Hassebrauck & Fehr, 2002; Kurdek, 1993). Hence, self-report measures, in many ways, help provide a more global assessment of the relationship, thus, as men report, on average, more psychological aggression, women may be less inclined to think positively of CRE programs as program content and material, or simply bringing up the idea of attending, could incite more psychologically aggressive behaviors in their male partners.

Observed interactions may be more depictive of relationship quality for men as the quality of the conversation may be more evident of the more recent past history of the relationship. Thus, men who have female partners who are, on average, more psychologically aggressive when observed in interaction with their partner may be less inclined to display positive attitudes toward CRE, as recent experiences with their more psychologically partners may have shaped their appraisal of the relationship, thereby

shaping their attitude toward attending programs focused on the relationship. The couple communication literature also supports the notion that men who have female partners who are more psychologically aggressive (e.g., more cutting, critical, etc.) tend to have lower relationship quality (e.g., Swann, Rentfrow, & Gosling, 2003), which may also be connected with men's attitudes to attend relationship programming, as these programs might exacerbate critical and aggressive behaviors in female partners.

Overall, the differences in findings noted by the different dependent variables analyzed points toward future development in studying, measuring, and assessing attitudes toward CRE in romantic partners. In this case, the different forms of measurement (self-report and observation) perhaps tap into different aspects of the couple relationship in association with the predictor variables. Future research should further explore how different means of measuring attitudes toward CRE are associated with different facets of couple relationships, individual characteristics, and contextual components to gain greater meaning and insight as to how these attitudes are shaped.

Also, interestingly, the significant partner paths found in the combined model appears to be more pronounced in the higher-income groups. As cited previously, lowerincome has been predictive of lower relationship quality, limited resources, and elevated relationship aggression. Perhaps different forms of relationship aggression may be more predictive of differences in attitudes and attendance of CRE and other relationshiporiented programs across SES-level, where physical aggression may be more predictive of more negative views and less attendance in lower-SES couples, and psychological aggression may be more predictive of more negative views and less attendance in higher-SES groups. This is a question warranting further examination.

Connections and Directions: Relating Theory to Findings

Somewhat surprisingly, overall there was relatively little difference between the male and female lower and higher income groups, and the male and female lower and higher education groups across all APIM analyses, even with relatively high percentages of men and women in the lower-income groups in the sample. Additionally, stress was relatively unrelated to attitudes toward CRE in the multi-group analyses by income and education. There are a number of potential explanations as to why these findings did not emerge. Three are discussed here.

First, family stress and family ecological theories highlight how the nature of context, and the interaction among and between contexts exerts influence on individuals and couples (Boss, 2002; Bradbury & Karney, 1993; Bradbury & Karney, 2005). Thus, the specificity of context utilized in this study most likely did not possess the sensitivity to detect the specific nature of both surrounding and relational contextual features. For instance, this study utilized dichotomous variables (lower and higher income and education groups) to test for moderation. But simply examining income and education by group does not indicate specifically if there are differences related to job stress, unemployment, neighborhood conditions, and couple resources such as family-of-origin experiences, communication style, and supportive behaviors.

Also, the variables utilized in the present study lacked the sensitivity to assess for how proximal processes (Bronfenbrenner &Ceci, 1994) influence couple relationships, and therefore, partner attitudes toward CRE. For instance, further explorations of how genetically influenced factors (genotypes) such as personality and disposition interact with facets of the lower-income environment and experience to influence relationship

quality and attitudes toward relationship programming (phenotypes) are needed. In this manner, more nuanced investigations of how genetic characteristics are moderated by contextual facets to influence couple relationship quality and stability, and attitudes toward relationship programs can further our understanding of how to effectively reduce barriers to attending couples programming.

In addition, the global stress measure utilized in this study may not have been sensitive enough to capture the stress-related experiences of the sample. Stress has been cited and exerting a more indirect influence on couple relationship, influencing the couple through mechanisms such as communication, coping, and support (Bodenmann, 1997). Further examination should be given to utilizing more specific instrumentation to better assess the more specific stressful contexts relevant to individuals and couples in relation to attitudes toward CRE.

Second, family stress and ecological theories highlight not only stressors and risks, but also highlight resources and resiliency (Boss, 2002, Orthner, Jones-Sanpei, & Williamson, 2004). For instance, in this sample, although many of the participants reported lower-income, a fair amount reported also having received some college education, and thereby, were fairly educated, and perhaps, would have access to more social and personal resources than other couples. A more detailed examination of how strengths and resources affect relationship partner attitudes toward CRE is warranted.

Third, in a related manner, simply because relationship partners are of lower income and education, may not necessarily mean they have higher stress, higher negativity, and lower relationship quality. Simply put, lower income couples may be relatively satisfied with their situation. Relationship partners may possess or have access

to other important resources that offset the deficits associated with lower income and lower education. For example, lower income individuals may have close romantic, and other family and social relationships which are highly satisfying that counteract some of the negative influences related to economic pressure and strains (Conger, Reuter, & Elder, 1999; Dyk, 2005; Seccombe, 2002). Thus, in promoting the awareness of relationship risk factors to influence couple decisions to attend CRE, promotion and implementation efforts need also give attention to strengths present and highlight the importance and benefits of building on those strengths (Morris et al., 1999; W. Goddard, Personal Communication, March 9, 2010). Increased conceptual attention to couple strengths and resiliency in terms of program design, recruitment, and implementation is needed.

Findings in Relation to Future Directions

Although many of the moderating effects summarized in this section were based on marginal levels of significance (p < .10), which differs from the more traditional p < .05 significance level used in most social science literature, the exploratory findings in this study point toward a trend that may shed light on the manner in which relationship partners seek relationship enrichment or relationship help. More pronounced in these study findings is the more *dyadic, partner-level,* or *interactional* process that influences partner attitudes toward CRE. Largely absent were findings showing female predictors of female attitudes, and male predictors of male outcomes. These results highlight the importance of how one's attitude toward CRE is shaped by one's partner, and how this shaping process may differ by gender. Seeking out enrichment or help for one's relationship may be managed differently than seeking out individual enrichment or help. Since the goal of relationship programming is primarily to treat and help the *relationship*, benefits are greater as both partners are in attendance, and both partners have agreed to attend. Thus, attitudes toward and attendance of such programs are more of a "we" process than a "me" process, punctuating the potency of the influence of one's partner in determining the outcome.

Little is known about the process that relationship partners undertake in seeking relationship enrichment and relationship help. Yet, the reality is that in most relationships one partner may have a more positive appraisal of such program and have a greater desire to attend than the other partner. Hence, relationship partners may disagree on the merit of the program, the necessity of the program, and on whether attendance would be beneficial. The propensity of these disagreements also may be moderated by other factors such as SES, gender, and other contextual factors.

In this sample, 33% of males and 47% of females report that they either strongly agree or agree with the statement "my partner and I might disagree about whether to attend relationship classes," and 39% of lower-income respondents (below \$35,000) indicated that they either strongly agree of agree with this statement, whereas 42% reported some level of agreement with this statement in the higher income respondents (above \$35,000). Perhaps, not surprisingly, females see a potential disagreement about attending a relationship class with their male partners more than males do with their female partners. As mentioned, in general, women are more likely than men to engage in help-seeking behaviors, and this holds true in seeking out relationship counseling or therapy (Addis & Mahalik, 2003; Doss et al., 2003). However, across income-level there

appears to be a substantial amount of relationship partners perceiving a potential disagreement with their partner about attending CRE.

In essence, attending relationship programming and discussing the option of attending appears to be more of a dyadic process that may be associated both with relationship partners' attitudes of such programs, and with future attendance. Most pronounced in this study, was that psychological aggression in one's *partner* appears to be associated with attitudes toward CRE. However, many of the variables in this study, although known to associate with relationship quality, may have fallen short of capturing the context and dyadic processes (e.g., dyadic coping and social support) through which attitudes toward CRE attendance are shaped and based. This line of thought points toward the question: "What other important factors and dyadic processes might play a role in relationship partner attitudes toward CRE and CRE attendance, and how might these different factors interact with one another and interact with contextual features?" Further investigation on the topic is warranted.

Future Directions in Practice and Research

Highlighting future directions to potentially progress the work of couples researchers and practitioners is an important area of consideration when conducting research related to relationship programming. Based on study findings and the above cited literature a few implications for those working in CRE programming and other couples programming, as well as implications for couples researchers are presented below.

Implications for Practitioners. Large state level surveys have shown primarily positive views of CRE in respondents, some even showing that low-income respondents held more positive views of CRE than those in higher-income circumstances (Johnson et al., 2002; Karney et al., 2003; Schramm et al., 2003). However, those in lower-income groups largely are not in attendance in CRE programs, and this discrepancy may be due to relationship risk factors, and other contextual factors. In this study, stress appeared to marginally influence attitudes toward CRE by relationship status, and negative affect and psychological aggression appeared more influential on attitudes in higher income groups. Connections between attitudes and subsequent behaviors have been documented in related programming for couples such as couples counseling (Bringle & Byers, 1997). Yet, it appears that the connection between attitudes and behaviors is not entirely straightforward, and this connection may be more elusive to track in higher-risk couples.

As mentioned, the decision to attend relationship programming appears to be more of a relationship level process. Higher-risk groups may not possess the dyadic competencies in coping and support as couples of lower-risk, and higher-risk couples also may experience reduced access to support sources outside the relationship. Accordingly, higher- risk couples may not be aware of potential risks for relationship difficulty. As stated by Halford et al. (2006), "such factors might prompt attendance if couples knew of their risk" (p. 160). Efforts designed to bridge the gap between attitudes and action may be an effective method for increasing attendance in at risk couples through highlighting couple risk as well as couple strengths.

Talking with Couples. Reports prepared by those studying CRE implementation at a national level have indicated that maximizing efforts to recruit both relationship

partners at the same time appears to be effective in increasing attendance in CRE programs, especially for couples of lower financial means (Dion & Hershey, 2010; National Healthy Marriage Resource Center, 2008). CRE recruiters should utilize these opportunities not only to talk with relationship partners about risks for relationship difficulties, but also to highlight benefits that can be gained, as well as highlight the skills/topics covered in the program. Perhaps, a more effective method would be to have couples who have attended CRE programming before help recruit other couples and highlight their "real life" benefits gained from the program.

The findings of this study also point toward different "selling points" to be underlined for male versus female relationship partners. Highlighting benefits and stimulating thinking through promotion and recruitment efforts regarding program may be particularly important for men, and as this study showed, unmarried men. Research and practice shows that men are more difficult to recruit to CRE, yet once they attend, they generally enjoy the program and experience personal and relational benefits (Dion & Hershey, 2010; Myrick, et al., 2009; Ooms & Wilson, 2004). Study findings here show that women held significantly more positive attitudes toward CRE, and men in general, and unmarried men had more negative attitudes than married men and the married groups. Findings from this study also showed that more stress and negative affect in females were associated with more positive attitudes toward CRE in males, suggesting that perhaps as more distress is detected in their female partners, men may show more positive attitudes toward CRE services. Helping men see how CRE skills training and services can help improve the quality of couple interactions through taking better care of

their partner and the relationship or providing the tools to "fix" or improve their relationship may be particularly effective.

For females, findings showed that increases in stress and negative affect in male partners were associated with more negative attitudes. Women may see negativity, frustration, and irritation in their male partners as signs that their partners are not interested in attending, and that doing so may further and exacerbate distress and negativity. Hence, furthered assistance and action at both the couple level and through sources outside the relationship may be beneficial. Assisting female partners in structuring conversations with their male partners about the purpose and benefits of CRE in order to help men see the importance of attending for their female partner and for the relationship may be one way to help men gain more positive views of CRE. Also, increasing opportunities for men to learn about program benefits and resources from other men who have attended also may be particularly helpful. The assumption here is made that as more positive attitudes are shaped in male partners, female partners will also experience more positive attitudes. And as mentioned, it may be that helping couples, and particularly men, in taking that first step to attend has a may be most indicative of future attendance (Dion & Hershey, 2010).

Promotion. Promotion of CRE and other family life education-related programming has been cited as an area in need of improvement (Adler-Baeder et al., 2010; Morris et al., 1999; Roberts & Morris, 1998). Morris et al. (1999) noted that promotion of CRE services may have a great influence on the decision-making process of whether or not to attend. Others have noted that promotion efforts should take place on both larger-level (i.e., mass media) and local-level scales (i.e., community and informal

social networks). (Goddard & Olson, 2004; Morris et al., 1999; Stanley et al., 2006). This study highlights how promotional efforts should also take place at the *couple* level, and that perhaps, tailoring promotion efforts by gender could be effective. Adequately structuring marketing and promotional tools to tap into how CRE services hold benefits for the relationship, and specifically for male and female relationship partners should be given further attention.

Also, more generally at the relationship level, to compete effectively for couple leisure time, CRE needs to be seen as both fun and beneficial. Programming that helps to reduce structural barriers and offer added "bonuses" such as a meals, child care, transportation, door prizes, and other small tokens have shown to be more effective in attracting especially lower-income participants (e.g., Ooms & Wilson, 2004), but promoting programming as a fun, rejuvenating, invigorating time to spend time with the relationship partner (similar to a date), rather than one more thing to add to the "to do list" would most likely result in boosting attitudes toward, and attendance of CRE across many couples (Fein, 2009; Ooms & Wilson, 2004).

Psychological Aggression and CRE Attitudes and the Unwilling Partner: Points of

Thought. The findings regarding psychological aggression and attitudes toward CRE are somewhat more delicate from which to make interpretations and devise plans of action. Findings suggest that, for the most part, men and women in the higher reported income groups held more negative attitudes toward CRE as their partners reported higher levels of psychological aggression across both sets of analyses. This finding was more pronounced for male psychological aggression ▶ female attitude toward CRE, and female psychological aggression ▶ male attitude toward CRE, differently across the two

sets of analyses. Encouraging relationship partners to have discussions about attending CRE where psychological aggression is an issue in the relationship may not be the most effective means to enrich or improve relationship functioning.

In these cases, helping relationship partners who are interested in attending to find assistance may be more effective. Relationship education programs such as *Within My Reach* (www.withinmyreach.com) which provides skills and information on relationships at the individual level may help partners in attendance stimulate change within their couple relationship. Also, increasing awareness of the variety of formats (e.g., DVDs, TV, Internet) and locations (e.g., churches, private practitioners, and community programs) through which CRE are offered may help more couples managing psychological aggression and those whose partners are not willing to attend find a more suitable, and more effective method through which to receive CRE services (Adler-Baeder et al., 2010; Halford et al., 2008).

However, where psychological aggression levels are more tempered, and both partners are committed to the relationship and helping it progress, highlighting benefits of attendance and skills learned may improve couple attitudes and increase chances of attending. Couples managing minor levels of psychological aggression may find program content on more effectively managing anger, aggression, and frustration particularly helpful. Thus assessing for both psychological and physical relationship aggression are important endeavors for CRE providers to more adequately tailor program implementation to couple needs (Olson et al., 2009).

Implications for Researchers

This study points toward the dyadic nature influencing relationship partners' attitudes toward CRE and processes of deciding upon attending relationship programming. There is a great need to further assess whether dyadic processes are both associated with partner attitudes toward CRE and attendance of CRE services. Observational methods have emerged as important means for assessing dyadic behaviors in close relationships as such methods give information on interactional exchanges not filtered through the partner's interpretation (Bodenmann & Cina, 2005; Pasch, Bradbuy, & Davila, 1997). Study designs which incorporate observational methods to assess dyadic coping and couple supportive behaviors can assess whether couples with effective coping styles and positive supportive behaviors hold more negative or positive appraisals of CRE. In addition, methods utilizing longitudinal designs can also assess whether coping behaviors, supportive behaviors, communication skills, and other dyadic processes are associated with attitudes toward attending, and attendance in the future.

Additionally, researchers have called for more attention to the contextual influences on close relationships, and access to resources that potentially benefit these relationships (e.g., Karney & Bradbury, 2005). In this study limited significant findings were noted in detecting income and education moderating effects on the association between relationship quality and attitudes toward CRE. This may have occurred primarily due to three reasons: 1. The contextualized nature and the specificity of the dichotomized moderating variables may have lacked the sensitivity to fully capture the influence of the moderator, 2. The analyses did not control for other potentially important factors to relationships and relationship quality (e.g., relationship status, length of the relationship,

level of commitment, etc.), 3. Although recruitment efforts were made to target nonstudent lower-income couples, the setting of a university town made this difficult, and some student couples did trickle into the study sample. Student couples may have, to some degree, convoluted the meaning of "lower-income," as living in lower-income circumstances during one's time as a student is most likely qualitatively different than living in low-income circumstances outside or life as a student, where lower-income struggles may have been an issue for generations. Also, student relationship partners' reported education may also have altered the moderating effect of education, as some student couples could have been placed in the "lower-income" study group, but also may have reported "some college" as their education level, making it difficult to tease out the education effect of student versus non-student couples.

Thus, research should make concerted efforts to investigate circumstances that influence attitudes toward CRE, as well as influence factors that make attendance more or less likely. For example, this study utilized quite general income, education, and relationship status dichotomized groupings to assess whether group membership had an influence on relationship partner attitudes toward CRE. Yet, more specific measures should be utilized to assess the circumstances leading to attendance and reductions of potential barriers to attendance.

For instance, financial strain, financial stress, employment difficulty, upward mobility, neighborhood environment characteristics, support networks, the experience of cohabiting couples, and the length of the relationship would all paint a clearer picture of pathways to couples services and provide information on how to alleviate and remove barriers. Efforts should also be made to utilize sampling techniques to truly capture the

effects of SES and other contextual factors. Thus, more detailed conceptual models highlighting how specific individual, relational, and contextual factors, and the interaction between these factors (e.g., mesosystemic) are related to couples attitudes and attendance of relationship services are warranted.

Also, findings in the psychological APIM analyses point towards potential differences in attitudes toward CRE between the lower- and higher-income groups. It may be that psychological aggression may be a greater deterrent to relationship quality, and seeking and finding adequate couples services for couples of greater financial means. Further investigation is needed to assess for how different types of relationship aggression affect relationship quality and attitudes towards couples services across SES, and other noted influences on couple relationships. Such investigations can lead to greater understanding of which services are most beneficial for couples managing differing levels and types of relationship aggression, and where efforts are most needed to alleviate barriers to seeking services.

Finally, more qualitative methods are needed to specifically determine what relationship partners think about CRE and related attitudes. This study generally assessed relationship partner attitudes toward CRE, but not specifically what relationship partners think about such services. One venue that qualitative methods could be more widely utilized is at CRE events and programming. On a more general, and perhaps more simple level, little is known about what prompts couples to attend (Morris et al., 1999). Interviewing relationship partners to investigate their experience in making the decision to attend, and what factors influenced that decision can help lead to more effective

marketing and promotional strategies through which to recruit more couples. Hence, qualitative interviewing held at CRE events could shed further light on this topic.

Limitations and Conclusions

This study contains several important limitations of which the reader should be aware. The study design is cross-sectional, thus, no claims can be made about causal relationships. Perhaps, the most significant limitations in the current study pertain to the small couple sample size. Such a small sample of couples presents analytical issues, especially when testing moderating effects, and as such, these results should be interpreted carefully, and also should be replicated with a different, larger sample. Sample size issues may have also led to increased Type II error, specifically in testing multi-group differences, and should thereby be interpreted with caution. Also, these analyses were performed utilizing all measured variables, which may have resulted in pronounced measurement error (although reported reliability was good). Future analyses should utilize larger sample sizes allowing for latent variable SEM procedures, which estimate models with multiple measures of variables, and adjust for measurement error.

This study also found limited significant main effects as associating with partner attitudes toward CRE despite excellent power. This may be due to the nature of the relationship factors assessed in this study, and the sensitivity of some of the study variables. For instance, psychological aggression was the only form of relationship aggression assessed, but other forms of relationship aggression (e.g., physical, sexual) may associate more strongly with attitudes toward CRE. Similarly, stress was measured at the global level, but perhaps more specific stressful experiences (e.g., relationship

stress, work stress) may associate more strongly with attitudes toward CRE. Also, and as previously mentioned, incorporating control variables known to be important to relationships (e.g., length of the relationship, commitment, etc.) may have allowed for more specific assessments of the paths in the APIM analyses. In a related manner, although significance was found in some of the analyses conducted in the study, the effect sizes were relatively small. These results should also be replicated in a different and larger sample.

In addition, this study, to explore potential associations with relationship partner attitudes toward CRE, and moderating effects, involved conducting several different analyses which increases the risk of finding associations that may be due to chance or random error. Therefore, the results should be interpreted with caution, especially when interpreting results based on an alpha level greater than .05.

Additionally, as mentioned, some of the variable distributions (in particular the negative affect and psychological aggression variables), and examination of some of the residual distributions for the regression model contained some evidence of skew which may have altered the computation of model parameters and the regression coefficients. Future investigations involving these variables should consider using variable transformations in order to minimize the effects of skewness on model results.

Additionally, the sample, although primarily lower-income, represents very limited cultural and ethnic diversity. Ethnic and cultural diverse groups have been cited as widely underrepresented in CRE programs, and thus learning more about attitudes towards CRE across ethnic groups warrants further attention (Adler-Baeder et al., 2010;

Ooms & Wilson, 2004). Also, and as mentioned, the sensitivity and specificity of the measures used in this study to detect group effects, and stress effects may have fallen short. More sensitive and specific measures, and more nuanced sampling techniques should be utilized in the future.

Yet, as limited information exists on this type of dyadic analysis, limited previous literature on the topic of attitudes towards CRE, and utilizing both self-report and observational assessments of attitudes towards CRE, the exploratory nature of this study provides some ground work for those who wish to further investigate the processes through which couples seek assistance for their relationship and how these processes may differ by relationship circumstances.

Despite the apparent limitations, this study makes a unique contribution to our continued understanding of the relationship enrichment-seeking and help-seeking processes of romantic relationship partners. These findings add to a small, but growing body of literature pointing towards effective mechanisms through which to recruit and provide sound relationship education for couples who choose to attend.

Over 50 years ago when addressing the challenges of marriage and family life education, Landis (1957) posed the question, "Now, where, specifically, are we going?" (p. 247). Most likely this author would be pleased at the accomplishments made in the field as it is currently. However, as is usually the case, more work is needed to connect more couples with the assistance of CRE services which are showing supported evidence of helping couples achieve more healthy and satisfying relationships.

The specificity referred to by Landis (1957) is still very much the case of needed attention today. Further study in the area of how individual relationship partner, couplelevel, and broader contextual experiences are associated with attitudes toward relationship programming, and how these attitudes are specifically connected with program attendance for couples across different circumstances can greatly support efforts in aiding couples in finding relationship assistance and enhancement, with the hopes of creating more widely spread healthy and satisfying couple and family relationships.

REFERENCES

- Acetelli, L. K. (1992). Gender differences in relationship awareness and marital satisfaction among young married couples. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 18, 102–110.
- Addis, M. & Mahalik, J. (2003). Men, masculinity, and the contexts of help

seeking. American Psychologist, 58, 5-14.

- Adler-Baeder, F., Bradford, A., Skuban, E., Lucier-Greer, M., Ketring, S., & Smith, T.
 (2010). Demographic predictors of relationship and marriage education
 participants' pre- and post-program relational and individual functioning. *Journal* of Couple and Relationship Therapy, 9, 113-132.
- Adler-Baeder, F., & Hawkins, A. J. (2010). Relationship and marriage education for diverse, lower-income couples. *Journal of Couple and Relationship Therapy*, 9, 93-94.
- Administration for Children and Families. (2007). *Healthy marriage initiative: Activities and accomplishments 2006*. Washington, DC: Author.
- Ajzen, I., & Fishbein, M. (1980). Understanding attitudes and predicting social behavior.Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.

- Allemand, M., Amberg, I., Zimprich, D., & Fincham, F. D. (2007). The role of trait forgiveness and relationship satisfaction in episodic forgiveness. *Journal of Social* and Clinical Psychology, 26(2), 199-217.
- Amato, P. R. (2000). The consequences of divorce for adults and children. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 62, 1269-1287.
- Amato, P. R. (2001). Children of divorce in the 1990s: An update of the Amato and Keith (1991) meta-analysis. *Journal of Family Psychology*, *15*, 355–370.
- Amato, P. R., & Booth, A. (1997). A generation at risk: Growing up in an era of family upheaval. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Atkinson, T., Liem, R., & Liem, J. H. (1986). The social costs of unemployment: Implications for social support. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 27, 317-331.
- Babbie, E. R. (2001). The practice of social research (9th ed.). Belmont, CA: Wadsworth.
- Barnett, M. A. (2008). Economic disadvantage in complex family systems: Expansion of family stress models. *Clinical Children and Family Psychological Review*, 11, 145-161
- Bassuk, B. Dawson, R., & Huntington, N. (2006). Intimate partner violence in extremely poor women: Longitudinal patterns and risk markers. *Journal of Family Violence*, 21, 397-399.
- Beach, S. R. H., & Gupta, M. (2006). Directive and nondirective spousal support:Differential effects? *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, *4*, 465-477.

- Beach, R. H., Martin, J. K., Blum, T. C., & Roman, P. M. (1993). Effects of marital and co-worker relationships on negative affect: Testing the central role of marriage. *The American Journal of Family Therapy*, 21(4), 313-323.
- Belle, D. (1983). The impact of poverty on social networks and supports. *Marriage and Family Review*, *5*(*4*), 89-103.
- Bernard, H. R. (2000). *Social research methods: qualitative and quantitative approaches*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Biocca, F., David, P., & West, M. (1994). Continuous response measurement (CRM): A computerized tool for research on the cognitive processing of communication messages. In A. Lang (Ed.), *Measuring psychological responses to media messages* (pp. 15-64). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Blanchard, V. L., Hawkins, A. J., Baldwin, S. A., & Fawcett, E. B. (2009). Investigating the effects of marriage and relationship education on couples' communication skills: A meta-analytic study. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 23(2), 203-214.
- Bodenmann, G. (1997). Can divorce be prevented by enhancing the coping skills of couples? *Journal of Divorce and Remarriage*, 27, 177-194.
- Bodenmann, G., & Cina, A. (2005). Stress and coping among stable-satisfied, stabledistressed and separated/divorced Swiss couples: A 5-year prospective longitudinal study. *Journal of Divorce and Remarriage*, 44, 71-89.
- Bodenmann, G., Charvoz, L., Cina, A., & Widmer, K. (2001). Prevention of marital distress by enhancing the coping skills of couples: 1-year follow-up-study. *Swiss Journal of Psychology*, 60, 3-10.

- Bodenmann, G., & Shantinath, S. D. (2004). The Couples Coping Enhancement Training (CCET): A new approach to prevention of marital distress based upon stress and coping. *Family Relations*, 53, 477-484.
- Bollini, A. M., Walker, E. F., Hamann, S., & Kestler, L. (2004). The influence of perceived control and locus of control on the cortisol and subjective response to stress. *Biological Psychology*, 67, 245-260.
- Boss, P. (2002). Family stress management (2nd ed.). Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Bradbury, T. N. (1998). Introduction: The developmental course of marital dysfunction.
 In T. N. Bradbury (Ed.), *The developmental course of marital dysfunction* (pp. 1-8). New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Bradbury, T. N., & Fincham, F. D., & Beach, S. R. H. (2000). Research on the nature and determinants of marital satisfaction: A decade in review. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 62, 964-980.
- Bradbury, T. N., & Karney, B. R. (1993). Longitudinal study of marital interaction and dysfunction: Review and analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 13, 15-27.
- Bradbury, T. N., & Karney, B. R. (2004). Understanding and altering the longitudinal course of marriage. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, *66*, 862-879.
- Bringle, R. G., & Byers, D. (1997). Intentions to seek marriage counseling. *Family Relations*, 46, 299-304.
- Brinkerhoff, D. B., & White, L. K. (1978). Marital satisfaction in an economically marginal population. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, *40*(20), 259-267.

- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979). *The ecology of human development*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1989). Ecological systems theory. *Annals of Child Development*, 6, 187-249.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1995). Developmental ecology through space and time: A future perspective. In P. Moen & G. H. Elder Jr. (Eds.), *Examining lives in context: Perspectives on the ecology of human development* (pp. 619–647). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. & Ceci, S. J., (1994). Nature-nurture reconceptualized in developmental perspective: A bioecological model. *Psychological Review*, 101(4), 568-586.

Bulmer, M. G. (1979). Principles of statistics. Mineola, NY: Dover Publications

- Burman, B., Margolin, G., & John, R. S. (1993). America's angriest home videos:
 Behavioral contingencies observed in home reenactments of marital conflict.
 Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 61, 28-39.
- Busby, D. M., Crane, D. R., Larson, J. H., & Christensen, C. (1995). A revision of the dyadic adjustment scale for use with distressed and nondistressed couples:
 Construct hierarchy and multidimensional scales. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 21, 289-308.
- Campbell, T. L. (1993). Marriage and health. Family Systems Medicine, 11(3), 303-309.
- Carlson, M., McLanahan, S. & England, P. (2003). *Union formation and dissolution in fragile families*. Center for Research and Child Wellbeing Working Paper #2001-

06-FF. Retrieved September 8, 2009 from

http://crew.princeton.edu/fragilefamilies.

- Carlson, M., McLanahan, S. & England, P. (2004). Union formation in fragile families. *Demography*, *41*, 237-261.
- Carlson, M., McLanahan, S., England, P., & Devaney, B. (2004). What we know about unmarried parents: Implications for building strong families programs. *Building Strong Families In Brief, No. 3*. Princeton, NJ: Mathematica Policy Research, January.
- Carrere, S., & Gottman, J. M. (1999). Predicting divorce among newlyweds from the first three minutes of a marital conflict discussion. *Family Process*, *38*, 293-301.
- Carroll, J. S., & Doherty, W. J. (2003). Evaluating the effectiveness of premarital prevention programs: A meta-analytic review of outcome research. *Family Relations*, 52, 105-118.
- Cattaneo, L. B., & DeLoveh, H. L. M., (2008). The role of socioeconomic status in helpseeking from hotlines, shelters, and police among a national sample of women experiencing intimate partner violence. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 78(4), 413-422.
- Cattell, V. (2001). Poor people, poor places, and poor health: The mediating role of social networks and social capital. *Social Science & Medicine*, *52*, 1501-1516.
- Clark-Nicholas, P. & Gray-Little, B. (1991). Effect of economic resources on marital quality in Black married couples. *Journal of Marriage and the Family, 53*, 645-655.

- Cohen, J. (1960). A coefficient of agreement for nominal scales. *Educational and Psychological Measurement, 20, 37–46.*
- Cohen, J. (1968). Weighted kappa: Nominal scale agreement with provision for scaled disagreement or partial credit. *Psychological Bulletin*, 70, 213–220.
- Cohen, J. (1988). Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences (2nd ed). (Erlbaum, Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Cohen, J. (1992). Statistical power analysis. Current Directions in Psychological Science, 1, 98-101.
- Cohen, S., Doyle, W. J., & Baum, A. (2006). Socioeconomic status is associated with stress hormones. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 68, 414-420.
- Conger, R. D., Cui, M., Bryant, C. M., & Elder, G. H. (2000). Competence in early adult romantic relationships: A developmental perspective on family influences. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 79, 224–237.
- Conger, R. D., Elder, G.H., Lorenz, F. O., Conger, K. J., Simons, R. L., Whitbeck, L. B., Huck, S., & Melby, J. N. (1990). Linking economic hardship to marital quality and instability. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 52(3), 643-656.
- Conger, R. D., & Elder, G. H., Jr. (1994). Families in troubled times: Adapting to change in rural America. New York: Aldine.
- Conger, R. D., Ge, X., Elder, G. H., Lorenz, F. O., & Simons, R. L. (1994). Economic stress, coercive family process, and developmental problems of adolescents. *Child Development*, 65, 641-561.

- Conger, K. J., Rueter, M. A. & Conger, R. D. (2000). The role of economic pressure in the lives of parents and their adolescents: The Family Stress Model. In L. J.
 Crockett & R. K. Silberiesen (Eds.) *Negotiating adolescence in times of social change* (pp. 201-223). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Conger, R.D., Reuter, M. A., & Elder, G. H. (1999). Couple resilience to economic pressure. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *76*, 54-71.
- Cook, W. L., & Kenny, D. A. (2005). The actor-partner interdependence model: A model of bidirectional effects in developmental studies. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 29, 101-109.
- Cooper, M. L., Frone, M. R., Russell, M., & Mudar, P. (1995). Drinking to regulate positive and negative emotions: A motivational model of alcohol use. *Journal of Personality & Social Psychology*, 69, 990–1005.
- Crane, D. R.. Middleton, K. C., & Bean, R. A. (2000). Establishing criterion scores for the Kansas Marital Satisfaction Scale and the Revised Dyadic Adjustment Scale. *The American Journal of Family Therapy*, 28, 53-60.
- Crown, W. H. (1998). Statistical models for the social and behavioral sciences: Multiple regression and limited dependent variable models. Westport, CT: Praeger Publishers.
- Cunradi, C. B., Caetano, R., & Schager, J. (2002). Socioeconomic predictors of intimate partner violence among White, Black, and Hispanic couples in the United States, *Journal of Family Violence*, *17*(*4*), 377-389.
- Cutrona, C. E., Russell, D. W., Abraham, W. T., Gardner, K. A., Melby, J. N., Bryant, C.,& Conger, R. D. (2003). Neighborhood context and financial strain as predictors

of marital interaction and marital quality in African American couples. *Personal Relationships, 10,* 389-409.

- Dakin, J., & Wampler, R. (2008). Money doesn't buy happiness, but it helps: Marital satisfaction, psychological distress, and demographic differences between lowand middle-income clinic couples. *The American Journal of Family Therapy, 36*, 300-311.
- Dehle, C., Larsen, D., & Landers, J. A. (2001). Social support in marriage. *The American Journal of Family Therapy*, 29, 307-324.
- DeMaria, R. M. (2005). Distressed couples and marriage education. *Family Relations*, 54, 242-253.
- Derogatis, L. R. (2000). Derogatis Stress Profile. In A. J. Rush (Ed.), Handbook of psychiatric measures, (pp. 227-229). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association.
- Derogatis, L. R. (1987). The Derogatis Stress Profile (DSP): A quantification of psychological status. *Advances in psychosomatic medicine: Research paradigms in psychosomatics, 17*, 30-54.
- De Vaus, D. A. (2002). Surveys in social science research (5th Ed.). St. Leonards, Australia: Allen & Unwin Publishers.
- Dienhart, A. (2002). Engaging men in family therapy: Does the gender of the therapist make a difference? *Journal of Family Therapy*, *23*, 21-45.
- Dion, M. R. (2005) Health marriage programs: Learning what works. *Future of Children*, *15*, 139-156.

- Dion, M. R., Hershey, A. M., Zaveri, H. H., Avellar, S. A., Strong, D. A., Silman, T., & Moore, R. (2008). Implementation of the Building Strong Families Project.
 Retrieved November 12, 2009 from <u>http://www.buildingstrongfamilies.info</u>.
 Mathmatica Policy Research, Inc.
- Dion, M. R., & Hershey, A. M. (2010). Relationship education for unmarried couples with children: Parental responses to the building strong families project. *Journal* of Couple and Relationship Therapy, 9, 161-180.
- Doherty, W. J., & Anderson, J. R. (2004). Community marriage initiatives. *Family Relations*, 53, 425-432.
- Donnellan, M. B., Conger, R. D., & Bryant, C. M. (2004). The Big Five and enduring marriages. *Journal of Research in Personality*, *38*, *481-504*.
- Doss, B. D., Atkins, D. C., & Christensen, A. (2003). Who's dragging their feet?
 Husbands and wives seeking marital therapy. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 29(2), 165-177.
- Doss, B. D., Rhoades, G. K., Stanley, S. M., Markman, H. J. (2009). Marital therapy, retreats, and books: The who, what, when, and where of relationship help-seeking. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 35(1), 18-29.
- Duncan, M. R., Box, G., & Silliman, B. (1996). Racial and gender effects on perceptions of marriage preparation programs among college-educated young adults. *Family Relations*, 45, 80-90.
- Duncan, S. C., Duncan, T. E., & Strycker, L. A. (2002). A multilevel analysis of neighborhood context and youth alcohol and drug problems. *Prevention Science*, 3(2), 125-133.
- Duncan, S. F., & Wood, M. M. (2003). Perceptions of marriage preparation among college-educated young adults with greater family-related risks for marital disruption. *The Family Journal: Counseling and Therapy for Couples and Families*, 11(4), 342-352.
- Dyer, C., & Halford, W. K. (1998). Prevention of relationship problems: Retrospect and prospect. *Behaviour Change*, *15*(*2*), 107-125.
- Dyk, P. H. (2005). Complexity of life among the low-income and working poor: Introduction to the special issues. *Family Relations*, *53*, 122-126.
- Eby, K. K. (2004). Exploring the stressors of low-income women with abusive partners: Understanding their needs and developing effective community responses. *Journal of Family Violence, 19(4),* 221-232.
- Ellen, I. G., & Turner, M. A. (1997). Does neighborhood matter? Assessing recent evidence. *Housing Policy Debate*, *8*(4), 833-866.
- Fein, D.J. (2004). Married and poor: Basic characteristics of economically disadvantaged married couples in the U.S. Bethseda, MD: Abt Associates, Inc.
- Fein, D.J. (2009). Spending time together: Time use estimates for economically disadvantaged and nondisadvantaged married couples in the Unites States.
 Bethesda, MD: Abt Associates, Inc.

- Fein, D., Burnstein, N. R., Fein, G. G., & Lindberg, L. D. (2003). The determinants of marriage and cohabitating among disadvantaged Americans: Research findings and needs. Bethseda, MD: Abt Associates.
- Field, A. (2009). Discovering statistics using SPSS (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Fisher, P. A., Fagot, B. I., & Leve, C. S. (1997). Assessment of family stress across low-, medium-, and high-risk samples using the family events checklist. *Family Relations*, 47, 215-219.
- Fowers, B. J. (1991). His and her marriage: A multivariate study of gender and marital satisfaction. *Sex Roles*, *24*, 209-221.
- Fox, G. L., Benson, M. L., DeMaris, A. A., & Van Wyk, J. (2002). Economic distress and intimate violence: Testing family stress and resource theories. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 64, 793-807.
- Fox, G. L., & Chancey, E. (1998). Sources of economic distress: Individual and family outcomes. *Journal of Family Issues*, 19, 725-749.
- Freeman, C., Carlson, J., & Sperry, L. (1993). Adlerian marital therapy strategies with middle income couples facing financial stress. *The American Journal of Family Therapy*, 21(4), 324-332.
- Frerichs, R. R., Aneshensal, C. S., & Clark, V. A. (1981). Prevalence of depression in Los Angeles County. American Journal of Epidemiology, 113, 691-699.

- Frone, M. R., Barnes, G. M., Farrel, M. P. (1994). Relationship of work-family conflict to substance use among employed mothers: The role of negative affect. *Journal of Marriage and the Family, 56*, 1019-1030.
- Frye, N. E., & Karney, B. R. (2006). The context of aggressive behavior in marriage: A longitudinal study of newlyweds. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 20, 12-20.
- Furdyna, H. E., Tucker, M. B., & James, A. D. (2008). Relative spousal earnings and marital happiness among African American and White women. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 70, 332-344.
- Futrell, D. (1995). When quality is a matter of taste, use reliability indexes. *Quality Progress, 28, 81-86.*
- Gallo, L. C., Bogart, L. M., Vranceanu, A., & Matthews, K. A. (2005). Socioeconomic status, resources, psychological experiences, and emotional responses: A test of the reserve capacity model. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 88(2), 386-399.
- Gardner, B. C., & Wampler, K. S. (2008). Uncovering dynamical properties in the emotional system of married couples. *Contemporary Family Therapy*, 30, 111-126.
- Gelles, R. J. (1987). Family violence. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Gelles, R. J. (1989). Child abuse and violence in single parent families: Parent absence and economic deprivation. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, *59*, 492-501.
- Gelles, R. J. (1994). Research and advocacy: Can one wear two hats? *Family Process*, *33*, 93-96.

- Goddard, W. G., & Olsen, C. S. (2004). Cooperative extension initiatives in marriage and couples education. *Family Relations*, *53*, 433-439.
- Gottman, J. M, & Krokoff, L. J. (1989). Marital interaction and: A longitudinal view. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 57, 47-52.
- Gottman, J. M. (1979). *Marital interaction: Experimental investigations*. New York: Academic Press.
- Gottman, J. M. (1994). What predicts divorce? The relationship between marital processes and marital outcomes. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum and Associates.
- Gottman, J. M. (1998). Psychology and the study of marital processes. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 49, 169-197.
- Gottman, J. M. (1999). *The marriage clinic: A scientifically based marital therapy*. New York: Norton.
- Gottman, J. M., & Gottman, J. S. (1999). The marriage survival kit. In R. Berger & M. T.
 Hannah (Eds.), *Preventative approaches in couples therapy* (pp. 304-330).
 Philadelphia: Brunner/Mazel.
- Gottman, J. M., & Levenson, R. W. (1985). A valid procedure for obtaining self-report of affect in marital interaction. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 53, 151-160.
- Gottman, J. M., & Levenson, R. W. (1992). Marital processes predictive of later dissolution: Behavior, physiology, and health. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 63, 221-233.

- Gottman, J. M., & Notarius, C. I. (2000). Decade review: Observing marital interaction. Journal of Marriage and the Family, 62, 927-947.
- Gottman, J. M., Swanson, C., & Murray, J. (1999). The mathematics of marital conflict:Dynamic mathematical nonlinear modeling of newlywed marital interaction.*Journal of Family Psychology, 13,* 3-19.
- Gourash, N. (1978). Help-seeking: A review of the literature. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 6, 413-423.
- Grana, S. J. (2001). Sociostructural considerations of domestic femicide. *Journal of Family Violence*, *16*(4), 421-435.
- Griffin, W. A. (1993). Transitions from negative affect during marital interaction:Husband and wife differences. *Journal of Family Psychology*, *6*, 230-244.
- Griffin, W. A. (2003). Affect pattern recognition: Using discrete hidden Markov models to discriminate distressed from nondistressed couples. *Marriage and Family Review*, 34, 139-164.
- Grimes, M. E., & McElwain, A. D. (2008). Marriage and family therapy with lowincome clients: Professional, ethical, and clinical issues. *Contemporary Family Therapy*, 30, 220-232.
- Hahlweg, K., Revenstorf, D., & Schindler, L. (1984). Effects of behavioral marital therapy on couples' communication and problem-solving skills. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 52, 553-566.
- Halford, W. K. (2004). The future of couple relationship education: Suggestions on how it can make a difference. *Family Relations*, *53*, 559-566.

- Halford, W. K., Markman, H. J., Kline, G. H., & Stanley, S. M. (2003). Best practices in couple relationship education. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 29(3), 385-406.
- Halford, W. K., Markman, H. J., & Stanley, S. M. (2008). Strengthening couples' relationships with education: Social policy and public health perspectives. *Journal* of Family Psychology, 22(3), 497-505.
- Halford, W. K., Moore, E., Wilson, K. L., Farrugia, C., & Dyer, C. (2004). Benefits of flexible delivery relationship education: An evaluation of the Couple CARE Program. *Family Relations*, *53*, 469-476.
- Halford, W. K., O'Donnell, C., Lizzio, A., & Wilson, K. L. (2006). Do couples at high risk of relationship problems attend premarriage education? *Journal of Family Psychology*, 20(1), 160-163.
- Halford, W. K., Sanders, M. R., & Behrens, B. C. (2001). Can skills training prevent relationship problems in at-risk couples? Four-year effects of a behavioral relationship education program. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 15(4), 750-768.
- Halford, W. K., & Simons, M. (2005). Couple relationship education in Australia. *Family Process*, 44, 147-159.
- Haller, A. O., & Thomas, S. (1962). Personality correlates of the socioeconomic status of adolescent males. *Sociometry*, 25, 398-404.
- Harris, I. B. (1996). Children in jeopardy: Can we break the cycle of poverty? New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Hassebrauck, M., & Fehr, B. (2002). Dimensions of relationship quality. *Personal Relationships*, 9, 253-270.

- Hawkins, A. J., Blanchard, V. L., Baldwin, S. A., Fawcett, E. B. (2008). Does marriage and relationship education work? A meta-analytic study. *Journal of Consulting* and Clinical Psychology, 76(5), 723-734.
- Hawkins, A. J., & Fackrell, T. A. (2010). Does relationship and marriage education for lower-income couples work? A meta-analytic study of emerging research. *Journal* of Couple & Relationship Therapy, 9, 181-191.
- Hawley, D. R., & Olsen, D. H. (1995). Enriching newlyweds: An evaluation of three enrichment programs. *The American Journal of Family Therapy*, 23, 129-147.

Henkel, R. E. (1976). Tests of significance. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

- Henly, J. R., Danziger, S. K., & Offer, S. (2005). The contribution of social support to the material well-being of low-income families. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 67, 122-140.
- Henry, N. J. M., Berg, C. A., Smith, T. W., & Florsheim, P. (2007). Positive and negative characteristics of marital interaction and their association with marital satisfaction in middle-aged and older couples. *Psychology and Aging*, 22, 428-441.
- Heyman, R. E. (2001). Observation of couple conflicts: Clinical assessment applications, stubborn truths, and shaky foundations. *Psychological Assessment, 13,* 5-35.
- Hicks, M. W., McWey, L. M., Benson, K. E., & West, S. H. (2004). Using what premarital couples already know to inform marriage education: Integration of a Gottman model perspective. *Contemporary Family Therapy*, 26(1), 97-113.

Hill, R. (1949). Families under stress. New York: Harper.

Hollentstein, T. (2007). State space grids: Analyzing dynamics across development.

International Journal of Behavioral Development, 31, 384-396.

- Holman, T. B. (2001). Premarital predictors of marital quality of break up: Research, theory, and practice. New York: Kluwer Academic.
- Hops, H., Davis, B., & Longoria, N. (1995). Methodological issues in direct observation:
 Illustrations with the Living in Familial Environments (LIFE) coding system.
 Journal of Clinical Child Psychology, 24, 193–203.
- Hu, L. T., & Bentler, P. M. (1999). Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: Conventional criteria versus new alternatives. *Structural Equation Modeling*, 6, 1–55.
- Jaeger, R. G., & Halliday, T. R. (1998). On confirmatory versus exploratory research. *Herpetologica*, *2*, 64-66.
- Johnson, C. A., Stanley, S. M., Glenn, N. D., Amato, P., Nock, S. L., & Markman, H. J. et al. (2002). *Marriage in Oklahoma: 2001 baseline statewide survey on marriage and divorce* (S02096 OKDHS). Oklahoma City: Oklahoma Department of Human Services.
- Johnson, M. D., Cohan, C. L.; Davila, J., Lawrence, E., Rogge, R. D.; Karney, B. R.; Sullivan, K. T.; Bradbury, T. N. (2005). Problem-solving skills and affective expressions as predictors of change in marital satisfaction. *Journal of Consulting* and Clinical Psychology, 73, 15-27.
- Johnson, M.D. (2002). The observation of specific affect in marital interactions:Psychometric properties of a coding system and a rating system. *Psychological Assessment, 14, 423-438.*

- Julien, D., & Markman, H. J. (1991). Social support and social networks as determinants of individual and marital outcomes. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 8, 549-568.
- Karney, B. R., & Bradbury, T. N. (1995). The longitudinal course of marital quality and stability: A review of theory, method and research. *Psychological Bulletin*, 118, 3-34.
- Karney, B. R., Garvan, C. W., & Thomas, M. S. (2003). Family formation in Florida: 2003 baseline survey of attitudes, beliefs, and demographics relating to marriage and family formation. Gainesville, FL: University of Florida Department of Psychology.
- Keenan, K., Gunthorpe, D., & Grace, D. (2007). Parsing the relations between SES and stress reactivity: Examining individual differences in neonatal stress response. *Infant Behavior & Development, 30*, 134-145.
- Keller, J., & McDade, K. (2000). Attitudes of Low-Income Parents toward Seeking Help with Parenting: Implications for Practice. *Child Welfare*, 79, 285-312.
- Kenny, D. A. (1996). Models of non-independence in dyadic research. Journal of Social and Personal Relationships, 13, 279-294.
- Kenny, D. A., Kashy, D. A., & Cook, W. L. (2006). *Dyadic data analysis*. New York: The Guilford Press.
- Keicolt-Glaser, J. K., & Newton, T. L. (2001). Marriage and health: His and hers. *Psychological Bulletin*, *127*(*4*), 472-503.
- Keiley, M. K., Dankowski, M., Dolbin-MacNab, M., & Liu, T. (2005). Covariance structure analysis: From path analysis to structural equation modeling. In D.H.

Sprenkle & F.P. Piercy (Eds.), *Research methods in family therapy* (2nd ed., pp. 432-460). New York: Guilford Press.

- Keyes, K. M., & Hasin, D. S. (2008). Socio-economic status and problem alcohol use: the positive relationship between income and the DSM-IV alcohol abuse diagnosis. *Addiction*, 103, 1120-1130.
- Kinnenen, U., & Feldt, T. (2004). Economic stress and marital adjustment among couples: Analyses at the dyadic level. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 32, 519-532.
- Knox, V., & Fein, D. (2009). Supporting Healthy Marriage: Designing a marriage education demonstration and evaluation for low-income married couples. In H.E. Peters, & C.M.K. Dush (Eds.), *Marriage and family: Perspectives and Complexities* (pp. 247-280). New York: Columbia University Press.
- Kristenson, M., Erikson, H. R., Sluiter, J. K., Starke, D., & Ursin, H. (2004).
 Psychobiological mechanisms of socioeconomic differences in health. *Social Science & Medicine*, 58, 1511-1522.
- Krokoff, L.J. (1991). Job distress is no laughing matter in marriage, or is it? *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 8, 5-25.
- Krokoff, L. J., Gottman, J. M., & Roy, A. K. (1988). Blue-collar and white-collar marital interaction and communication orientation. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 5, 201-221.

- Kurdeck, L.A. (1993). Predicting marital dissolution: A 5-year prospective longitudinal study of newlywed couples. *Journal of Personality & Social Psychology*, 64, 221-242.
- Lahey, M. A., Downey, R. G., & Saal, F. E. (1983). Intraclass correlations: There's more than meets the eye. *Psychological Bulletin*, *93*, 586-595.
- Landis, J. T. (1957). The challenge of marriage and family life education. *Marriage and Family Living, 19,* 247-252.
- Landis J. R., Koch, G. G. (1977). The measurement of observer agreement for categorical data. *Biometrics*, *33*, 159-74.
- Larson, J. H. (1984). The effects of husband's unemployment on marital and family relations in blue-collar families. *Family Relations*, *33*, 503-512.
- Larson, J. H. (2004). Innovations in marriage education: Introduction and challenges. *Family Relations*, *53*, 421-424.
- Larson, J. H., Kigin, M. L., & Holman, T. B. (2008). Increasing the awareness of risks and needs for premarital interventions of individuals at risk for relationship dysfunction: An exploratory study. *Journal of Couple and Relationship Therapy*, 7(4), 281-296.
- Laursen, B. (2005). Dyadic and group perspectives on close relationships. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 29, 97-100.

- Leionen, J. A., Solantaus, T. S., & Punamaki, R. (2002). The specific mediating paths between economic hardship and the quality of parenting. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 26, 423-435.
- Levenson, R. W., & Gottman, J. M. (1985). Physiological and affective predictors of change in relationship satisfaction. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 49, 85-94.
- Lewis, M. D., Lamey, A. V., & Douglas, L. (1999). A new dynamic systems method for the analysis of early socioemotional development. *Developmental Science*, 2, 457-475.
- Liker, J. K., & Elder, G. H. (1983). Economic hardship and marital relations in the 1930s. *American Sociological Review*, 48, 343-359.
- Lorenz, F. O., Conger, R. D., Simon, R. L., Whitbeck, L. B., & Elder, G. H. (1991).
 Economic pressure and marital quality: An illustration of the method variance problem in the causal modeling of family processes. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, *53*, 375-388.
- MacLean, P. (1976). Depression as a specific response to stress. In I.G. Sarason & C.D.Speilberger (Eds.), *Stress and anxiety* (Vol. 3, pp. 297-323). Washington, DC: Hemisphere.
- Magdol, L., Moffitt, T. E., Caspi, A., Newman, D. L., Fagan, J., & Silva, P. A. (1997).
 Gender differences in partner violence in a birth cohort of 21 year olds: Bridging the gap between clinical and epidemiological approaches. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 65, 68-78.

- Malia, J. A. (2006). Basic concepts of models of family stress. *Stress, Trauma, and Crisis, 9,* 141-160.
- Markman, H. J., & Halford, W. K. (2005). International perspectives on couple relationship education. *Family Process*, 44(2), 139-146.
- Markman, H. J., Stanley, S. M., Jenkins, N. H., Petrealla, J. N., & Wadsworth, M. E.
 (2006). Prevention education: Distinctives and directions. *Journal of Cognitive Psychotherapy: An International Quarterly*, 20(4), 411-433.
- Martin, P. D., Specter, H. G., Martin, D., & Martin, M. (2003). Expressed attitudes of adolescents toward marriage and family life. *Adolescence*, *38*, 359-367.
- Martin, S. P. (2006). Trends in marital dissolution by women's education in the United States. *Demographic Research*, 15, 537-560.
- Matthews, L. S., Wickrama, A.S., & Conger, R.D. (1996). Predicting marital instability form spouse and observer reports of marital interaction. *Journal of Marriage and the Family, 58,* 641-655.
- Marshal, M. P. (2003). For better or for worse? The effects of alcohol on marital functioning. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *23*, 959-997.
- McClelland, G. H., & Judd, C. M. (1993). Statistical difficulties of detecting interactions and moderator effects. *Psychological Bulletin*, *114*, 376-390.
- McCubbin, H. I. (1979). Integrating coping behavior in family stress theory. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, *41*, 237-244.

- McCubbin, H. I., & Patterson, J. M. (1982). Family adaptation to crises. In H. I. McCubbin, A. E. Cauble, & J. M. Patterson (Eds.), *Family stress, coping, and social support* (pp. 26-47). Springfield, IL: Charles C Thomas.
- McCubbin, H. I., & Patterson, J. M. (1983). The family stress process: The double ABCX model of adjustment and adaptation. *Marriage & Family Review*, *6*, 7-37.
- McGraw, K. O., & Wong, S. P. (1996). Forming inferences about some intraclass correlation coefficients. *Psychological Methods*, *1*, 30 46.
- McKenry, P. C., Julian, T. W., & Gavazzi, S. M. (1995). Toward a biospychosocial model of domestic violence. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, *57*, 307-320.
- McLaughlin, M., Cormier, L. S., & Cormier, W. H. (1988). Relation between coping strategies and distress, stress, and marital adjustment of multiple-role women. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 35, 187-193.
- McLoyd, V. C. (1990). The impact of economic hardship on black families and children:Psychological distress, parenting, and socioemotional development. *ChildDevelopment*, *61*, 311-346.
- Micceri, T. (1989). The unicorn, the normal curve, and other improbably creatures. Psychological Bulletin, 105, 156-166.
- Miles, J., & Shelvin, M. (2000). *Applying regression & correlation: A guide for students and researchers*. Los Angeles: Sage Publications.
- Millward, C. (1990). Expectations of marriage of young people. *Family Matters*, 28, 1-12.

- Mistry, R. S., Lowe, E. D., Benner, A. D., & Chien, N. (2008). Expanding the family economic stress model: Insights from a mixed-methods approach. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 70(1), 196-209.
- Morris, M. L., Cooper, C., & Gross, K. H. (1999). Marketing factors influencing the overall satisfaction of marriage education participants. *Family Relations*, 48, 251-261.
- Moynehan, J. & Adams, J. (2007). What's the problem: A look at men in marital therapy. *American Journal of Family Therapy*, 35, 41-51.
- Murphy, E. A. (1982). Skewness and asymmetry of distributions. *Theoretical medicine and bioethics*, *3*, 87-99.
- Murray, S. L., Holmes, J. G., Bellavia, G., Griffin, D. W., & Dolderman, D. (2002).
 Kindred spirits? The role of egocentrism in close relationships. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 82(4), 563-581.
- Myrick, M., Ooms, T., & Patterson, P. (2009). *Healthy marriage and relationship* programs: A promising strategy for strengthening family. Retrieved November 9, 2009 from http://www.healthymarriageinfo.org/docs/MarriageProgramsPromisingStrategies.

pdf. National Healthy Marriage Resource Center.

National Healthy Marriage Resource Center. (2008). A snapshot of emerging research themes that influence marriage education 2008. Retrieved January 22, 2010 from http://www.healthymarriageinfo.org/facts/index.cfm

- Olson, D. H., Larson, P. J., & Olson-Sigg, A. (2009). Couple Checkup: Tuning up relationships. *Journal of Couple & Relationship Therapy*, *8*, 129-142.
- Ooms, T. (2002). Strengthening couples and marriage in low-income communities. In A.
 J. Hawkins, L. D. Wardle, & D. O. Coolidge (Eds.), *Revitalizing the institution of marriage for the twenty-first century: An agenda for strengthening marriage.*Westport, CT: Praeger.
- Ooms, T., & Wilson, P. (2004). The challenges of offering relationship and marriage education to low-income populations. *Family Relations, 53*, 440-447.
- Ordu, S. N. (2009). Socioeconomic status as correlates of spouse abuse behavior in Rivers State. *Journal of Psychology and Counseling*, *1*, 94-104.
- Orthner, D. K., Jones-Sanpei, H., & Williamson, S. (2004). The resilience and strengths of low-income families. *Family Relations*, *53*, 159-167.
- Pan, H. S., Neidig, P. H., & O'Leary, K. D. (1994). Predicting mild and severe husbandto-wife physical aggression. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 62(5), 975-981.
- Parke, R. (2001). Introduction to the special section on families and religion: A call for commitment by researchers, practitioners, and policy makers. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 15, 555-558.
- Parke, M. (2004). Who are "Fragile Families" and what do we know about them? *Clasp Policy Brief: Couples and Marriage Series*, 4. Washington, DC: Center for Law and Social Policy.

- Pasch, L. A., Bradbury, T. N., & Davila, J. (1997). Gender, negative affectivity, and observed social support behavior in marital interaction. *Personal Relationships*, 4, 361-378.
- Pasch, L. A., & Bradbury, T. N. (1998). Social support, conflict, and the development of marital dysfunction. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 66, 219-230.
- Pedhazur, E. J. (1997). Multiple regression in behavioral research: Explanation and prediction. Belmont, CA: Wadsworth Publishing Company.
- Peirce, R. S., Frone, M. R., Russell, M., & Cooper, M. L. (1994). Relationship of financial strain and psychosocial resources to alcohol use and abuse: The mediating role of negative affect and drinking motives. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior, 35*, 291-308.
- Perrucci, C. C., & Targ, D. B. (1988). Effects of a plant closing on marriage and family life. In P. Voyadanoff & I. C. Majks (Eds.), *Families and economic distress: Coping strategies and social policy*. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.
- Prause, J., Dooley, D., & Huh, J. (2009). Income volatility and psychological depression. *American Journal of Community Psychology, 43,* 57-70.
- Quigley, B. M., & Leonard, K. E. (2000). Alcohol and the continuation of early marital aggression. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, *24*, 1003-1010.
- Raley, R. K., & Bumpass, L. (2003) The topography of the divorce plateau: Levels and trends in union stability in the United States after 1980. *Demographic Research*, 8, 245-260.

- Reevy, G. M., & Maslach, C. (2001). Use of social support: Gender and personality differences. *Sex Roles*, *44*, 437-459.
- Rennison, C., & Planty, M. (2003). Nonlethal intimate partner violence: Examining race, gender, and income patterns. *Violence and Victims*, *18*(*4*), 433-443.
- Repetti, R. L. (1989). Effects of daily workload on subsequent behavior during marital interaction: The roles of social withdrawal and spouse support. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 57(4), 651-659.
- Rettig, K. D., Danes, S. M., & Leichtentritt, R. D. (1997). Affective, cognitive, and behavioral responses to economic stress. *Family and Consumer Sciences Research Journal*, 26(1), 3-28.
- Revenstorf, D., Vogel, B., Wegener, C., Hahlweg, K., & Schindler, L. (1980). Escalation phenomena in interaction sequences: An empirical comparison of distressed and nondistressed couples. *Behavior Analysis and Modification*, 2, 97-116.
- Roberts, K., & Gardner, B. C. (2008). Researching recruitment challenges in low-income marriage education programs: Participant perspectives on faith based, professional and community based service delivery venues. Paper presented at the White House Conference on Research Related to the Faith-Based and Community Initiative.
- Roberts, L. C., & Morris, M. L. (1998). An evaluation of marketing factors in marriage enrichment program promotion. *Family Relations*, *47*, 37-44.

- Roosa, M. W., Deng, S., Ryu, E., Burrell, G. L., Tein, J., Jones, S., Lopez, V., & Crowder, S. (2005). Family and child characteristics linking neighborhood context and child externalizing behavior. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 67, 515-529.
- Rotton, J., & Dubitsky, S. S. (2002). Immune functioning and affective states following a natural disaster. *Psychological Reports*, *90*, 521-524.
- Scaramella, L. V., Sohr-Preston, S. L., Callahan, K. L., & Mirabile, S. P. (2008). A test of the family stress model on toddler-aged children's adjustment among hurricane Katrina impacted and nonimpacted low-income families. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 37(3), 530-541.
- Scheier, L. M., Miller, N. L., Ifill-Williams, M., & Botvin, G. J. (2001). Perceived neighborhood risk as a predictor of drug use among urban ethnic minority adolescents: Moderating influences of psychosocial functioning. *Journal of Child & Adolescent Substance Abuse, 11*, 67-106.
- Schramm, D. G., Marshall, J. P., Harris, V. W., & George, A. (2003). Marriage in Utah:
 2003 baseline statewide survey on marriage and divorce. Salt Lake City, UT:
 Utah Department of Workforce Services.
- Schrout, P. E., & Fleiss, J. L. (1979). Intraclass correlations: Uses in assessing rater reliability. Psychological Bulletin, 86, 420-428.
- Seccombe, K. (2002). "Beating the odds" versus "changing the odds": Poverty, resilience, and family policy. *Journal of Marriage and Family, 64,* 384-394.

- Seefeldt, K. S., & Smock, P. J. (2004). Marriage on the public policy agenda: What do policymakers need to know from research? Revised paper originally presented at the University of Michigan National Poverty Center's 2003 Conference on Marriage and Family Formation Among Low Income Couples, held in Washington, DC. Retrieved September 5, 2009 from http://www.npe.umich.edu/pulications/workingpaper04/paper2/index.shtml.
- Siegel, S., & Castellan, N. J. (1988). Non-parametric statistics for the behavioral sciences. McGraw-Hill, New York, New York.
- Shlonsky, H. R. (1984). Continuity in poverty along family lines: A reexamination of the intergenerational cycle of poverty. *Human Relations*, *37*(6), 455-472.
- Silliman, B. (1987). *Influences on young adults' intentions to attend a premarital preparation program.* Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Kansas State University.
- Silliman, B., Schuum, W. R., & Jurich, A. P. (1992). Young adults' preferences for premarital preparation program designs. *Contemporary Family Therapy*, 14, 89-100.
- Silliman, B. & Schumm, W. R. (2004). Adolescents' perceptions of marriage and premarital couples education. *Family Relations*, *53*, 513- 520.
- Simons, R. L., Lorenz, F. O., Wu, C., & Conger, R. D. (1993). Social network and marital support as mediators and moderators of the impact of stress and depression on parental behavior. *Developmental Psychology*, 29(2), 368-381.

- Simons, M., & Parker, R. (2002). *A study of Australian relationship education services*. Canberra, Australia: Australian Department of Family and Community Services.
- Smith, D. A., Vivian, D., & O'Leary, K. D. (1990). Longitudinal prediction of marital discord from premarital expressions of affect. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 58, 790-798.
- Solantaus, T., Leinonen, J., & Punamaki, R. (2004). Children's mental health in times of economic recession: Replication and extension of the family economic stress model in Finland. *Developmental Psychology*, 40(3), 412-429.
- Sorenson, E., Mincy, R., & Halpern, A. (2000). Redirecting Welfare Policy toward Building Strong Families. Washington, D.C.: The Urban Institute. Strengthening Families brief.
- Spanier, G. B. (1976). Measuring dyadic adjustment: New scales for assessing the quality of marriage and similar dyads. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, *38*, 15-28.
- Stafford, L., & Merolla, A. J. (2007). Idealization, reunions, and stability in long-distance dating relationships. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 24, 37-54.
- Stanley, S. M. (2002, July). *What is it with men and commitment, anyway?* Keynote address to the 6th annual Smart Marriage Conference. Washington D.C.
- Stanley, S. M., Amato, P. R., Johnson, C. A., & Markman, H. J. (2006). Premarital education, marital quality, and marital stability: Findings from a large, random, household survey. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 20, 117-126.
- Stanley, S. M., Markman, H. J., & Jenkins, N. H. (2008). Marriage education and government policy: Helping couples who choose marriage achieve success.
 National Healthy Marriages Resource Center Working Paper. Retrieved

September 3, 2009 from

http://www.healthymarriageinfo.org/docs/StanelyMarriage_Ed_and_Gov_Policy_ 5_7_08.pdf.

- Stanley, S. M., Pearson, M., & Kline, G. H. (2005, November). The development of relationship education for low income individuals: Lessons from research and experience. Paper presented at The Association for Public Policy Analysis and Management Conference, Washington, DC.
- Stanley, S. M., Whitton, S. W., & Markman, H. J. (2004). Maybe I do: Interpersonal commitment and premarital or nonmarital cohabitation. *Journal of Family Issues*, 25, 496-519.
- Straus, M. A. (1990). Social stress and marital violence in a national sample of American families. In M.A. Straus & R.J. Gelles (Eds.), *Physical violence in American families* (pp. 181-201). New Brunswick, NJ: Transaction Publishers.
- Straus, M. A., Hamby, S. L., Boney-McCoy, S., McCoy, S. B., & Sugarman, D. B. (1996). The Revised Conflict Tactics Scales (CTS2): Development and preliminary psychometric data. *Journal of Family Issues*, 17, 283-316.
- Strazdins, L., Clements, M. S., Korda, R. J., Broom, D. H., & D'Souza, R. M. (2006). Unsociable work? Nonstandard work schedules, family relationships, and children's well-being. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 68, 394-410.
- Streiner, D. L. (1995). Learning how to differ: Agreement and reliability statistics in psychiatry. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, *40*, 60-66.

- Sullivan, K. T., & Bradbury, T. N. (1997). Are premarital prevention programs reaching couples at risk for marital dysfunction? *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 65, 24-30.
- Swann, W. B., Rentfrow, P. J., & Gosling, S. D. (2003). The precarious couple effect: Verbally inhibited men + critical, disinhibited women = bad chemistry. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 85, 1095-1106.
- Tsan, J. Y., & Day, S. X. (2007). Personality and gender as predictors of online counseling use. *Journal of Technology in Human Services*, 25, 39-55.
- U.S. Census (2010). *Poverty thresholds, 2009*. Retrieved March 16, 2010 from <u>http://www.census.gov/hhes/www/poverty/threshld.html</u>
- Vissing, Y. M., Straus, M. A., Gelles, R. J., & Harrop, R. J. (1991). Verbal aggression by parents and psychosocial problems of children. *Child Abuse and Neglect*, 15, 223-238.
- Wadsworth, M. E., & Santiago, C. D. (2008). Risk and resiliency processes in ethnically diverse families. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 22(3), 399-410.
- Waite, L. J., & Gallagher, M. (2000). The case for marriage: Why married people are happier, healthier, and better off financially. New York: Doubleday.
- Waller, M. R., & Swisher, R. (2006). Fathers' risk factors in fragile families: Implications for "healthy" relationships and father involvement. *Social Problems*, 53, 392-420.
- Warner, R. (2008). *Applied statistics: From bivariate to multivariave techniques*.Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

- White, L., & Rogers, S. J. (2000). Economic circumstances and family outcomes: A review of the 1990s. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 62, 1035-1051.
- Whitehead, B. D., & Popenoe, D. (2002). The state of our unions: The social health of marriage in America. Piscataway, NJ: National Marriage Project.
- Wilson, K. L., & Halford, W. K. (2008). Processes of change in self-directed couple relationship education. *Family Relations*, 57, 625-635.
- Wilson, S. M., Larson, J. H., McCulloch, B. J., & Stone, K. L. (1997). Dyadic adjustment: An ecosystemic examination. *The American Journal of Family Therapy*, 25(4), 291-305.
- Wright, L. M. (2005). Family nursing: Challenges and opportunities: Marriage: It matters in sickness and in health. *Journal of Family Nursing*, *11(4)*, 344-349.

APPPENDICES

APPENDIX A

SURVEY ITEMS USED TO ASSESS PARTNER ATTITUDES TOWARD CRE

If you knew an unmarried couple that was considering marriage, would you recommend that they attend pre-marital education classes?

a. Yes

b. No

c. Not Sure

Would you consider using relationship education, such as workshops or classes to strengthen your relationship?

a. Yes

b. No

c. Not sure

I would feel bad if I thought I needed marriage or relationship education classes.

- a. Strongly agree
- b. Agree
- c. Disagree
- d. Strongly disagree

My family has always solved its own problems without any outside help.

- a. Strongly agree
- b. Agree
- c. Disagree
- d. Strongly disagree

For you personally, how likely would you be to seek help for ANY type of personal problem that was upsetting you?

a. Very likely

- b. Likely
- c. Not very likely
- d. I would never seek help

For you personally, how likely would you be to seek help if you thought your committed relationship was in trouble?

a. Very likely

- b. Likely
- c. Not very likely
- d. I would never seek help

APPENDIX B

OBSERVATIONAL PARTNER ATTITUDE TOWARDS CRE SCALE

Partner ID_____

Date/Rater_____

Item	Not Focused	Somewhat Focused	Focused	Very Focused
Rate how focused the participant was on the topic of CRE	1	2	3	4

Item	Very	Unhelpful	Helpful	Very Helpful
	Unhelpful			
Rate how helpful the				
participant perceives	-2	-1	1	2
CRE could be to their				
relationship				

Item	Very Negative	Somewhat Negative	Positive	Very Positive
Rate how positive/negative the participant views CRE	1	2	3	4

Item	Not	Somewhat	Harmful	Very
	Harmful at	Harmful		Harmful
	All			
Rate how harmful the				
participant perceives	2	1	-1	-2
CRE could be to their				
relationship				

Item	Not Likely	Somewhat	Likely	Very Likely
	at All	Likely		
Rate how likely the				
participant would be to	1	2	3	4
participate in a CRE				
program				

Totaled Partner Score_____

APPENDIX C

RATING SOURCEBOOK UTILIZED TO TRAIN RATERS ON RATING SCHEME AND SYSTEM

Focus Item

A partner is:

1) Given a rating of **1**, (**Not Focused**) if...

 \Box The partner tries to end their conversation about CRE after 2 and $\frac{1}{2}$ minutes and...

o ... the partner barely stayed on topic in the first place.

 \Box The partner is never on topic re: CRE

2) Given a rating of **2**, (Somewhat Focused) if...

□ The partner tries to end their conversation about CRE after 5 minutes and...

o ... the partner mostly stays on topic.

OR...

 \Box The partner ends their conversation about CRE after 2 and $\frac{1}{2}$ minutes and...

o ... the partner stays on topic very well, and are just fast talkers that wrap things up quickly.

3) Given a rating of **3**, (Focused) if...

□ The partner tries to end their conversation about CRE after 5 minutes and...

o ... the partner mostly stays on topic.

OR...

 \Box The partner tries to end their conversation about CRE after 7 minutes or longer and...

o ... the partner sometimes stays on topic.

4) Given a rating of **4**, (Very Focused) if...

 \Box The partner tries to end their conversation about CRE after 7 minutes or longer and...

• ... the partner mostly stays on topic.

Helpfulness Item

1) A partner is given a rating of -2; perceiving CRE as very unhelpful, if...

□ ...the partner makes repeated remarks about it being a "waste of time", "useless", "pointless"

-A partner with this rating may roll his/her eyes, or make faces mocking CRE.

-You won't hear them describing **any** positives at all about CRE.

2) A partner is given a rating of -1; perceiving CRE as unhelpful, if...

 \Box ... the partner makes more negative remarks than positive. (Think about a slight balance towards the negative.)

-A partner with this rating may be less rude, but still say it's not for them.

-You won't hear them describing many positives about CRE.

3) A partner is given a rating of **1**; perceiving CRE as helpful, if...

 \Box ... the partner makes more positive remarks than negative. (Think about a slight balance towards the positive).

4) A partner is given a rating of **2; perceiving CRE as VERY HELPFUL,** if...

...the partner makes many positive remarks and few, if any, negatives.
 (Remember they are told to discuss pros and cons, so if they struggle to find cons, but easily list many pros, this could be their rating.).

Positive/Negative Views of CRE Item

A partner is:

- 1) Given a rating of **1**, (Very Negative) if...
 - The partner makes multiple negative comments about CRE or therapy and makes no positive comments.

o The partner may say something such as, "These programs can't help" or "I can't see how this kind of thing can be applied to all couples."

2) Given a rating of **2**, (Somewhat Negative) if...

 \Box The partner makes more negative comments about CRE or relationship help than positive comments.

o They may say negative comments such as above, but they will also say some positive remarks.

3) Given a rating of **3**, (**Positive**) if...

□ The partner makes more positive comments about CRE or relationship help than negative comments.

o They may say comments such as "I suppose it is a good thing that people do this."

4) Given a rating of **4**, (Very Positive) if...

 \Box The partner makes multiple positive comments about CRE or relationship help and makes no negative comments.

a. The partner may say something such as "CRE is for everyone!" "These are good for people to participate in." "I can't think of anything bad about this."

Harmful Item

A partner is:

1) Given a rating of -2, (Very Harmful) if...

The partner makes multiple comments about CRE or relationship help services being dangerous, and makes no comments about how it will help.

o The partner may say something such as "These do more harm than good."/"I bet many folks don't have problems until they do this."

2) Given a rating of **-1**, (**Harmful**) if...

The partner makes many more comments about CRE or therapy being harmful than helpful, but he/she will still mention perhaps once how some parts of it may help.

• Think of the partner's perspective as balancing towards harmful on a 2/3 ratio.

3) Given a rating of **1**, (Somewhat Harmful) if...

□ The partner makes more comments about CRE or relationship help being more harmful than helpful, but he/she will still mention a few times how some parts of it may help.

o Think of the partner's perspective as balancing towards harmful on a 51/49 ratio.

4) Given a rating of **2**, (Not Harmful at All) if...

□ The partner makes no comments at all about CRE being harmful and makes comments about how it is helpful or could be helpful.

Likely to Participate Item

A partner is:

1) Given a rating of **1**, (Not Likely at All) if...

□ The partner's comments about CRE or relationship help are distant (In other words they mention it being for others, but not for them), but most importantly a partner makes multiple comments such as, "Well it's not for us." "...never for us." "We'll never do this." "I would never go."

2) Given a rating of , (Somewhat Likely) if...

 \Box The partner mentions CRE and relationship help as options for others, but may say once that they are ok with it for themselves. They may seem "neutral to it".

3) Given a rating of **3**, (Likely) if...

The partner makes more comments about CRE or relationship help as being more helpful than harmful, but he/she will still mention a few times how some parts of it may help.

o Think of the partner's perspective as balancing towards harmful on a 51/49 ratio.

4) Given a rating of **4**, (Very Likely) if...

□ The partner makes enthusiastic comments about participating in CRE or relationship help.

o Partner makes comments such as "We should do this!" "This would be good for us." "Let's look into going."

APPENDIX D

TABLES REPORTING MULTI-GROUP DIFFERENCES IN MODERATING EFFECTS AND ACTOR AND PARTNER PATHS BY APIM

Summary of Moderator	[.] Findings in Globa	Stress APIM analysis S	elf-Reported Attitudes	Toward CRE Dependant Variable
·····			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

			Moderator			
Global Stress APIM	Gender	Male Income	Female Income	Male Education	Female Education	Relationship Status
-Residual Variance	-	-	-		-	
-Intercept	$\chi^{2}_{D}(1)=6.43, p < 100$	-	-	$\chi^{2}_{D}(2)=4.5, p=$	-	$\chi^2_{\rm D}(2)=6.41,$
	.01			.11		p=.04
-Exogenous Variance	$\chi^2_{\rm D}(1)=2.316,$	-	-		-	
	p = .13					
-Exogenous Means	-	-	-		-	
-Actor Path Differences	-	-	-		-	
-Partner Path Differences	$\chi^2_{\rm D}(1)=3.62, p=$	-	-	$\chi^2_{\rm D}(3)=7.89, p=$	-	$\chi^2_{\rm D}(3)=6.0,$
	.06			.05		<i>p</i> =.10

Note: Moderating effects and differences between actor and partner paths assessed at p < .10

Summary of Moderator Findings in Negative Affect APIM analysis Self-Reported Attitudes Toward CRE Dependant Variable

			Moderator			
Negative Affect APIM	Gender	Male Income	Female Income	Male Education	Female Education	Relationship Status
-Residual Variance	-	-	-	-	-	-
-Intercept	$\chi^2_{\rm D}(1)=11.08, p$	-	-	-	-	-
	< .01					
-Exogenous Variance	$\chi^2_{\rm D}(1)=13.36, p$	$\chi^2_{\rm D}(3)=4.21,$	$\chi^2_{\rm D}(2)=12.41, p$	-	-	-
-	< .001	p=.12	< .01			
-Exogenous Means	-	-	-	-	-	-
-Actor Path Differences	-	-	-	$\chi^2_{\rm D}(3)=7.1, p=$	-	-
				.07		
-Partner Path Differences	$\chi^2_{\rm D}(1)=4.15, p$	$\chi^2_{\rm D}(3)=5.69,$	-	$\chi^2_{\rm D}(3)=7.1, p=$	-	-
	=.05	p=0.12		.07		

Note: Moderating effects and differences between actor and partner paths assessed at p < .10

Summary of Moderator Findings in Relationship Quality APIM analysis Self-Reported Attitudes Toward CRE Dependant Variable

Moderator						
Relationship Quality APIM	Gender	Male Income	Female Income	Male Education	Female Education	Relationship Status
-Residual Variance	-	-	-	-	-	-
-Intercept	-	-	-	-	-	-
-Exogenous Variance	$\chi^2_{\rm D}(1)=6.654,$	-	-	-	-	$\chi^2_{\rm D}(2)=6.94,$
-	p = .01					p = .03
-Exogenous Means	-	-	-	-	-	-
-Actor Path Differences	-	-	-	-	-	-
-Partner Path Differences	-	-	-	-	-	-

Note: Moderating effects and differences between actor and partner paths assessed at p < .10
Summary of Moderator Findings in Psychological Aggression APIM analysis Self-Reported Attitudes Toward CRE Dependant Variable

			Moderator			
Psychological Aggression APIM	Gender	Male Income	Female Income	Male Education	Female Education	Relationship Status
-Residual Variance	-	-	-	-	-	-
-Intercept	$\chi^2_{\rm D}(1)=10.75, p$	-	-	-	-	$\chi^{2}_{D}(2)=5.83,$
	< .001					<i>p</i> =0.05
-Exogenous Variance	$\chi^{2}{}_{\mathrm{D}}(1)=9.87, p < 0.000$	$\chi^2_{D}(2)=5.99,$	$\chi^{2}_{D}(2)=8.78,$	-	-	$\chi^2_{\rm D}(2)=5.73,$
	.01	p = 0.05	p = 0.01			p = 0.06
-Exogenous Means	$\chi^2_{\rm D}(1)=3.67,$	-	-	-	-	-
	p = .06					
-Actor Path Differences	-	-	-	-	-	-
-Partner Path Differences	$\chi^2_{\rm D}(1)=2.86,$	$\chi^2_{\rm D}(3)=6.1,$	-	-	-	-
	p = 0.9	p = .11				

Summary of Moderator Findings in Global Stress APIM analysis Observer-Rated Attitudes Toward CRE Dependant Variable

			Moderator			
Global Stress APIM	Gender	Male Income	Female Income	Male Education	Female Education	Relationship Status
-Residual Variance	-	$\chi^2_{\rm D}(2)=6.00, p$ = .05	-	-	-	$\chi^2_{\rm D}(2)=4.66,$ p=.10
-Intercept	-	-	-	-	-	-
-Exogenous Variance	-	-	-	-	-	-
-Exogenous Means	-	-	-	-	-	-
-Actor Path Differences	-	-	-	-	-	$\chi^2_{\rm D}(3)=6.61, p=.09$
-Partner Path Differences	-	-	-	-	-	-

			Moderator			
Negative Affect APIM	Gender	Male Income	Female Income	Male Education	Female Education	Relationship Status
-Residual Variance	-	$\chi^2_{\rm D}(2)=4.97,$ p=.08)	-	-	-	$\chi^2_{\rm D}(2)=5.24, p=$.07
-Intercept	-	-	-	-	-	-
-Exogenous Variance	$\chi^2_{\rm D}(1)=13.46, p$ < .0001	-	$\chi^2_{\rm D}(2)=12.43, p$ < .01	-	-	-
-Exogenous Means	-	-	-	-	-	-
-Actor Path Differences	-	-	-	-	-	-
-Partner Path Differences	-	-	-	-	-	-

Summary of Moderator Findings in Negative Affect APIM analysis Observer-Rated Attitudes Toward CRE Dependant Variable

Summary of Moderator Findings in Relationship Quality APIM analysis Observer-Rated Attitudes Toward CRE Dependant Variable

			Moderator			
Relationship Quality APIM	Gender	Male Income	Female Income	Male Education	Female Education	Relationship Status
-Residual Variance	-	$\chi^2_{\rm D}(2)=6.67, p$	-	-	-	$\chi^2_{\rm D}(2)=6.43, p < $
		=.06				.05
-Intercept	$\chi^2_{\rm D}(1)=2.91, p=$	-	-	-	-	-
	.09					
-Exogenous Variance	$\chi^2_{D}(1)=6.65, p < 100$	-	-	-	-	-
	.01					
-Exogenous Means	-	-	-	-	-	-
-Actor Path Differences	-	$\chi^2_{D}(3)=7.87, p$	-	-	-	-
		< .05				
-Partner Path Differences	-	$\chi^2_{D}(3)=7.26, p$	-	-	-	-
		=.06				

Summary of Moderator Findings in Psychological Aggression APIM analysis Observer-Rated Attitudes Toward CRE Dependant Variable

			Moderator			
Psychological Aggression APIM	Gender	Male Income	Female Income	Male Education	Female Education	Relationship Status
-Residual Variance	-	$\chi^2_{\rm D}(2)=5.78,$ p=0.06	-	-	-	$\chi^2_{\rm D}(2)=4.54, p=$.10
-Intercept	-	-	-	-	-	-
-Exogenous Variance	$\chi^2_{\rm D}(1)=9.75, p < .01$	$\chi^2_{\rm D}(2)=5.63,$ p=0.06	$\chi^2_{\rm D}(2)=8.73,$ p=0.01	-	-	$\chi^2_{\rm D}(2)=5.78, p=$.06
-Exogenous Means	$\chi^2_{\rm D}(1)=3.67,$ p=.05	-	-	-	-	-
-Actor Path Differences	-	$\chi^2_{\rm D}(3)=8.13$, p=.04	-	-	$\chi^2_{D}(3)=7.41,$ p=0.06	-
-Partner Path Differences	$\chi^2_{\rm D}(1)=3.81$, p=0.05	$\chi^2_{\rm D}$ (3)=12.3 , p < .01	$\chi^2_{\rm D}(3)=6.46,$ p=0.09	$\chi^2_{\rm D}(3)=6.74, \ p=0.08$	$\chi^2_{\rm D}$ (3)=9.7, $p < .05$	-

APPENDIX E

SUMMARY TABLES OF POOLED PARTNER MULTIPLE REGRESSION RESULTS

Summary of Multiple Regressions Assessing Pooled Partner Data on Self-Reported Attitudes Toward CRE

	Ν	/lodel	1		Model	2		Model	3	1	Mode	14	Ν	/lodel :	5		Model	6
Variable	В	SE B	β	В	SE B	β	В	SE B	β	В	SE I	Β β	В	SE B	β	В	SE B	β
Gender	1.26	.54	.23*															
Income	.06	.53	.10															
Gender x income	.13	.75	.21															
Gender				1.63	.46	.30**												
Relationship Status				.72	.55	.13												
Gender x relationship status				89	.79	13												
Relationship status							08	.90	01									
Income							27	.51	05									
Relationship status x income							.59	1.06	.10									
Education										1.57	.80	.28*						
Income										03	.49	01						
Education x income										-1.10	.95	18						
Education													1.16	.61	.21			
Relationship Status													.46	.58	.08			
Education x relationship													-1.01	. 90	15			
status																		
Education																1.00	.57 .1	8
Gender																1.59	.46 .3	0**
Education x gender																70	.801	0
R^2		.06**			.07**			.005			.009)		.02			.07**	

Note: *p < .05. **p < .01.

	Мо	del 1		Model 2		Ν	Model 3		Model 4			Model 5	i		Model 6	ĵ		
Variable	B S.	EB	β	В	SE B	β	В	SE B	β	В	SE B	β	В	SE B	β	В	SE B	β
Gender	1.48 .0	62 .	.25*															
Income	.54 .6	50	.09															
Gender x income	75 .8	35	11															
Gender				.80	.54 .1	3												
Relationship Status				25	.64	04												
Gender x relationship status				.53	.91	.07												
Relationship status							1.10	1.0	.18									
Income							.52	.56	.09									
Relationship status x income							-1.66	1.17	25									
Education										1.44	.89	.23						
Income										.11	.55	.02						
Education x income										-1.18	1.08	18						
Education													1.46	.68 .2	23*			
Relationship Status													.24	.64 .0)4			
Education x relationship													-1.63	1.0	22			
status																		
Education																.57	.65 .	09
Gender																1.05	.53 .1	18*
Education x gender																16	.91 -	.02
R^2		04			.01			.01			.02			.03			.04	

Summary of Multiple Regressions Assessing Pooled Partner Data on Observer-Rated Attitudes Toward CRE

Note: *p < .05. **p < .01.

APPENDIX F

HISTOGRAMS FOR ALL STUDY VARIABLES



Mean =49.75 Std. Dev. =7.839 N =99

60.00

70.00











APPENDIX G

HISTOGRAMS AND Q-Q PLOTS FOR RESIDUALS OF STUDY REGRESSION ANALYSES



















Q-Q Plot: Female Self-Report Attitude Toward CRE on Male and Female Relationship Quality

















Observed Male Attitude Toward CRE on Male and Female Relationship Quality

Q-Q Plot: Observed Male Attitude Toward CRE on Male and Female Relationship Quality

-1

ò

Observed Value

2

i

-2



Observed Female Attitude Toward CRE on Male and Female Relationship Quality



Observed Male Attitude Toward CRE on Male and Female Psychological



APPENDIX H

REVISED CONFLICT TACTICS SCALE (CTS2) COPY

I ... Joseid

No matter how well a couple gets along, there are times when they disagree, get annoyed with one another, want different things from each other, or just have spats or fights because they are in a bad mood, are tired, or are upset for some other reason.	CTS2 Relationship Behaviors AutoScore™ Form M. A. Straus, Ph.D., S. L. Hamby, Ph.D., S. Boney-McCoy, Ph.D., and D. Sugarman, Ph.D.							
differences. This is a list of things that might happen when we								
have differences. Some questions are about you and others are	Client ID: Parties ID:							
about your partner. Please circle the response that describes how	Date: Age: Gender:							
these things did not happened in the past year. If one of	Education (highest grade completed): L <12 L 13 L 14 L 15 L 16 L >							
before that, circle "7."	Hispanic/Latino Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander White Other							
Please press hard when marking responses	autore was							
How often did this hannen in the past year?	an internet internet internet in the second s							
I showed my partner I cared even though we disagreed. My partner showed care for me even though we disagreed.	وي من							
3. explained my side of a disagreement to my partner.								
4. My partner explained his or her side of a disagreement to me.								
5. I insulted or swore at my partner								
 I threw something at my partner that could burt 								
8. My partner threw something at me that could hurt	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 0							
9. I twisted my partner's arm or hair.								
10. My partner twisted my arm or hair.								
11. I had a sprain, bruise, or small cut because of a fight with my partner.	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 0							
12. My partner had a sprain, bruise, or small cut because of a fight with me.								
13. I showed respect for my partner's feelings about an issue								
14. My partner showed respect for my feelings about an issue.								
15. I made my partner have sex without a condom.								
16. My partner made me have sex without a condom.	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 0							
17. Tpushed or shoved my partner.	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 0							
18 wy partner pushed of shoved me								
20 My partner used force to make me have easilier analyses	ner nave oral or anal sex							
21 Used a knife or oun on my nather								
22. My partner used a knife or gun on me								
23. I passed out from being hit on the head by my partner in a fight								
24. My partner passed out from being hit on the head by me in a fight.	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 0							
25. 1 called my partner fat or uply.								
27. I punched or hit my partner with something that could hurt.	12345670							
28. My partner punched or hit me with something that could hurt.	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 0							
29. I destroyed something belonging to my partner.								
30. My partner destroyed something that belonged to me.								
31. I went to a doctor because of a fight with my partner.								
32. My partner went to a doctor because of a fight with me.								
33. I choked my partner.	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 0							
34 My partner choked me.								
35. I shouted or yelled at my partner.								
so. <i>wy partner</i> should or yeiled at me.	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 0							
38 Mu perther signment me period a well								
39. I said I was sure we could work out a mobilem								
40. My partner was sure we could work it out	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 0							
Publich	Gd by							
WESTERN PSYCHOL	OGICAL SERVICES Continue on Dack page							

WDS. Los Angelos. CA 90025-1251 Publishers and Distributors

W-396A

Add-Anotai copies of this form 14: 396A) may be perchased from WPS. Please contact us at 600-648.8867 fax 310-470-7839, or www.wpspublish.com.

				10		20 times the	a but hotore
How often did this happen in the past year?	once 4	wice a	Stimes 10	umos 20	anore the	Notes you	ened ver
41 Theorieri to see a doctor because of a fight with my partner, but I didn't	1.	2	3 4	5	6	7	0
42 My partner needed to see a doctor because of a fight with me but didn't	1:	2 (3 4	5	6	7	0
43 best up my partner	1	2 3	3 4	5	6	7	0
44 My partner beat me up.	1 :	2 3	3 4	5	6	7	0
45 Lorabbed my partnet	1.83	2 3	3 4	5	6	7	0
46 My partner grabbed me	1.5	2 :	3 4	5	6	7	0
47 Lused force (like hitting, holding down, or using a weapon) to make my partner have sex.	1 :	2 3	3 4	5	6	7	0
48. My partner used force to make me have sex.	1	2 3	3 4	5	6	7	0
49. I stomped out of the room or house or yard during a disagreement.	1	2 : :	3 4	5	6	7	0
50. My partner stomped out of the room or house or yard during a disagreement.	1	2 . 3	3 4	5	6	7	Ó
51. insisted on sex when my partner did not want to (but did not use physical force).	1 :	2 3	34	5	6	7	0
52. My partner insisted that I have sex when I didn't want to (but did not use physical force).	1 :	2 3	3 4	5	6	7	0
53. I slapped my partner.	ŧ÷.	2 . 4	3 4	5	6	7	0
54. My partner slapped me	1	2 :	3 4	5	6	7	0
55. I had a broken bone from a fight with my partner.	1	2 3	3 4	5	6	7	0
56. My partner had a broken bone from a fight with me.	1	2 3	3 4	5	6	7	0
57. I used threats to make my partner have oral or anal sex.	1	2	3 4	5	6	17	0
58. My partner used threats to make me have oral or anal sex.	1	2 :	3 4	5	6	7	0.
59. I suggested a compromise to a disagreement.	1	2 :	34	5	6	7	0
60. My partner suggested a compromise to a disagreement.	1	2 3	34	5	6	7	0
61. 1 burned or scalded my partner on purpose.	1	2	3 4	5	6	7	0
62. My partner burned or scalded me on purpose.	1	2 ;	3 4	5	6	7	.0
63. insisted my partner have oral or anal sex (but did not use physical force).	1	2 3	34	5	6	7	0
64. My partner insisted I have oral or anal sex (but did not use physical force).	1 :	2 3	34	5	6	7	0
65. Laccused my partner of being a lousy lover	1	2	3 4	5	6	7	0
66. My partner accused me of being a lousy lover	ોં	2.;	34	5	6	7	0
67. I did something to spite my partner.	1	2 3	34	5	6	7	0
68. My partner did something to spite me.	1	2 3	34	5	6	7	0
69. 1 threatened to hit or throw something at my partner.	1	2	3 4	5	6	7	0.
70 My partner threatened to hit or throw something at me	1.	2 :	3 4	5	6	. 7	0
71. I felt physical pain that still hurt the next day because of a fight with my partner.	1	2 3	34	5	6	7	0
72. My partner still felt physical pain the next day because of a fight we had.	1 :	2 3	3 4	5	6	7	0
73. 1 kicked my partner.	1.	2 · · :	3 4	5	6	7	0
74. My partner kicked me.	$[1]_{ij}$	2	3 4	5	6	7	0
75. I used threats to make my partner have sex.	1	2 3	3 4	5	6	7	0
76. My partner used threats to make me have sex.	1	2 3	3 4	5	6	7 ********	0
77. Lagreed to try a solution to a disagreement my partner suggested.	1	2	3.4	5	6	- 7	0
78. My partner agreed to try a solution I suggested	10	2 3	3 4	5	6	7	0

••

. ?

i i

APPENDIX I

DEROGOTIS STRESS PROFILE (DSP) COPY

Name	:	Age:		Sex: M F Date:
I.D. N	o: Location:			
Marita	I Status: Single Married	Separa	ted	Widowed Divorced
Educa	tion:	Job i	Descri	iption:
		INSTRU	JCTIC	ONS
Be ca Co ste	elow are a series of statements that describe the refully and select one of the numbered descrip onsider yourself as you typically behave or feel atement. If you change your mind, erase your fir	way son tors belo l, and pla rst select	ne peo w to ir ice the ion co	pple feel about themselves. Please read each statemendicate the extent to which the statement is true of your edescriptor number in the open block to the right of the mpletely. If you have any questions, ask the technicia
	DESCRIPTOR	S:	0 = N 1 = S 2 = N 3 = V 4 = E	Not at all true of me Slightly true of me Moderately true of me Yery true of me Extremely true of me
1.	I feel there is never enough time		18.	I have a satisfying sex life
2.	to get things done		19.	I have no problems with control of my temper
3.	I feel rules were made to be broken		20.	I am usually worried about something
4	I take some time out almost		21.	I smoke too much
ч.	every day just to relax		22.	I rarely feel lonely
5.	I laugh easily		23.	When I eat, I usually take my time
6.	My job provides me many opportunities for challenging and satisfying activities		24.	I frequently say I am going to spend less time on work, but I don't seem to be able to
7.	When I am on vacation with my family I don't have as much fun as I think I should		25.	Most things I do I see as a challenge
8.	I get into frequent arguments		26.	I am not very interested in hobbies or sports
9.	I rarely feel tense and under pressure		27.	I seem to be more focused on the future than the present
10.	I rarely exercise		28.	My full range of talents are not utilized
11.	I teel no Interest in things			on my job
12.	I would like to be with my family more, but I can never seem to find the time		29.	I have a good relationship with my wife/ husband (or unmarried partner)
13.	I never worry about being a "workaholic"		30.	Sometimes I just feel like hitting somebody
14.	I believe that if you don't beat the other guy to the punch, he will beat you		31.	I rarely feel nervous or uptight
15.	I never sit still for very long		32.	I am in good physical shape
16.	I am not very good at telling funny stories or jokes		33.	I sometimes have feelings of worthlessness
	l get great pleasure from the people		34.	I rarely feel pressed for time

	DESCRIPT	ORS:	1 = Slightly true of me 2 = Moderately true of me 3 = Very true of me 4 = Extremely true of me
35	. The more things I achieve in life the less I seem to enjoy them		57. Every day I must get something tangible accomplished or I don't feel good about myself.
36	I tend to be impatient		58. I feel the most important thing in life is that you
37	. I sometimes just "tune out" of work and get involved in other things.		59. The idea of meditation or relaxation training has
38.	. Sex is an important part of life for me		60 boliovo vou con got a lat of help from others in
39.	I am frequently frustrated in my work		getting the job done in life
40.	Interacting with my family and friends is a great source of enjoyment for me		61. There are significant parts of my job that are frankly dull and boring
41.	I rarely have angry thoughts about people		62. I don't interact much with friends or neighbors.
42.	When I know I have something unpleasant to do I worry about it for a long time		63. I rarely clench my fists during conversation
43.	I don't take antacids for heartburn or gas		64. I rarely let things get me anxious or tense because I know they always get worked out somehow
44.	I usually have plenty of energy		65. I am very careful about my diet [
45.	I enjoy being under pressure and doing a good job on many projects at the same time.		66. I sometimes have thoughts of ending my life
46.	I really look forward to my vacations		at the last minute
47.	I make a serious effort to achieve a balance between work and fun.		68. Once I get started on a project, I don't like to stop until I am finished
48.	It is not difficult for me to unwind after work.		69. I believe competition builds character and is
49.	I really believe it is lonely at the top		
50.	Doing my job gives me a good feeling about myself		70. Thave trouble relaxing
51.	I have a good balance between family activi- ties and work activities.		anytning for free out of itL 72. When I wake up in the morning, I really look
52.	l get easily annoyed or irritated.		forward to going to work
53.	I frequently have the feeling that something bad is going to happen to me		 73. I really enjoy going to parties and meeting people. 74. If someone expresses a stupid idea, I rarely really and the source of the sour
54.	I believe having good health is more impor- tant than anything.		publicly disagree
55.	Sometimes I feel hopeless about the future.		apparent reason.
56.	When I am driving the car, I almost never]	76. I take tranquilizers to relax or sleep
	rusn mrough traffic		77. I rarely blame myself unduly for things that go wrong.
	Please indicate what you believe your cur	rent leve	vel of stress to be by placing an X " on the line below.

COPYRIGHT @ 1980 BY LEONARD R. DEROGATIS, PH.D.

PAGE TWO

APPENDIX J

IRB APPROVAL FORM COPY

Oklahoma State University Institutional Review Board

Date:	Thursday, February 02, 2006
IRB Application No	HE0640
Proposal Title:	Researching Recruitment Challenges in Low-Income Marriage Education Programs
Reviewed and Processed as:	Exempt
Status Recommend	ied by Reviewer(s): Approved Protocol Expires: 2/1/2007
Principal Investigator(s	
Brandt Gardner	Kelly Roberts

The IRB application referenced above has been approved. It is the judgment of the reviewers that the rights and welfare of individuals who may be asked to participate in this study will be respected, and that the research will be conducted in a manner consistent with the IRB requirements as outlined in section 45 CFR 46.

The final versions of any printed recruitment, consent and assent documents bearing the IRB approval stamp are attached to this letter. These are the versions that must be used during the study.

As Principal Investigator, it is your responsibility to do the following:

- 1. Conduct this study exactly as it has been approved. Any modifications to the research protocol
- Conduct this study exactly as it has been approved. Any modifications to the research protocol must be submitted with the appropriate signatures for IRB approval.
 Submit a request for continuation if the study extends beyond the approval period of one calendar year. This continuation must receive IRB review and approval before the research can continue.
 Report any adverse events to the IRB Chair promptly. Adverse events are those which are unanticipated and impact the subjects during the course of this research; and
- 4. Notify the IRB office in writing when your research project is complete.

233 HES

Stillwater, OK 74078

Please note that approved protocols are subject to monitoring by the IRB and that the IRB office has the authority to inspect research records associated with this protocol at any time. If you have questions about the IRB procedures or need any assistance from the Board, please contact Beth McTernan in 415 Whitehurst (phone: 405-744-5700, beth.mcternan@okstate.edu).

Sincerely,

233 HES

Stillwater, OK 74078

acsta

Sue C. Jacobs Chair Institutional Review Board

VITA

Brandon Kevin Burr

Candidate for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Thesis: ASSOCIATIONS OF GLOBAL STRESS, NEGATIVE AFFECT, PSYCHOLOGICAL AGGRESSION, AND RELATIONSHIP QUALITY WITH RELATIONSHIP PARTNER ATTITUDES TOWARD RELATIONSHIP EDUCATION: AN EXPLORATORY ACTOR-PARTNER INVESTIGATION BY INCOME, EDUCATION AND RELATIONSHIP STATUS

Major Field: Human Development & Family Science

Biographical:

Education:

Completed the requirements for the Doctor of Philosophy in Human Development and Family Science at Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, Oklahoma in July, 2010.

Completed the requirements for the Master of Science in Human Development and Family Science at Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, Oklahoma in 2006.

Completed the requirements for the Bachelor of Science in Marriage, Family, & Human Development at Brigham Young University, Provo, Utah in 2003.

Experience:

Professional Memberships: National Council on Family Relations; Oklahoma Council on Family Relations Name: Brandon Kevin Burr

Date of Degree: July, 2010

Institution: Oklahoma State University

Location: Stillwater, Oklahoma

Title of Study: ASSOCIATIONS OF GLOBAL STRESS, NEGATIVE AFFECT, PSYCHOLOGICAL AGGRESSION, AND RELATIONSHIP QUALITY WITH RELATIONSHIP PARTNER ATTITUDES TOWARD RELATIONSHIP EDUCATION: AN EXPLORATORY ACTOR-PARTNER INVESTIGATION BY INCOME, EDUCATION AND RELATIONSHIP STATUS

Pages in Study: 241 Candidate for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Major Field: Human Development & Family Science

Scope and Method of Study: Quantitative

Findings and Conclusions: Couples relationship education (CRE) is a resource that has been instigated to curb divorce rates and promote healthy couple relationships. Yet, couples at higher risk for relationship difficulty, including lower-income couples, are largely underrepresented in CRE programs. Family Stress and Human Ecological theoretical underpinnings highlight how aspects of the lowerincome experience can influence relationships, and also associate with relationship partners' attitudes toward CRE. This study sought to investigate how factors well-known to be associated with relationship quality might also associate with partner attitudes toward CRE, and how these associations may vary by gender, income, education, and relationship status. Partner attitudes toward CRE were measured using self-report and observational methods. Dvadic level analyses were conducted on 99 couples utilizing the Actor-Partner Interdependence model and chi-square difference testing to detect moderation. Results showed a dyadic, partner-level pattern as most pronounced as associated with attitudes toward CRE in males and females. More pronounced psychological aggression in men was negatively associated with attitudes toward CRE in females using self-report data, and more pronounced psychological aggression in females was negatively associated with attitudes toward CRE in males using observer-rated data. These partner paths differed by gender in several of the analyses. Female relationship partners, overall, had more positive attitudes toward CRE, and unmarried males had more negative attitudes toward CRE. Differences were found in predictor associations with either the self-report or observer-rated attitude toward CRE dependent variables. Implications for those who work in CRE programming and those who study couples and couples programming are provided based on study findings.